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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED OCTOBER 26, 2009

NEW - Book-Entry Only RATINGS:  Baa2/BBB 
(See “DESCRIPTION OF RATINGS” herein) 

In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel to the Institution, under existing law and assuming compliance with the 
tax covenants described herein, and the accuracy of certain representations and certifications made by the Authority and the Institution 
as described herein, interest on the Series A Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that interest on the Series A Bonds  
is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code with respect to individuals and 
corporations.  Interest on the Series B Bonds is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Bond Counsel is further of 
the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Bonds and any profit on the sale thereof are exempt from Massachusetts personal 
income taxes and Massachusetts personal property taxes.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

$309,455,000*
MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND 

EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY
$287,830,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009)

$21,625,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable)

Dated:  Date of Delivery Due:  See inside cover

The $309,455,000* aggregate principal amount of Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 2009 (the “Bonds”), consisting of $287,830,000* Massachusetts Health and 
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) and any bond or bonds duly 
issued in exchange or replacement therefor (the “Series A Bonds”) and $21,625,000* Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities 
Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable) and any bond or bonds duly issued 
in exchange or replacement therefor (the “Series B Bonds”) will be issued only as fully-registered bonds without coupons and will be 
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as Bondowner and nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York.  
DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued in the minimum denomination of $5,000 and integral 
multiples thereof.  Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their interests in the Bonds purchased.  So long as Cede & Co. 
is the Bondowner, as nominee of DTC, references herein to the Bondowners or registered owners shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, 
and shall not mean the beneficial owners of the Bonds.  See “THE BONDS - Book-Entry Only System” herein.  

The principal and redemption price of and interest on the Bonds will be paid by People’s United Bank, as trustee and paying 
agent (the “Trustee”).  So long as DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., is the Bondowner, such payments will be made directly to such 
Bondowner, as more fully described herein.  The Bonds will bear interest at the rates and mature on the dates set forth on the inside cover 
hereof.  Interest on the Bonds will be payable on January 1 and July 1, commencing on January 1, 2010.  

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, including optional redemption, mandatory sinking fund redemption and 
special redemption in certain circumstances, as set forth in this Official Statement.

The Bonds shall be special obligations of the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”) payable 
solely from the Revenues, as defined herein, of the Authority, including payments to the Trustee for the account of the Authority by 
Suffolk University (the “Institution”) in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement (as defined herein).  The payments pursuant 
to the Agreement are general obligations of the Institution.

THE BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF THE COMMONWEALTH 
OF MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT 
OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY SUCH POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, BUT 
SHALL BE PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE REVENUES PROVIDED UNDER THE AGREEMENT.  NEITHER THE 
COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS NOR THE AUTHORITY SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE BONDS OR 
THE INTEREST THEREON EXCEPT FROM SUCH REVENUES.  NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE 
TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF 
IS PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR THE INTEREST ON THE BONDS.  THE ACT DOES 
NOT IN ANY WAY CREATE A SO-CALLED MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
TO PAY DEBT SERVICE IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT BY THE INSTITUTION.  THE AUTHORITY DOES NOT HAVE 
ANY TAXING POWER.

The Bonds are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to prior sale, to withdrawal or modification 
of the offer without notice, and to the approval of their legality and certain other matters by Nixon Peabody LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, 
Bond Counsel to the Institution, Nixon Peabody LLP will also pass upon certain legal matters for the Institution.  Certain legal matters 
will be passed upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Greenberg Traurig, LLP, Boston, Massachusetts.  It is expected that the Bonds in 
definitive form will be available for delivery to DTC in New York, New York or its custodial agent on or about _____________, 2009.

MORgAN STANLEY gEORgE K. BAUM AND COMpANY
* Preliminary, subject to change.



$287,830,000*
MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY

Revenue Refunding Bonds
Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009)

Maturities, Amounts, Rates, Prices or Yields and CUSIPS

Maturity
(July 1) Amount

Interest
Rate

Price or 
Yield CUSIP**

$_________ ____% Term Bonds Due July 1, ___, Yield ____%
$_________ ____% Term Bonds Due July 1, ___, Yield ____%

$21,625,000*
MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY

Revenue Refunding Bonds
Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable)

Maturities, Amounts, Rates, Prices or Yields and CUSIPS

Maturity
(July 1) Amount

Interest 
Rate

Price or 
Yield CUSIP**

* Preliminary, subject to change.
**  The CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the Authority or the Institution and are included solely for the convenience 

of the holders of the Bonds.  None of the Authority, the Institution, the Underwriter or the Trustee is responsible for the selection or uses of the CUSIP numbers, and 
no representation is made as to their correctness on the Bonds or as indicated above.  The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the 
issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in whole or in part of such maturity or as a result of the 
procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.
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IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS 
WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICES OF THE BONDS AT LEVELS ABOVE THOSE WHICH 
MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE 
DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. 

No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Authority, the Institution or the Underwriter to give 
information or to make representations with respect to the Bonds, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if 
given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the 
foregoing.  This Official Statement does not constitute an offer by any person to sell or the solicitation by any person of an offer 
to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make 
such offer, solicitation or sale. 

Certain information contained herein has been obtained from the Institution, The Depository Trust Company and other sources 
which are believed to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a 
representation of the Authority or the Underwriter.  The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this 
Official Statement.  The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, 
its responsibility to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the 
Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.  The information and expressions of opinion 
herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, 
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the parties referred to above since 
the date hereof. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, the Institution has agreed to enter into a Continuing Disclosure Agreement pursuant to 
which the Institution will provide certain continuing disclosure as required by law.  The purpose of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement is to assist the Underwriter in complying with Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  See 
“CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein. 

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION OF THE 
INSTITUTION AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS INVOLVED.  THESE 
SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR 
REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT AFFIRMED THE 
ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE 
CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE. 
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MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY 
99 SUMMER STREET, BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS  02110 

CHRISTINE C. SCHUSTER, Chair GILL E. ENOS 
MARK P. BILOTTA, Vice Chair MARVIN A. GORDON  
TIMOTHY O’CONNOR, Secretary ALLEN R. LARSON 
JACQUELINE J. CONRAD MICHAEL P. MONAHAN 

BENSON T. CASWELL, Executive Director 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

Relating to 

$309,455,000**** 
MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES AUTHORITY 

$287,830,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) 
$21,625,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable) 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Purpose of this Official Statement.  The purpose of this Official Statement is to set forth certain 
information concerning the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”), 
Suffolk University (the “Institution”), and the issuance by the Authority of its $287,830,000* Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) and any Bond or Bonds duly issued in 
exchange or replacement therefor (the “Series A Bonds”) and its $21,625,000* Revenue Refunding 
Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable) and any Bond or Bonds duly issued 
in exchange or replacement therefor (the “Series B Bonds” and together with the Series A Bonds, the 
“Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued under the Loan and Trust Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2009 
(the “Agreement”), by and among the Authority, the Institution and People’s United Bank, as trustee (in 
such capacity, the “Trustee”).  The Bonds are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 
614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time (the “Act”) and the Agreement.  
The information contained in this Official Statement is provided for use in connection with the initial sale 
of the Bonds.  The definitions of certain terms used and not otherwise defined herein are contained in 
Appendix C -”DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS.”  

Plan of Finance.  The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds and certain other available moneys, 
will be used to:  (a) refund on a current basis the outstanding principal amount of (i) the Massachusetts 
Development Finance Agency Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 
2005A and Series 2005B, (ii) the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2007) 
and Series B (2007), and (iii) the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2008) 
(collectively, the “Prior Bonds”); (b) pay the termination fees for the interest rate swap agreements related 
to the Prior Bonds; (c) fund the Debt Service Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund Requirement; and (d) pay costs of issuing the Bonds.  A more detailed description of the 
use of the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds and the use of certain other moneys, including approximate 
amounts and purposes, is included herein under “PLAN OF FINANCE” and “ESTIMATED SOURCES 
AND USES OF FUNDS.” 

                                                      
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
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SECURITY FOR THE BONDS 

General 

The Bonds are equally and ratably secured by, and are issued pursuant to, the Agreement.  Other 
than approximately $1.6 million of  indebtedness in the form of an unsecured note and a capital 
lease,  the Bonds will be the only indebtedness of the Institution outstanding after the issuance of 
the Bonds.  See Appendix A -- "Statement of Financial Position and Investments" under the heading 
"Outstanding Indebtedness."  The Agreement requires the Institution to make payments that, together 
with other available moneys therefor, will be sufficient to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on all Bonds outstanding under the Agreement, when due.  The payments pursuant to the 
Agreement are an unsecured general obligation of the Institution. 

Loan and Trust Agreement 

The Authority, the Institution and the Trustee will execute the Agreement, which provides that to 
the extent permitted by law, it is a general obligation of the Institution and that the full faith and credit of 
the Institution are pledged to its performance.  With respect to the Bonds, the Agreement also provides, 
among other things, that the Institution will make payments to the Trustee equal to the principal or 
sinking fund installments, as the case may be, and interest on the Bonds and certain other payments 
required by the Agreement.  The Agreement will remain in full force and effect until such time as all of 
the Bonds and the interest thereon have been fully paid or until adequate provision for such payments has 
been made.   

Under the Agreement, the Authority assigns and pledges to the Trustee in trust upon the terms of 
the Agreement (a) all Revenues to be received from the Institution or derived from any security provided 
under the Agreement, and (b) all rights to receive such Revenues and the proceeds of such rights.  This 
assignment and pledge does not include:  (i) the rights of the Authority pursuant to provisions for consent, 
concurrence, approval or other action by the Authority, notice to the Authority or the filing of reports, 
certificates or other documents with the Authority; or (ii) the powers of the Authority as stated herein to 
enforce the provisions hereof.   

Debt Service Reserve Fund 

The Agreement provides that a Debt Service Reserve Fund will be established for the Bonds.  
Amounts on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund are available to pay principal (including sinking 
fund installments) and interest on the Bonds.  The Debt Service Reserve Fund may be funded in whole or 
in part with cash or Permitted Investments as provided in the Agreement.  Investments in the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund shall be valued by the Trustee each January 1 and July 1 at market, plus accrued interest 
where applicable. 

If and to the extent that the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund on January 1 or July 1 of 
any year is less than the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (a) due to a withdrawal from the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, the Institution shall within ninety (90) days of such January 1 or July 1, pay to the 
Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount of the deficiency except to the extent 
that the deficiency is otherwise overcome (except by transfer from the Redemption Fund) and (b) due to a 
fluctuation in the market value of investments held in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Institution shall 
within ninety (90) days pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount of 
such deficiency.   



 

 
 3 
 

If the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund on January 1 or July 1 of any year (less any 
payment made therefrom on that day pursuant to the Agreement) exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
Requirement, the Trustee shall transfer the excess to the Debt Service Fund to be credited against 
payments otherwise required to be made by the Institution. 

 Under the Agreement, the Institution grants to the Trustee a security interest in the funds 
established under the Agreement.  The obligations of the Institution under the Agreement are otherwise 
unsecured by the Institution.  

Negative Mortgage Pledge 

The Agreement does not restrict the incurrence of indebtedness but does limit the ability of the 
Institution to encumber the Core Campus Property to secure indebtedness.  See “Negative Pledge” in 
Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE AGREEMENT.”  The Core Campus 
Property includes all property owned by the Institution and currently used for academic, student housing, 
and administrative purposes except for the marine biology field station located in Maine.  In total, the 
Core Campus Property comprises approximately 1,150,000 square feet and includes all of the buildings 
listed on the table on page A-15 of Appendix A - “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” except for the 
building located at 20 Somerset Street.  Excluded from certain of the buildings comprising the Core 
Campus Property is approximately 20,000 square feet used for certain book stores, cafés, and a cafeteria.  
See “FACILITIES” in Appendix A - “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” and the definition of Core 
Campus Property in Appendix C - “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS.”  The Agreement does not 
restrict the Institution’s ability to encumber other real and personal property of the Institution to secure 
indebtedness, including its revenues and the land and improvements located at 20 Somerset Street in 
Boston, Massachusetts and the marine biology field station.  For information concerning existing 
indebtedness of the Institution, see Appendix A – “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” under the 
heading “FINANCIAL MATTERS” under the subheading “Outstanding Indebtedness.”   

The Bonds are special obligations of the Authority, equally and ratably secured by and payable 
from a pledge of and lien on, to the extent provided by the Agreement, the moneys received with respect 
to the Bonds by the Trustee for the account of the Authority pursuant to the Agreement.   

THE BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO CONSTITUTE A DEBT OR LIABILITY OF 
THE COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, 
OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
MASSACHUSETTS OR ANY SUCH POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF, BUT SHALL BE 
PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE REVENUES PROVIDED UNDER THE AGREEMENT.  NEITHER 
THE FAITH AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
MASSACHUSETTS OR OF ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF IS PLEDGED TO THE 
PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL OF OR INTEREST ON THE  BONDS.  THE ACT DOES NOT IN ANY 
WAY CREATE A SO-CALLED MORAL OBLIGATION OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF 
MASSACHUSETTS TO PAY DEBT SERVICE IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT BY THE 
INSTITUTION.  THE AUTHORITY DOES NOT HAVE ANY TAXING POWER. 

THE AUTHORITY 

The Authority is a body politic and corporate and a public instrumentality of The Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”) organized and existing under and by virtue of the Act.  The 
purpose of the Authority, as stated in the Act, is essentially to provide assistance for nonprofit public and 
private institutions for higher education, nonprofit schools for the handicapped, nonprofit hospitals and 
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their nonprofit affiliates, nonprofit nursing homes, and nonprofit cultural institutions in the construction, 
financing and refinancing of projects to be undertaken in relation to programs for such institutions. 

Authority Membership and Organization 

The Act provides that the Authority shall consist of nine members who shall be appointed by the 
Governor and shall be residents of the Commonwealth.  At least two members shall be associated with 
institutions for higher education, at least two shall be associated with hospitals, at least one shall be 
knowledgeable in the field of state and municipal finance (by virtue of business or other association) and 
at least one shall be knowledgeable in the field of building construction.  All Authority members serve 
without compensation, but are entitled to reimbursement for necessary expenses incurred in the 
performance of their duties as members of the Authority.  The Authority shall elect annually one of its 
members to serve as Chair and one to serve as Vice Chair. 

The members of the Authority are as follows: 

CHRISTINE C. SCHUSTER, RN; Chair: term as Member expires July 1, 2013.   
 

Ms. Schuster, a resident of Sudbury, is President and Chief Executive Officer of Emerson Health 
System located in Concord, Massachusetts.  Ms. Schuster has over twenty years of experience in the 
healthcare industry.  Prior to joining Emerson Hospital, Ms. Schuster held the position of President and 
Chief Executive Officer of Quincy Medical Center and previously Athol Memorial Hospital.  She also 
served as the Chief Operating Officer of the Extended Care Division of Tenet Saint Vincent Healthcare 
System, Director of Critical Care Services at the New England Deaconess Hospital; and five years as a 
healthcare management consultant with Coopers & Lybrand.  Ms. Schuster serves on the Board of 
Directors of the VHA Northeast, the Massachusetts Council of Community Hospitals, Trustee and 
Secretary of PowerOptions, Inc., and the Concord Chamber of Commerce and Secretary to the Concord 
Economic Council.  Ms. Schuster was elected to the American Hospital Association (AHA) Council of 
Metropolitan Hospitals and also served on the American Hospital Regional Policy Board.  She has served 
on the Board of the Massachusetts Hospital Association (MHA) where she was Chair of the Clinical 
Issues Advisory Council (CIAC) and was a member of the Finance Committee, and is currently a member 
of the CIAC and the Leadership Education Committee.  Ms. Schuster is also an Honorary Commander of 
Hanscom Air Force Base in Bedford, Massachusetts.  Ms. Schuster was recognized by Modern 

Healthcare magazine and Witt Kieffer Associates as one of the Year 2000 “Up and Comers Award” 
recipients.  She is a frequent speaker both locally and nationally on a wide variety of healthcare topics.  
Ms. Schuster received an M.B.A. with Honors from the University of Chicago Graduate School of 
Business and a B.S. in Nursing from Boston University. 

 
MARK P. BILOTTA; Vice Chair: term as Member expires July 1, 2013. 

 
 Mr. Bilotta, a resident of Worcester, is the Chief Executive Officer of the Colleges of Worcester 
Consortium in Worcester, Massachusetts, a non-profit association of twelve central Massachusetts –based 
colleges and universities providing academic and member services, higher education access services and 
promoting community and economic development partnerships.  From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Bilotta was the 
Executive Assistant to the President of Assumption College in Worcester, Massachusetts.  He held the 
position of Associate Director of Admissions for Enrollment and Marketing at Worcester State College 
from 1996 to 1998.  From 1990 to 1991 he was a Graduate Assistant at Clark University.  During the 
period of 1984 to 1989 he held the positions of Admissions Counselor, Assistant Director of Admissions, 
and Associate Director of Admissions at the College of the Holy Cross in Worcester, Massachusetts.  Mr. 
Bilotta has been actively engaged in several non-profit, charitable and civic activities. He presently serves 
as Chairman of the Board of Directors for the United Way of Central Massachusetts, Board of Directors 
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to the Worcester Regional Research Bureau, Destination Worcester, Board of Trustees to Spectrum 
Health Systems, Inc., and Corporator, Webster Five Cents Savings Bank.  Mr. Bilotta holds a B.A. from 
College of the Holy Cross, Worcester, and an M.B.A. from Clark University.  

 
TIMOTHY O’CONNOR; Secretary: term as Member expired July 1, 2009.  Mr. O’Connor will 

continue to serve until he is reappointed or his successor takes office. 
 

Mr. O’Connor, a resident of Salem, is Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer of Lahey Clinic Foundation, Inc.; Lahey Clinic Hospital, Inc.; Lahey Clinic, Inc.; Lahey Clinic 
Affiliated Services, Inc. and Lahey Clinic Canadian Foundation. In addition Mr. O’Connor is also 
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of Lahey Clinic Insurance Company Limited.  His 
memberships and affiliations include the American Medical Group Association, the Healthcare Financial 
Management Association, the Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society and the 
Massachusetts Hospital Association’s Committee on Finance. 

 
JACQUELINE J. CONRAD; term as Member expires July 1, 2010. 

 
 Ms. Conrad, a resident of Milton, is the Founder of delaCruz Communications in Stoughton, 
Massachusetts, a multicultural consulting firm that specializes in cause- related health awareness and 
strategic marketing campaigns for ethnic audiences, such as the African American and Latino 
communities.  In addition, she is the Executive Director of the Latino Professional Network, one of 
Boston’s premier networking associations that creates career, educational and social opportunities for 
Latino professionals. Ms. Conrad is a sought after speaker at business roundtables and leadership 
seminars, on subjects ranging from Hispanic marketing and urban entrepreneurship, to home-ownership 
and property investments.  Her present affiliations and memberships include Advisory Board Member to 
the Latino After School Initiative, and Vice President of the Christian Economic Development 
Association, Inc.  Ms. Conrad has served as Advisory Board Member to the Women of Ethnic Diversity 
Initiative, Advisory Committee Member to Senator John Kerry’s Committee on Child Care and Small 
Business, Board of Directors of the Simmons Club, and Member of the Hispanic American Chamber of 
Commerce.  Ms. Conrad holds a B.A. degree in Sociology from Suffolk University and an M.A. degree 
from Simmons College. 

 
GILL E. ENOS; term as Member expires July 1, 2012. 

 
 Mr. Enos, a resident of Taunton, is the Budget Director of the City of Taunton, Massachusetts.  
Prior to his position as Budget Director, Mr. Enos served as Assistant to the Mayor of the City of Taunton 
from 2004 to 2007 and from 1992 to 2000.  He also held positions with State Street Bank and Trust Co. as 
Portfolio Accountant from 1986 to 1988, Auditor from 1988 to 1990, and Fund Group Manager from 
1990 to 1992.  Mr. Enos currently serves as a Member of the Taunton Zoning Board of Appeals and has 
served as a Member, Director and Past Vice Chairman of the Southeastern Regional Services Group, and 
Member and Past Vice Chairman of the Taunton Emergency Task Force.  His community involvement 
includes coach of the Taunton Park & Recreation Basketball, Taunton West Little League, and Taunton 
Area Babe Ruth.  Mr. Enos holds a B.S in Management Science from Bridgewater State College. 

 
MARVIN A. GORDON; term as Member expires July 1, 2010.   
 

 Mr. Gordon, a resident of Milton, is Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of 
Gordon Logistics, L.L.C. in Mansfield, Massachusetts.  From 1974 to 2001, Mr. Gordon was Chief 
Executive Officer and Chairman of Whitehall Co. Ltd. of Norwood, Massachusetts.  From 1994 to 1996, 
Mr. Gordon served on the Board of Directors to Techniek Development Co. of San Diego, California.  He 
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also served as Chairman of the Board of US Trust Norfolk (Milton Bank and Trust) from 1974 to 1976 
and as Vice President and Member of the Executive Committee from 1971 to 1974.  Mr. Gordon has been 
actively engaged in non-profit, charitable and civic activities.  His present affiliations include Board 
Member and Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee of The Milton Hospital Foundation, Inc. 
and Board Member of Milton Hospital, Inc., and President of Milton Fuller Housing Corporation. Mr. 
Gordon has been elected to and appointed to a number of public boards including serving as a Milton 
Selectman from 1986 to 1993 and belongs to several civic associations.  Mr. Gordon holds a degree from 
Harvard College and Harvard Business School. 

 
ALLEN R. LARSON; term as Member expires July 1, 2014.   

 
Mr. Larson, a resident of Yarmouth Port, is the founding principal of a law firm and a separate 

consulting firm, the Enterprise Management Group, that advise business and non-profit clients on matters 
of government regulation, business competition, market entry, and economic development.  Prior to 
establishing his law firm in 1984, Mr. Larson worked as an antitrust attorney for the Federal Trade 
Commission in Washington, D.C.  Currently, he is a director of the Cape Cod Center for Sustainability 
Inc., the Highlands Center, Inc., and Ecology Project International.  Mr. Larson graduated from 
Dartmouth College earned a J.D. from Albany Law School and received an M.B.A. from the University 
of Minnesota. 

 
MICHAEL P. MONAHAN; term as Member expires July 1, 2011. 

 
 Mr. Monahan, a resident of South Boston, is Business Manager of the International Brotherhood 
of Electrical Workers, Local 103, Boston, Massachusetts.  Mr. Monahan represents the interests of more 
than 7,000 members; is Principal Negotiator of more than 40 Collective Bargaining Agreements, and is 
Trustee of Benefit Funds worth over $1 billion.  From 1982 until present he has held several positions 
within the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local 103.  From 2002 to present he has 
served as a Member of the Zoning Board of Appeals in the City of Boston.  Mr. Monahan is a volunteer 
for many charitable organizations, such as WiFi, City of Boston; Habitat for Humanity; NET Day, City of 
Boston; Rosie’s Place, Homeless Shelter for Women; Long Island Shelter and Family Inn, Brookline; 
Strive, Codman Square, Dorchester. 
 
 There are nine Board Members of the Authority.  Currently, there is one vacancy and a successor 
has not been appointed.   
 
Staff and Advisors 

 BENSON T. CASWELL, a resident of North Andover, was appointed Executive Director of the 
Authority on April 9, 2002, and is responsible for the management of the Authority’s affairs.  From 1992 
through 2002, Mr. Caswell worked for Ponder & Co. in Chicago where he was a Senior Vice President.  
From 1987 through 1992, he was Vice President of Ziegler Securities, Chicago, Illinois.  From 1983 
through 1986, he was an attorney with Gardner, Carton & Douglas.  Mr. Caswell holds a Juris Doctor 
from the University of Chicago, an MBA from Lehigh University and a B.S. from the University of 
Maine.   
 

NIXON PEABODY LLP, attorneys of Boston, Massachusetts, are serving as Bond Counsel to 
the Institution and will submit their approving opinion with regard to the legality of the Bonds in 
substantially the forms attached hereto as Appendix E-1 with respect to the Series A Bonds and attached 
hereto as Appendix E-2 with respect to the Series B Bonds. 
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MCCARTER & ENGLISH, LLP, attorneys of Boston, Massachusetts, are serving as special 
counsel to the Authority in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  

The Act provides that the Authority may employ such other counsel, engineers, architects, 
accountants, construction and financial experts, or others as the Authority deems necessary. 

Powers of the Authority 

Under the Act, the Authority is authorized and empowered, among other things, directly or by 
and through a participating institution for higher education, a participating school for the handicapped, a 
participating hospital or hospital affiliate, a participating nursing home or a participating cultural 
institution as its agent, to acquire real and personal property and to take title thereto in its own name or in 
the name of one or more participants as its agent; to construct, reconstruct, remodel, maintain, manage, 
enlarge, alter, add to, repair, operate, lease, as lessee or lessor, and regulate any project; to enter into 
contracts for any or all of such purposes, or for the management and operation of a project; to issue 
bonds, bond anticipation notes and other obligations, and to fund or refund the same; to fix and revise 
from time to time and charge and collect rates, rents, fees and charges for the use of and for the services 
furnished or to be furnished by a project or any portion thereof and to enter into contracts in respect 
thereof; to establish rules and regulations for the use of a project or any portion thereof; to receive and 
accept from any public agency loans or grants for or in the aid of the construction of a project or any 
portion thereof, to mortgage any project and the site thereof for the benefit of the holders of revenue 
bonds issued to finance such projects; to make loans to any participant for the cost of a project or to 
refund outstanding obligations, mortgages or advances issued, made or given by such participant for the 
cost of a project; to charge participants its administrative costs and expenses incurred; to acquire any 
federally guaranteed security and to pledge or use such security to secure or provide for the repayment of 
its bonds; and to do all things necessary or convenient to carry out the purposes of the Act.  Additionally, 
the Authority may undertake a joint project or projects for two or more participants. 

The Authority has heretofore authorized and issued certain series of its revenue bonds for public 
and private colleges and universities, and private hospitals and their affiliates, community providers, 
cultural institutions, schools for the handicapped and nursing homes in the Commonwealth.  Each series 
of revenue bonds has been a special obligation of the Authority. 

The Authority expects to enter into separate agreements with eligible institutions in the 
Commonwealth for the purpose of financing projects for such institutions.  Each series of bonds issued by 
the Authority constitutes a separate obligation of the borrowing institutions for such series and is payable 
only from revenues provided by the institution for such series, and the general funds of the Authority are 
not pledged to any bonds or notes. 

THE INSTITUTION 

Suffolk University is a private co-educational university located in Boston, Massachusetts.  The 
Institution was founded in 1906 as a law school.  It currently is comprised of the College of Arts and 
Sciences, the Sawyer Business School and the Law School.  Fall enrollment for the 2009-2010 school 
year is approximately 7,118 full-time and 2,488 part-time students.    

See Appendix A - “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” for more information regarding the 
Institution. 
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THE BONDS 

Principal, Sinking Fund Installments, and Interest Requirements 

The following table sets forth, for each respective year ending July 1, the amounts required to be 
made available by the Institution in such year for payment of the principal of and sinking fund 
installments on the Series A Bonds, interest on the Series A Bonds, principal of and sinking fund 
installments on the Series B Bonds, interest on the Series B Bonds, and total debt service on the Bonds in 
such year. 
 

  Series A Bonds    Series B Bonds    

Year 
Ending 
July 1  

Principal and 
Sinking Fund 
Installments*   Interest*    

Principal and 
Sinking Fund 
Installments*   Interest*    

 Total Debt 
Service*  

2010  -   $1,971,536    -   $152,396   $ 2,123,932  
2011  $1,000,000   16,490,881    1,500,000   1,231,625    20,222,506  
2012  1,100,000   16,453,881    1,500,000   1,143,125    20,197,006  
2013  1,200,000   16,401,881    1,500,000   1,054,625    20,156,506  
2014  1,335,000   16,338,506    1,500,000   966,125    20,139,631  
2015  1,335,000   16,271,756    1,500,000   877,625    19,984,381  
2016  1,335,000   16,205,006    1,500,000   789,125    19,829,131  
2017  1,335,000   16,138,256    1,500,000   700,625    19,673,881  
2018  1,335,000   16,071,506    1,500,000   612,125    19,518,631  
2019  1,335,000   16,004,756    1,500,000   523,625    19,363,381  
2020  1,335,000   15,938,006    1,500,000   435,125    19,208,131  
2021  1,535,000   15,866,256    1,500,000   346,625    19,247,881  
2022  1,940,000   15,774,531    1,500,000   258,125    19,472,656  
2023  1,940,000   15,667,831    1,500,000   169,625    19,277,456  
2024  1,700,000   15,567,731    1,500,000   81,125    18,848,856  
2025  135,025,000   11,807,794    625,000   18,438    147,476,231  
2026  3,855,000   7,981,366       11,836,366  
2027  4,090,000   7,747,981       11,837,981  
2028  4,335,000   7,500,497       11,835,497  
2029  4,600,000   7,238,031       11,838,031  
2030  4,880,000   6,959,556       11,839,556  
2031  5,180,000   6,657,569       11,837,569  
2032  5,505,000   6,330,341       11,835,341  
2033  5,850,000   5,982,594       11,832,594  
2034  6,220,000   5,612,950       11,832,950  
2035  6,615,000   5,219,878       11,834,878  
2036  7,035,000   4,801,847       11,836,847  
2037  7,480,000   4,357,325       11,837,325  
2038  7,950,000   3,884,781       11,834,781  
2039  8,455,000   3,382,378       11,837,378  
2040  8,990,000   2,848,125       11,838,125  
2041  9,555,000   2,280,184       11,835,184  
2042  10,160,000   1,676,413       11,836,413  
2043  10,805,000   1,034,359       11,839,359  
2044  11,485,000   351,728       11,836,728  

Totals $287,830,000   $21,625,000    

______________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
 
General 

The Bonds will be dated their date of initial delivery and will bear interest from such date, 
payable commencing on January 1, 2010 and on each July 1 and January 1 thereafter at the rates and 
maturing on the dates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. 
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Subject to the provisions discussed under “Book-Entry-Only System,” the Bonds are issuable 
only in fully registered form in the minimum denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  
Interest on the Bonds shall be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day 
months from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for 
or, if no interest has been paid, from the date of delivery.  

Book-Entry-Only System 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds.  The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & 
Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative 
of DTC.  One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of each series, or for each 
interest rate within a maturity of a series, if applicable, of the Bonds, each in the aggregate principal 
amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New 
York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York 
Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million 
issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market 
instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  
DTC also facilitates post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities 
transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges 
between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities 
certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, 
trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 
for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & 
Poor’s highest rating: AAA.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission.  More information of DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each Bond (a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the 
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the 
Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on 
behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership 
interests in the Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration 
in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC 
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has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity 
of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the 
Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of 
their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to take 
certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the 
Bonds, such as redemptions, defaults, and proposed amendments to the documents relating to the Bonds.  
For example, Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds 
for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to the Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, 
Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies 
of notices be provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity bearing 
the same interest rate are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest 
of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under 
its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Authority as soon as possible after the record 
date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus 
Proxy). 

 
Principal and interest payments and redemption premium, if any, with respect to the Bonds will 

be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and 
corresponding detail information from the Authority or the Trustee, on the payable date in accordance 
with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners 
will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for 
the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of 
such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Trustee or the Authority, subject to any statutory or 
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal and interest, and 
redemption premium, if any, to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Authority or the Trustee, disbursement of such 
payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to 
the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.  

DTC may discontinue providing its services as a depository with respect the Bonds at any time by 
giving reasonable notice to the Authority and the Trustee.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a 
successor depository is not obtained, the Bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered as 
described in the Agreement. 

If the Authority decides to discontinue the use of the system of book-entry transfers of a series of 
Bonds issued by it through DTC (or a successor securities depository), the Authority shall make such 
request of DTC (or a successor securities depository).  Upon receipt of any such withdrawal request, (i) 
DTC will issue a notice notifying its Direct Participants of the receipt of a withdrawal request from the 
Authority reminding Direct Participants that they may utilize DTC’s withdrawal procedures if they wish 
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to withdraw their securities from DTC, and (ii) DTC will process withdrawal requests submitted by 
Direct Participants in the ordinary course of business, but will not effectuate withdrawals based upon a 
request from the Authority. 

THE INFORMATION IN THIS SECTION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY 
SYSTEM HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE AUTHORITY BELIEVES TO BE 
RELIABLE, BUT NONE OF THE AUTHORITY, THE INSTITUTION OR THE UNDERWRITER 
TAKES RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF. 

Redemption Provisions of the Bonds 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption. 

The Series A Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption from sinking fund installments at their 
principal amounts, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date on July 1 of each of the 
years and in the principal amounts as follows: 

Year  Principal Amount Year Principal Amount 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

________________ 

*Final maturity. 

The Series B Bonds are subject to mandatory redemption from sinking fund installments at their 
principal amounts, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date on July 1 of each of the 
years and in the principal amounts as follows: 

Year  Principal Amount Year Principal Amount 
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    
    

________________ 

*Final maturity.  
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Optional Redemption.  The Bonds maturing on or before July 1, ______, which are not subject to 
redemption prior to maturity unless redeemed pursuant to special redemption provisions discussed below, 
are redeemable prior to maturity on or after July 1, ______, at the option of the Authority with the written 
consent of the Institution or by the written direction of the Institution to the Authority and the Trustee.  
Such redemption shall be as a whole or in part at any time, in such order of maturity as directed by the 
Institution so long as no Event of Default exists under the Agreement and otherwise pro rata, at their 
principal amounts, without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date.   

Special Redemption.  The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, as a whole or in part 
at any time, in such order of maturity or sinking fund installments as directed by the Institution so long as 
no Event of Default exists under the Agreement and otherwise pro rata, at their principal amounts, 
without premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date, at the option of the Institution, in the event 
of a loss to the Project, from insurance or condemnation award proceeds allocable to the Bonds, pursuant 
to the special redemption provisions in the Agreement, but only to the extent that any such proceeds 
exceed the lesser of ten percent (10%) of the fully insurable value of the Project prior to such casualty or 
taking as determined by the Trustee, or twenty percent (20%) of the principal amount of the Outstanding 
Bonds.   

Purchase of Bonds.  When the Bonds are called for optional redemption, the Institution may 
purchase some or all of the Bonds called for redemption at a purchase price equal to the redemption price, 
if it gives notice to the Trustee and the Authority as provided in the Agreement, and so long as the 
Institution has furnished the Trustee sufficient funds to make the purchase on or before the redemption 
date.  Any such purchase by the Institution shall not be deemed to be a payment or redemption of the 
Bonds so purchased, or any portion thereof, and such purchase shall not operate to extinguish or discharge 
the indebtedness evidenced by such Bonds. 

The Institution may purchase Bonds of any maturity and credit them against the principal 
payment for such maturity or, as the case may be, any sinking fund installment for such maturity at the 
principal amount or applicable redemption price, as the case may be, by delivering them to the Trustee for 
cancellation at least sixty (60) days before the principal payment date or sinking fund installment date.   

Selection of Bonds.  If less than all of the Outstanding Bonds of any series and maturity (or 
sinking fund installment with respect to the Bonds) are to be called for redemption, the Bonds of that 
series and maturity (or portions thereof) to be redeemed will be selected by the Trustee by lot or in any 
customary manner as determined by the Trustee; provided, however, that so long as DTC or its nominee 
is the Bondowner, the particular Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed within a series and maturity (or 
sinking fund installment with respect to the Bonds) will be selected by lot by DTC, in such manner as 
DTC may determine. 

Acceleration.  In the Event of Default under the Agreement, the Trustee may by written notice to 
the Institution and the Authority declare immediately due and payable the principal amount of the 
Outstanding Bonds and the payments to be made by the Institution therefor, and accrued interest on the 
foregoing, whereupon the same shall become immediately due and payable without further action or 
notice.  See Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE AGREEMENT.”   

Effect of Redemption.  On the redemption date, the redemption price of each Bond to be 
redeemed will become due and payable; and from and after such date, notice having been properly given 
as required by the Agreement and amounts having been available and set aside for such redemption in 
accordance with the provisions of the Agreement, notwithstanding that any Bonds called for redemption 
have not been surrendered, no further interest will accrue on any Bonds (or portions thereof) called for 
redemption. 
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Notice of Redemption and Other Notices.  So long as DTC or its nominee is the Bondowner, the 
Authority and the Trustee will recognize DTC or its nominee as the Bondowner for all purposes, 
including notices and voting.  Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to DTC 
Participants, by DTC Participants to Indirect Participants, and by DTC Participants and Indirect 
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory 
and regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Notice may be conditioned on there 
being on deposit in the Redemption Fund on the redemption date sufficient money to pay the full 
redemption price of the Bonds to be redeemed and any other conditions stated in such notice.   

In the event a Bond (or any portion thereof) is selected for redemption, notice will be mailed to 
the Owners no more than forty-five (45) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to the redemption date.  
Failure to mail notice to a particular Owner of a Bond or any defect in the notice to an Owner of a Bond 
shall not affect the redemption of any other Bond. 
 

PLAN OF FINANCE 

Upon the receipt of the proceeds of the Bonds, the Authority shall make payments from such 
proceeds as follows:  (a) the amount, together with other available amounts, necessary to current refund 
all of the Prior Bonds will be deposited with the applicable trustee for the Prior Bonds, and applied to 
refund the Prior Bonds; (b) to pay the termination fees for all of the interest rate swap agreements related 
to the Prior Bonds; (c) the amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement shall be 
deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Fund; and (d) the amount estimated to be needed to pay the costs 
of issuing the Bonds shall be deposited in the Expense Fund.   

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS 

Causey Demgen & Moore Inc. will verify the accuracy of (i) the mathematical computations of 
the accuracy of the maturing principal of and interest earned on the United States government obligations 
held by each of the trustees for the Prior Bonds to provide for the payment of the principal or redemption 
price of and interest on the applicable Prior Bonds when due, to and including the applicable redemption 
date and (ii) the mathematical computations of the actuarial yield on such United States government 
obligations and on the Bonds, which computations support certain opinions of Bond Counsel. 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

The proceeds from the sale of the Bonds, together with certain other available moneys, are 
expected to be applied as follows (rounded to the nearest dollar): 

Estimated Sources of Funds  
Principal Amount of the Series A Bonds .....................................................................  
Net Original Issue Premium/Discount on the Series A Bonds .....................................  
Principal Amount of the Series B Bonds ......................................................................  
Net Original Issue Premium/Discount on the Series B Bonds .....................................  
Prior Bonds Trustee Held and Institution Funds ..........................................................  

Total Sources of Funds ..........................................................................................  

Estimated Uses of Funds 
Redemption of the Prior Bonds ....................................................................................  
Termination Amount due for Interest Rate Swap Agreements ....................................  
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund.........................................................................  
Costs of Issuance† .........................................................................................................  

Total Uses of Funds ...............................................................................................  

_______________________ 
† Estimated amount to provide for Underwriter’s discount, legal, consulting and printing fees and 
associated bond issuance costs related to the Bonds. 

BONDOWNERS’ RISKS 

Payment of Debt Service 

The principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds are payable solely from 
the amounts paid by the Institution to the Authority under the Agreement.  No representation can be made 
and no assurance can be given that revenues will be realized by the Institution in the amounts necessary to 
make payments at the times and in the amounts sufficient to pay the debt service on the Bonds.  The 
obligations of the Institution under the Agreement are unsecured, general obligations of the Institution. 

Future revenues and expenses of the Institution will be affected by events and conditions relating 
generally to, among other things, demand for the Institution’s educational services, the ability of the 
Institution to provide the educational services required, management capabilities, the Institution’s ability 
to control expenses, competition, tuition costs, legislation, governmental regulation, and developments 
affecting the federal or state tax-exempt status of non-profit organizations.  Unanticipated events and 
circumstances may occur which cause variations from the Institution’s expectations, and the variations 
may be material. 

Enforceability of Remedies Generally 

The remedies granted to the Trustee or the owners of the Bonds upon an event of default under 
the Agreement are or may be dependent upon judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and 
delay.  Under existing law, the remedies specified in the Agreement may not be readily available or may 
be limited.  The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Bonds will be 
qualified as to the enforceability of the provisions of the Agreement by limitations imposed by state and 
federal laws, rulings and decisions relating to equitable remedies regardless of whether enforceability is 
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sought in a proceeding at law or in equity and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, receivership or 
other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 

Covenant to Maintain Tax-Exempt Status of the Bonds 

The tax-exempt status of the Series A Bonds is based on the continued compliance by the 
Authority and the Institution with certain covenants contained in the Agreement.  These covenants relate 
generally to arbitrage limitations, rebate of certain investment earnings to the federal government, and 
restrictions on the amount of costs of issuance financed with the proceeds of the Series A Bonds.  Failure 
to comply with any of these covenants may result in the treatment of interest on the Series A Bonds as 
taxable retroactive to the date of issuance.  In addition, revocation of the tax-exempt status of the 
Institution under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code could subject the interest paid to 
Bondowners to federal income taxation retroactively to the date of issuance of the Series A Bonds. 

Risk of Audit by Internal Revenue Service 

The Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt 
obligations to determine whether, in the view of the IRS, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is 
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  No assurances can 
be given as to whether or not the IRS will commence an audit of the Series A Bonds. 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

The Authority has determined that no financial or operating data concerning the Authority is 
material to any decision to purchase, hold or sell the Bonds and the Authority will not provide any such 
information.  The Institution has undertaken all responsibilities for any continuing disclosure to 
Bondowners as described below, and the Authority shall have no liability to the Bondowners or any other 
person with respect to such disclosures. 

The Institution has covenanted for the benefit of Bondowners to provide certain financial 
information and operating data relating to the Institution by not later than 150 days following the end of 
such Fiscal Year (the “Annual Report”), and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated 
events, if deemed by the Institution to be material.  The Annual Report and the notices of material events 
will be filed on behalf of the Institution with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) in an 
electronic form specified by the MSRB.  The specific nature of the information to be contained in the 
Annual Report or the notices of material events is summarized in Appendix F - “FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.”  These covenants have been made in order to assist the 
Underwriter in complying with Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  
During the past five years, the Institution has complied in all material respects with its previous 
continuing disclosure agreements, except that the notice filed with respect to the downgrade of the bond 
insurer for the Series 2005 Bonds was not filed in a timely manner. 

TAX MATTERS 
 
Series A Bonds 

Federal Income Taxes 

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), imposes certain requirements that 
must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Series A Bonds for interest thereon to be and 
remain excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.  Noncompliance with such 
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requirements could cause the interest on the Series A Bonds to be included in gross income for Federal 
income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue of the Series A Bonds.  Pursuant to the Agreement 
and the Tax Certificate as to Arbitrage and the provisions of Sections 103 and 141-150 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Tax Certificate”), the Authority and the Institution have covenanted to 
comply with the applicable requirements of the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on 
the Series A Bonds from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the 
Code.  In addition, the Authority and the Institution have made certain representations and certifications 
in the Agreement and the Tax Certificate.  Bond Counsel will not independently verify the accuracy of 
those representations and certifications. 

In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel to the Institution, under existing law and 
assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenant, and the accuracy of certain representations and 
certifications made by the Authority and the Institution described above, interest on the Series A Bonds is 
excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  Bond 
Counsel is also of the opinion that such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the 
alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code with respect to individuals and corporations.  No 
opinion is expressed as to whether interest on any portion of the Series A Bonds is excluded from the 
adjusted current earnings of corporations for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed 
on corporations.   

State Taxes 

 
Bond Counsel is of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series A Bonds and any 

profit on the sale thereof are exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and Massachusetts 
personal property taxes. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to other Massachusetts or local tax 
consequences arising with respect to the Series A Bonds nor as to the taxability of the Series A Bonds or 
the income therefrom under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts. 

Original Issue Discount 

Bond Counsel is further of the opinion that the difference between the principal amount of the 
Series A Bonds maturing __________ 1, 20__ through 20__, inclusive and on __________ 1, 20__ 
(collectively the “Discount Bonds”) and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, 
brokers or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which 
price a substantial amount of such Discount Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes original 
issue discount which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes to the same extent as 
interest on the Series A Bonds.  Further, such original issue discount accrues actuarially on a constant 
interest rate basis over the term of each Discount Bond and the basis of each Discount Bond acquired at 
such initial offering price by an initial purchaser thereof will be increased by the amount of such accrued 
original issue discount.  The accrual of original issue discount may be taken into account as an increase in 
the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning 
the Discount Bonds, even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.  Owners of the 
Discount Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors with respect to the state and 
local tax consequences of owning such Discount Bonds. 

Original Issue Premium 

The Series A Bonds maturing on __________ 1, 20__ and on __________ 1, 20__ and 
__________ 1, 20__ (collectively, the “Premium Bonds”) are being offered at prices in excess of their 
principal amounts.  An initial purchaser with an initial adjusted basis in a Premium Bond in excess of its 
principal amount will have amortizable bond premium which is not deductible from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes.  The amount of amortizable bond premium for a taxable year is determined 
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actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of each Premium Bond based on the purchaser’s 
yield to maturity (or, in the case of Premium Bonds callable prior to their maturity, over the period to the 
call date, based on the purchaser’s yield to the call date and giving effect to any call premium).  For 
purposes of determining  gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial 
purchaser who acquires such obligation with an amortizable bond premium is required to decrease such 
purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium 
for the taxable year.  The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in the 
amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning such 
Series A Bonds.  Owners of the Premium Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own 
advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium Bonds. 

Ancillary Tax Matters 

Ownership of the Series A Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences to certain 
taxpayers, including, without limitation, certain S corporations, foreign corporations with branches in the 
United States, property and casualty insurance companies, individuals receiving Social Security or 
Railroad Retirement benefits, and individuals seeking to claim the earned income credit.  Ownership of 
the Series A Bonds may also result in other federal tax consequences to taxpayers who may be deemed to 
have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or to carry the Series A Bonds; for certain bonds 
issued during 2009 and 2010, the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 modifies the 
application of those rules as they apply to financial institutions.  Prospective investors are advised to 
consult their own tax advisors regarding these rules. 

Commencing with interest paid in 2006, interest paid on tax-exempt obligations such as the 
Series A Bonds is subject to information reporting to the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) in a 
manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations. In addition, interest on the Series A Bonds may be 
subject to backup withholding if such interest is paid to a registered owner that (a) fails to provide certain 
identifying information (such as the registered owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the manner 
required by the IRS, or (b) has been identified by the IRS as being subject to backup withholding. 

Bond Counsel is not rendering any opinion as to any Federal tax matters other than those 
described in the opinion attached as Appendix E-1 with respect to the Series A Bonds.  Prospective 
investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules described above, are advised to consult 
their own tax advisors regarding the federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the Series A 
Bonds, as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state or other taxing jurisdiction. 

Changes in Law and Post Issuance Events 

Legislative or administrative actions and court decisions, at either the Federal or state level, could 
have an adverse impact on the potential benefits of the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the 
Series A Bonds for Federal or state income tax purposes, and thus on the value or marketability of the 
Series A Bonds.  This could result from changes to Federal or state income tax rates, changes in the 
structure of Federal or state income taxes (including replacement with another type of tax), repeal of the 
exclusion of the interest on the Series A Bonds from gross income for Federal or state income tax 
purposes, or otherwise.  It is not possible to predict whether any legislative or administrative actions or 
court decisions having an adverse impact on the Federal or state income tax treatment of holders of the 
Series A Bonds may occur.  Prospective purchasers of the Series A Bonds should consult their own tax 
advisers regarding such matters. 

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to advise in the future whether any events after the date of 
issuance and delivery of the Series A Bonds may affect the tax status of interest on the Bonds.  Bond 
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Counsel expresses no opinion as to any Federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to the 
Series A Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Series A Bonds or the 
proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel. 

 

Series B Bonds 

Taxable Bonds 

The following is a summary of certain anticipated United States federal income tax consequences 
of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series B Bonds.  The summary is based upon the 
provisions of the Code, the regulations promulgated thereunder and the judicial and administrative rulings 
and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change.  The summary generally addresses Series 
B Bonds held as capital assets and does not purport to address all aspects of federal income taxation that 
may affect particular investors in light of their individual circumstances or certain types of investors 
subject to special treatment under the federal income tax laws, including but not limited to financial 
institutions, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, persons holding such Bonds as a 
hedge against currency risks or as a position in a “straddle” for tax purposes, or persons whose functional 
currency is not the United States dollar.  Potential purchasers of the Series B Bonds should consult their 
own tax advisors in determining the federal, state or local tax consequences to them of the purchase, 
holding and disposition of the Series B Bonds. 

The advice set forth in this section was not intended or written by Bond Counsel to be used and 
cannot be used by an owner of the Series B Bonds for the purpose of avoiding penalties that may be 
imposed on the owner of the Series B Bonds.  The advice set forth herein is written to support the 
promotion or marketing of the Series B Bonds.  Each owner of the Series B Bonds should seek advice 
based on its particular circumstances from an independent tax advisor. 

Generally 

In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel, interest on the Series B Bonds is not 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and so will be fully subject to federal 
income taxation.  Purchasers other than those who purchase Series B Bonds in the initial offering at their 
principal amounts will be subject to federal income tax accounting rules affecting the timing and/or 
characterization of payments received with respect to such bonds.  In general, interest paid on the Series 
B Bonds and recovery of accrued original issue and market discount, if any, will be treated as ordinary 
income to a bondholder and, after adjustment for the foregoing, principal payments will be treated as a 
return of capital. 

Original Issue Discount 

The following summary is a general discussion of certain federal income tax consequences of the 
purchase, ownership and disposition of Series B Bonds issued with original issue discount (“Discount 
Federally Taxable Bonds”).  A Series B Bond will be treated as having been issued at an original issue 
discount if the excess of its “stated redemption price at maturity” (defined below) over its issue price 
(defined as the initial offering price to the public at which a substantial amount of the Series B Bonds of 
the same maturity have first been sold to the public, excluding bond houses and brokers) equals or 
exceeds one quarter of one percent of such Series B Bond’s stated redemption price at maturity multiplied 
by the number of complete years to its maturity. 
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A Series B Bond’s “stated redemption price at maturity” is the total of all payments provided by 
the Series B Bond that are not payments of “qualified stated interest.” Generally, the term “qualified 
stated interest” includes stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt 
instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed rate. 

In general, the amount of original issue discount includible in income by the initial holder of a 
Discount Federally Taxable Bond is the sum of the “daily portions” of original issue discount with respect 
to such Series B Bond for each day during the taxable year in which such holder held such Series B Bond.  
The daily portion of original issue discount on any Discount Federally Taxable Bond is determined by 
allocating to each day in any “accrual period” a ratable portion of the original issue discount allocable to 
that accrual period. 

An accrual period may be of any length, and may vary in length over the term of a Series B Bond, 
provided that each accrual period is not longer than one year and each scheduled payment of principal or 
interest occurs at the end of an accrual period.  The amount of original issue discount allocable to each 
accrual period is equal to the difference between (i) the product of the Series B Bond’s adjusted issue 
price at the beginning of such accrual period and its yield to maturity (determined on the basis of 
compounding at the close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted to take into account the length 
of the particular accrual period) and (ii) the amount of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to 
such accrual period.  The “adjusted issue price” of a Discount Federally Taxable Bond at the beginning of 
any accrual period is the sum of the issue price of the Discount Federally Taxable Bond plus the amount 
of original issue discount allocable to all prior accrual periods minus the amount of any prior payments on 
the Series B Bond that were not qualified stated interest payments.  Under these rules, holders will have to 
include in income increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods. 

Holders utilizing the accrual method of accounting may generally, upon election, include all 
interest (including stated interest, acquisition discount, original issue discount, de minimis original issue 
discount, market discount, de minimis market discount, and unstated interest, as adjusted by any 
amortizable bond premium or acquisition premium) on the Series B Bond by using the constant yield 
method applicable to original issue discount, subject to certain limitations and exceptions. 

Market Discount 

Any owner who purchases a Series B Bond at a price which includes market discount in excess of 
a prescribed de minimis amount (i.e., at a purchase price that is less than its adjusted issue price in the 
hands of an original owner) will be required to recharacterize all or a portion of the gain as ordinary 
income upon receipt of each scheduled or unscheduled principal payment or upon other disposition.  In 
particular, such owner will generally be required either (a) to allocate each such principal payment to 
accrued market discount not previously included in income and to recognize ordinary income to that 
extent and to treat any gain upon sale or other disposition of such a Series B Bond as ordinary income to 
the extent of any remaining accrued market discount (under this caption) or (b) to elect to include such 
market discount in income currently as it accrues on all market discount instruments acquired by such 
owner on or after the first day of the taxable year to which such election applies. 

The Code authorizes the Treasury Department to issue regulations providing for the method for 
accruing market discount on debt instruments the principal of which is payable in more than one 
installment.  Until such time as regulations are issued by the Treasury Department, certain rules described 
in the legislative history of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 will apply.  Under those rules, market discount 
will be included in income either (a) on a constant interest basis or (b) in proportion to the accrual of 
stated interest. 
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An owner of a Series B Bond who acquires such Series B Bond at a market discount also may be 
required to defer, until the maturity date of such Series B Bonds or the earlier disposition in a taxable 
transaction, the deduction of a portion of the amount of interest that the owner paid or accrued during the 
taxable year on indebtedness incurred or maintained to purchase or carry a Series B Bond in excess of the 
aggregate amount of interest (including original issue discount) includable in such owner’s gross income 
for the taxable year with respect to such Series B Bond.  The amount of such net interest expense deferred 
in a taxable year may not exceed the amount of market discount accrued on the Series B Bond for the 
days during the taxable year on which the owner held the Series B Bond and, in general, would be 
deductible when such market discount is includable in income.  The amount of any remaining deferred 
deduction is to be taken into account in the taxable year in which the Series B Bond matures or is 
disposed of in a taxable transaction.  In the case of a disposition in which gain or loss is not recognized in 
whole or in part, any remaining deferred deduction will be allowed to the extent gain is recognized on the 
disposition.  This deferral rule does not apply if the bondowner elects to include such market discount in 
income currently as described above. 

Bond Premium 

A purchaser of a Series B Bond who purchases such Series B Bond at a cost greater than its then 
principal amount (or, in the case of a Series B Bond issued with original issue premium, at a price in 
excess of its adjusted issue price) will have amortizable bond premium.  If the holder elects to amortize 
the premium under Section 171 of the Code (which election will apply to all bonds held by the holder on 
the first day of the taxable year to which the election applies, and to all bonds thereafter acquired by the 
holder), such a purchaser must amortize the premium using constant yield principles based on the 
purchaser’s yield to maturity.  Amortizable bond premium is generally treated as an offset to interest 
income, and a reduction in basis is required for amortizable bond premium that is applied to reduce 
interest payments.  Different rules apply to Discount Bonds that are acquired with “acquisition premium” 
(that is, at a price generally in excess of the Series A Bond’s adjusted issue price).  Purchasers of any 
Series B Bonds who acquire such Series B Bonds at a premium (or with acquisition premium) should 
consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of such premium for 
federal income tax purposes and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning such Series B 
Bonds. 

Sale or Redemption of Series B Bonds 

A bondowner’s tax basis for a Series B Bond is the price such owner pays for the Series B Bond 
plus the amount of any original issue discount and market discount previously included in income, 
reduced on account of any payments received (other than “qualified periodic interest” payments) and any 
amortized bond premium.  Gain or loss recognized on a sale, exchange or redemption of a Series B Bond, 
measured by the difference between the amount realized and the Series B Bond basis as so adjusted, will 
generally give rise to capital gain or loss if the Series B Bond is held as a capital asset (except as 
discussed above under “Market Discount”).  The defeasance of the Series B Bonds may result in a 
deemed sale or exchange of such Series B Bonds under certain circumstances; owners of such Series B 
Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the Federal income tax consequences of such an event. 

Backup Withholding 

A bondowner may, under certain circumstances, be subject to “backup withholding” (the current  
rate of this withholding tax is 28% but may change in the future) with respect to interest or original issue 
discount on the Series B Bonds.  This withholding generally applies if the owner of a Series B Bond (a) 
fails to furnish the Trustee or other payor with its taxpayer identification number; (b) furnishes the 
Trustee or other payor an incorrect taxpayer identification number; (c) fails to report properly interest, 
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dividends or other “reportable payments” as defined in the Code; or (d) under certain circumstances, fails 
to provide the Trustee or other payor with a certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the 
taxpayer identification number provided is its correct number and that the holder is not subject to backup 
withholding.  Backup withholding will not apply, however, with respect to certain payments made to 
bondowners, including payments to certain exempt recipients (such as certain exempt organizations) and 
to certain Nonresidents (as defined below).  Owners of the Series B Bonds should consult their tax 
advisors as to their qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for obtaining 
the exemption. 

The amount of “reportable payments” for each calendar year and the amount of tax withheld, if 
any, with respect to payments on the Series B Bonds will be reported to the bondowners and to the 
Internal Revenue Service. 

Nonresident Bondowners 

Under the Code, interest and original issue discount income with respect to Series B Bonds held 
by nonresident alien individuals, foreign corporations or other non-United States persons 
(“Nonresidents”) generally will not be subject to the United States withholding tax (or backup 
withholding) if the Authority (or other person who would otherwise be required to withhold tax from such 
payments) is provided with an appropriate statement that the beneficial owner of the Series B Bond is a 
Nonresident.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any such payments are effectively connected with a 
United States trade or business conducted by a Nonresident bondowner, they will be subject to regular 
United States income tax, but will ordinarily be exempt from United States withholding tax. 

ERISA 

The Employees Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and the Code 
generally prohibit certain transactions between a qualified employee benefit plan under ERISA or tax-
qualified retirement plans and individual retirement accounts under the Code (collectively, the “Plans”) 
and persons who, with respect to a Plan, are fiduciaries or other “parties in interest” within the meaning of 
ERISA or “disqualified persons” within the meaning of the Code.  All fiduciaries of Plans, in consultation 
with their advisors, should carefully consider the impact of ERISA and the Code on an investment in any 
Series B Bonds. 

State Taxes 

Bond Counsel is of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series B Bonds and any 
profit on the sale thereof are exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and Massachusetts 
personal property taxes. Bond counsel expresses no opinion as to other Massachusetts or local tax 
consequences arising with respect to the Series B Bonds nor as to the taxability of the Series B Bonds or 
the income therefrom under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts. 

Changes in Law and Post Issuance Events 

Legislative or administrative actions and court decisions, at either the Federal or state level, could 
have an adverse impact on the potential benefits of the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the 
Series B Bonds for state income tax purposes, and thus on the value or marketability of the Series B 
Bonds.  Prospective purchasers of the Series B Bonds should consult their own tax advisers regarding 
such matters. 



 

 
 22 
 

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to advise in the future whether any events after the date of 
issuance and delivery of the Series B Bonds may affect the tax status of interest on the Bonds.  Bond 
Counsel expresses no opinion as to any Federal, state or local tax law consequences with respect to the 
Series B Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Series B Bonds or the 
proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel. 

Opinions of Bond Counsel 

 On the date of delivery of the Bonds, the Underwriter will be furnished with opinions of Bond 
Counsel with respect to the Series A Bonds substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix E-1 - 
“FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION (SERIES A)” and with respect to the Series B Bonds 
substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix E-2 - “FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 
(SERIES B)”. 
 

LEGALITY OF THE BONDS FOR INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT 

The Act provides that the Bonds are securities in which all public officers and public bodies of 
the Commonwealth and its political subdivisions, all Massachusetts insurance companies, trust 
companies, savings banks, cooperative banks, banking associations, investment companies, executors, 
administrators, trustees and other fiduciaries may properly and legally invest funds, including capital in 
their control or belonging to them.  The Bonds, under the Act, are securities which may properly and 
legally be deposited with and received by any Commonwealth or municipal officer of any agency or 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth for any purpose for which the deposit of bonds or obligations 
of the Commonwealth is now or may hereafter be authorized by law. 

DESCRIPTION OF RATINGS 

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, 
New York, New York rated the Bonds “Baa2” with a stable outlook.  Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, a 
division of McGraw-Hill, Inc. (“Standard & Poor’s”), 55 Water Street, New York, New York rated the 
Bonds “BBB” with a stable outlook. 

 
The ratings reflect only the views of the rating agencies and any desired explanation of the 

significance of the ratings may be obtained from the respective rating agency.  Generally, a rating agency 
bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and 
assumptions of its own.  The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or own the Bonds, and 
there is no assurance such ratings will continue for any period of time or that such ratings will not be 
revised or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, if in the judgment of such rating agencies, 
circumstances so warrant.  Any downward revision or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect 
on the market price of the Bonds.   

COMMONWEALTH NOT LIABLE ON THE BONDS 

The Bonds shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or liability of the Commonwealth or any 
political subdivision thereof, or a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth or any such 
political subdivision, but shall be payable solely from the Revenues derived by the Authority under the 
Agreement.  Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the Commonwealth or of any political 
subdivision thereof is pledged to the payment of the principal of or the interest on the Bonds.  The Act 
does not in any way create a so-called moral obligation of the Commonwealth or of any political 
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subdivision thereof to pay any debt service on the Bonds in the event of default by the Institution under 
the Agreement.  The Authority does not have any taxing power. 

UNDERWRITING 

The Bonds are being purchased for reoffering by Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, as 
representative of the underwriters listed on the cover of this Official Statement (the “Underwriter”) 
pursuant to a Purchase Contract among the Authority, the Institution and the Underwriter.  The 
Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series A Bonds at an aggregate discount of $_____________ 
from the public offering price of the Series A Bonds, and purchase the Series B Bonds at an aggregate 
discount of $_____________ from the public offering price of the Series B Bonds, and to reoffer such 
Bonds at the initial offering prices or yields set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  The obligations of 
the Underwriter are subject to certain terms and conditions contained in the Purchase Contract.  The 
Underwriter will be obligated to purchase all of the Bonds if any of the Bonds are so purchased.  The 
Institution has agreed to indemnify the Underwriter and the Authority against certain liabilities, including 
certain liabilities arising under federal and state securities laws.  The Underwriter may offer and sell the 
Bonds to certain dealers (including dealers depositing Bonds into investment trusts, certain of which may 
be sponsored or managed by the Underwriter) and others at prices or yields lower than the initial offering 
prices or yields stated on the inside cover page hereof.  The initial offering prices or yields set forth on the 
inside cover page of this Official Statement may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter. 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Institution’s financial statements, as of June 30, 2009 and for the year then ended, which are 
included in Appendix B to this Official Statement, have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent 
accountants, as stated in their report therein. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

All legal matters incidental to the authorization and issuance of the Bonds by the Institution are 
subject to the approval of Nixon Peabody LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, Bond Counsel to the Institution, 
whose opinion approving the validity and tax exempt status of the Series A Bonds will be delivered with 
the Bonds.  A copy of the proposed forms of the opinions of Bond Counsel are attached hereto as 
Appendix E-1 and Appendix E-2.  Nixon Peabody LLP will also pass upon certain legal matters for the 
Institution.  Certain legal matters will be passed on for the Underwriter by its counsel, Greenberg Traurig, 
LLP, Boston, Massachusetts. 

The various legal opinions and/or certifications to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of 
the Bonds express the professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues 
explicitly addressed therein.  In rendering a legal opinion and/or certification, the attorney does not 
become an insurer or guarantor of that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined 
upon, or the future performance of parties to the transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion and/or 
certification guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 

LITIGATION 

There is no litigation pending or, to the Institution’s knowledge, threatened against the Institution 
or its officers or trustees contesting or questioning the validity of the issuance or sale of the Bonds, the 
security therefor or the ability of the Institution to perform its obligations under the Agreement.  See 
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Appendix A – “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” with respect to any litigation affecting the 
Institution. 

There is not now pending any litigation against the Authority restraining or enjoining the issuance 
or delivery of the Bonds or questioning or affecting the validity of the Bonds or the proceedings and 
authority under which they are to be issued.  Neither the creation, organization or existence of the 
Authority, nor the title of the present members or other officers of the Authority to their respective offices 
is being contested.  There is no litigation pending against the Authority which in any manner questions 
the right of the Authority to make a loan to the Institution to finance and refinance the Project in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and the Agreement. 

MISCELLANEOUS 

The references to the Act and the Agreement are brief summaries of certain provisions thereof.  
Such summaries do not purport to be complete, and reference is made to the Act and the Agreement for 
full and complete statements of their provisions.  The agreements of the Authority with the owners of the 
Bonds are fully set forth in the Agreement, and neither any advertisement of the Bonds nor this Official 
Statement is to be construed as constituting an agreement with the Bondowners.  So far as any statements 
are made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, they 
are intended merely as such and not as representations of fact.  Copies of the documents mentioned in this 
paragraph are on file at the offices of the Authority and of the Trustee. 

Information relating to DTC and the book-entry system described herein under the heading “THE 
BONDS – Book-Entry-Only System” has been furnished by DTC and is believed to be reliable, but none 
of the Authority, the Underwriter, or the Institution makes any representations or warranties whatsoever 
with respect to such information. 

The Authority and the Underwriter have relied, among other things, on the Institution for the 
information contained in Appendix A – “LETTER FROM THE INSTITUTION” and in Appendix B – 
“FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE INSTITUTION.”  While the information contained therein is 
believed to be reliable, the Authority and the Underwriter make no representations or warranties 
whatsoever with respect to the information contained therein except, as to the Underwriter, as set forth on 
the inside cover page hereof. 

Appendix C – “DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS,” Appendix D – “SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE AGREEMENT,” Appendix E-1 – “FORM OF BOND COUNSEL 
OPINION (SERIES A),” Appendix E-2 “FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION (SERIES B)” and 
Appendix F – “FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” have been prepared by Nixon 
Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel to the Institution. 

All appendices are incorporated as integral parts of this Official Statement. 

The Institution has reviewed the portions of this Official Statement describing the Institution, 
“Introduction - Plan of Finance,” “The Institution,” “Plan of Finance,” “Estimated Sources and Uses of 
Funds,” “Bondowners’ Risks,” “Continuing Disclosure” (as it relates to the Institution), “Financial 
Statements,” and “Litigation” (as it relates to the Institution), and has furnished Appendix A and 
Appendix B to this Official Statement, and has approved all such information for use with this Official 
Statement.  At the closing for the Bonds, the Institution will certify that such portions of this Official 
Statement, except for any projections and opinions contained in such portions, do not contain any untrue 
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to 
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make such statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not 
misleading, and the aforesaid projections and opinions are believed to be reasonable. 

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement by its Executive Director has been duly 
authorized by the Authority. 

MASSACHUSETTS HEALTH AND EDUCATIONAL 
FACILITIES AUTHORITY 

 
 

By:         
      Executive Director 
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Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
99 Summer Street 
Boston, MA  02110 
 
Dear Members of the Authority: 
 

We are pleased to submit the following information with respect to Suffolk University (“Suffolk 
University,” or the “University”).  This letter and the information contained herein are submitted to the 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (“Authority”) for inclusion in the Official 
Statement relating to its Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) and Series 
B (2009) (Federally Taxable) (collectively, the “Bonds”).  Unless otherwise indicated, all cities and towns 
referred to herein are located in The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”).  All 
references to years herein refer to fiscal year ended June 30 unless otherwise specified.  

INTRODUCTION 

 
Suffolk University is a non-profit institution of higher education. The University, located on 

Beacon Hill in the heart of Boston and accessible from all parts of the metropolitan area, offers 
undergraduate and graduate degrees through its College of Arts and Sciences, Sawyer Business School, 
and Law School.   The College of Arts and Sciences (the “CAS”) and the Sawyer Business School (the 
“SBS” and together with the CAS, the “Colleges”) had combined full-time equivalent (“FTE”) 
enrollments of 6,890 students in fall 2009.  As part of the CAS, in fall 2009, the University enrolled over 
176 full-time undergraduate students and approximately 70 continuing education students in its arts 
program at the New England School of Art and Design (“NESAD”) at Suffolk University.  Over the last 
five years, FTE enrollment at the Colleges has increased approximately 21% percent.  The University’s 
law school (the “Law School”) is one of the largest in the country, with total FTE enrollment of 1,516 in 
fall 2009. The University also operates overseas campuses in Madrid, Spain and Dakar, Senegal that 
provide off-campus experiences for University students as well as attract overseas students to its Boston 
campus.  The University also offers undergraduate courses at Dean College in Franklin, Cape Cod 
Community College in West Barnstable and Merrimack College in Andover. 
 

Suffolk University prides itself as being a provider of high quality, practical, and experiential 
education designed to prepare graduates for careers.  The University believes the characteristics that 
distinguish it from competing institutions are a broad range of flexible class schedules that include day, 
night and weekend sessions, affordable tuition, small class sizes, a majority of classes taught by 
professors rather than graduate students, and a convenient downtown location that is accessible to 
commuters and professionals.  

 
Founded as a law school for working adults in 1906 by Gleason L. Archer, Suffolk University 

developed by adding a College of Arts and Sciences in 1934 and a College of Business Administration in 
1937, the same year in which the Law School and the Colleges were chartered as Suffolk University by 
the Massachusetts General Court.  Since its inception, the University’s fundamental mission has been to 
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respond to the evolving needs of society by providing an opportunity for motivated and capable students 
to obtain a quality education in a challenging, yet supportive, environment at an affordable cost.   
  

Suffolk University’s location on Beacon Hill near the state capitol, government agencies, the 
courts, and New England's medical, business, and financial centers, allows it to make use of these 
institutions for internships, cooperative education assignments, observation sites, and other forms of 
experiential learning and research.  Throughout its history, Suffolk University has established alliances 
with business, public administration and agencies, and legal communities for the purpose of providing 
financial support, research opportunities, adjunct faculty, professional advice and career placement for its 
graduates.  The many cultural attractions of Boston are also readily available to students, and a public 
transportation system provides easy access to Boston's libraries, museums, theaters, retail shops and 
sports venues. 
 

The philosophy of the College of Arts and Sciences is that liberal learning prepares students of all 
ages and backgrounds to live more fulfilling lives, to appreciate and contribute to their communities and 
to reach their ethical, personal, intellectual and financial goals.  To help its students maximize their 
potential, the CAS emphasizes crucial and analytical thinking through a rigorous “success skills” 
undergraduate core program in written and oral communication, computing, analyzing and integrating. 
Faculty scholarship supports diversified liberal arts concentrations available in the humanities, the natural 
sciences and the social sciences, along with practical experience on and off campus.  The CAS offers the 
Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Science, Masters of Science, and Masters in Education and Communication 
degrees, as well as the Ph.D. in Clinical Psychology and the Ph.D. in Economics. Through its programs at 
NESAD, the CAS also offers four-year Bachelor of Fine Arts programs in Graphic Design, Interior 
Design and Fine Arts.  NESAD also offers Master’s programs in Interior Design and Graphic Design.  
 

The Sawyer Business School creates a learning environment that enables students to emerge as 
successful leaders in the global business and public service areas.  The SBS values excellence in 
education and research, and works with its students, alumni, and business partners to achieve their goals.  
The programs are built on the core values of promoting opportunity, excellence, quality teaching, 
inclusion and collaboration, a team-focused organizational culture and exceptional service.  The SBS 
offers Bachelor degrees in several disciplines as well as the Masters in Business Administration and the 
Masters in Public Administration degrees.    

 
The mission of the Law School is to educate students to become informed, ethical, and effective 

legal practitioners capable of positively influencing the profession.  The strong scholarly and theoretical 
focus of the classroom is complemented by significant opportunities to develop practical legal skills.  
Five law reviews offer intensive writing experiences on topics of national and international importance.  
Trial and advocacy competitions provide opportunities to develop oral advocacy skills while exploring 
emerging legal policy issues.  Seven clinical programs offer hands-on experience in preparing cases and 
representing clients.  The Law School has one of the largest bodies of living law alumni in the nation, 
numbering over 21,700 and representing every aspect of the profession, including private practice, the 
judiciary, and legislative and governmental service.  The Law School has both a well established day 
division (a three-year program) and an evening division (a four-year program).  The Law School’s FTE 
enrollment of 1,516 for fall 2009 was made up of 1,108 day division students and 618 evening division 
students.   
 
 The University’s campus in Madrid, Spain offers students speaking a foreign language the 
opportunity to learn English and earn credits toward a degree.  Students at the Madrid campus may 
transfer to the Boston campus or another United States accredited school after two years.  The University 
also provides domestic students with a study abroad opportunity in Madrid.  The Madrid program 
enrolled  137 students in the fall  2009. 
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In May 1999, the University opened a satellite campus in Dakar, Senegal.  In fall 2009, the 

Senegal program enrolled 67 undergraduate and 237 English Language for Internationals students to 
study at the Dakar campus.  English Language for Internationals (“ELI”) is a non-degree, intensive 
English language program that prepares students for the academic demands of an American university.  In 
addition to learning the English language, students learn useful and practical classroom skills to help them 
succeed in school.  The first two years are dedicated to completing courses leading to a Bachelor of 
Science Business Administration degree or completing certain core requirements leading to a Bachelor of 
Arts or Bachelor of Science degree.  After satisfying certain conditions, students can transfer the credits 
they earn in Dakar to their home campus. 
  

ACCREDITATION, MEMBERSHIPS, AND AFFILIATIONS  

 
 Accreditations. Suffolk University has been accredited by the New England Association of 
Schools and Colleges, Inc. since 1952.  The Law School has been accredited by the American Bar 
Association (the “ABA”) since 1953 and has been a member of the American Association of Law Schools 
(“AALS”) since 1977.   The Law School received its six-year ABA/AALS re-accreditation in December 
2005. 
   
 Within the College of Arts and Sciences, the American Chemical Society accredits the Chemistry 
Department.  Specific programs in Education have been approved by the State Department of Education 
for inclusion in the reciprocity privileges of the Interstate Certification Compact.  The ABA accredits the 
Paralegal Program.  The International Association of Counseling Centers accredits the University 
Counseling Center.  The American Psychological Association accredits both the Internship Program in 
the Counseling Center and the Ph.D. Program in Psychology.  The National Association of Schools of Art 
and Design accredits the Art and Design program and the Fine Arts and Master of Arts in Interior Design 
are accredited as Professional Level Programs by the Foundation for Interior Design Education Research.  
Suffolk University’s Madrid Campus is accredited by the Communidad de Madrid. The Radiation 
Therapy Program is accredited by The Joint Review Committee on Education in Radiologic Technology.  
The Bachelor of Science in Engineering with a Concentration in Electrical Engineering is accredited by 
the Accreditation Board of Engineering and Technology. 
  

The Sawyer Business School is accredited by AACSB International - The Association to 
Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (the “AACSB”).  Over 1,100 business schools were members of 
AACSB International as of April 2009.  Of that number, 568 are accredited by AACSB with business 
administration accreditation and 171 are accredited in accounting (Suffolk maintains accreditations both 
in accounting and business administration). Each accreditation is valid for a period of ten years.  The SBS 
is one of only three schools in Massachusetts accredited by AACSB International in both business 
administration and accounting.  In addition, the SBS is the only Business School in Boston to have 
received AACSB accreditation of its graduate and undergraduate accounting programs.  The Business 
School’s  Masters in Public Administration program is accredited by the National Association of Schools 
of Public Affairs and Administration (NASPAA).  Suffolk University's SBS is the only business school in 
New England fully accredited by both AACSB and NASPAA . 
 
 Memberships and Affiliations.  Suffolk University holds memberships in the AACSB, 
Association of Management Education, American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education, 
American Bar Association, American College Personnel Association, American Council on Education, 
American Library Association, American Society for Information Science, Association for Continuing 
Higher Education, Association of American Law Schools, Association of Governing Boards, Association 
of Independent Colleges and Universities of Massachusetts, Boston Athenaeum, Boston Museum of 
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Science, College Art Association, College Entrance Examination Board, College Scholarship Service, 
Inc., Cooperative Education Association, Fenway Library Consortium, Graduate Management 
Admissions Counsel, International Association of Counseling Services, Massachusetts Bay Marine 
Studies Consortium, Inc., Massachusetts Marine Educators, Inc., Museum of Fine Arts, National 
Association for Campus Activities, National Association of Schools of Public Affairs and Administration, 
New England Aquarium, North American Association of Summer Sessions, Ocean Research and 
Education Society, Special Libraries, United States Association of Evening Students, and WGBH 
Education Foundation.   

GOVERNANCE 

 
 The University is governed by a Board of Trustees (the “Board”) consisting of a maximum of six 
life members and 31 term members.  Term members serve an initial five-year term, are eligible for a 
second five-year term and then after a one-year hiatus are eligible for reelection.  Three alumni trustees 
are nominated, one each from the alumni of the Law School, the Colleges of Arts and Sciences, and the 
Sawyer Business School.  The President of the University and the Vice President/Treasurer serve as ex-
officio voting members of the Board. 
 
 The position of Trustee Emeritus is conferred by vote of the Board on any life or term member 
who, having served ten or more years on the Board, requests that he or she be retired as a life or term 
member of the Board of Trustees.  The position of Trustee Emeritus carries the same privileges as a 
member of the Board with the exception of the right to vote.  
 
 The following is a list of the members of the Board for academic year 2009-10, the year of initial 
appointment, and the principal business or professional affiliation of each member.   
 
 
 
Trustee 

Year of Initial 
Appointment 

 
Principal Business Affiliation 

   
Nicholas Macaronis, Esq. 
Chairman of the Board 

Chairman, Investment, Salary and Finance 

Committees 

1999 Attorney-at-Law, Macaronis Law Firm 
Lowell, Massachusetts 

   
Carol Sawyer Parks (Life) 
Vice Chairman 

Chairperson, Student Affairs Committee 

1986 President, Sawyer Enterprises 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   
Robert B. Crowe 
Clerk 

Chairman, Law School Committee 

Chairman, Honorary Degree Committee 

1987 Attorney-at-Law, Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP 
Boston, Massachusetts 
 

   
Hon. Marianne B. Bowler 1995 Chief U.S. Magistrate Judge for the District of 

Massachusetts 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   
John A. Brennan, Jr. Esq. 
 

2007 The Brennan Group 
Boston, Massachusetts  

   
Hon. Lawrence L. Cameron (Life) 
 

1966 Retired Chief Justice, South Boston District Court  
Boston, Massachusetts 

   
Irwin Chafetz 2002 Vice President & Director, The Interface Group 

Needham, Massachusetts  
   
Leo J. Corcoran, Esq. 2006 Autumn Development Co.  

Boston, MA 
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Gerard F. Doherty, Esq. 
 

1996 President, Law Offices of Gerard Doherty 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   
Dennis M. Duggan, Jr. Esq. 
Chairman, Development Committee 

1996 Partner, Nixon Peabody LLP* 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   
Dennis Fernandez 2008 Managing Partner, Fernandez & Associates, LLP 

Menlo Park, California 
   

Francis X. Flannery 
Ex-officio 

1970 Vice President/Treasurer, Suffolk University 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Jill S. Gabbe  
Alumni Trustee (CAS) 

2007 Gabbegroup  
New York, New York 
 

   

Hon. Robert W. Gardner, Jr. 
Chairman, Alumni Committee 

2002 
 

Associate Justice, Clinton District Court   
Clinton, Massachusetts 

   

Russell A. Gaudreau Jr. Esq. 
Alumni Trustee (LAW) 

2005 Attorney at Law, Wagner Law Group 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Margaret A. Geraghty 
Chairman, College Committee 

1995 President, Geraghty Real Estate (Retired) 
Dedham, MA 
 

   

Michael G. George 
 

2002 President and CEO, Bowstreet Software, Inc.  
Tewksbury, Massachusetts  

   

Jeanne M. Hession (Life) 
Chairman, Student Financial Aid and 

Enrollment Management Committee 

1973 Attorney-At-Law, Retired Vice President and Associate 
Counsel, Boston Safe Deposit and Trust Company 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Joseph P. Hoar 1995 Retired General, USMC, Chairman J.P. Hoar and 
Associates 
Del Mar, California 

   

William T. Hogan III, Esq. 2002 Attorney At Law, Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough 
LLP   
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Peter A. Hunter, Esq. 
 

2006 Managing Director 
Axia Partners 
Burlington, Massachusetts 

   

J. Robert Johnson 
 

1991 Founder/President, Yankee Marketers, Inc. 
Middleton, Massachusetts 

   

Deborah F. Marson, Esq. 2005 Formerly Deputy General Counsel, The Gillette Company 
Boston, MA 

   

Martin T. Meehan, Esq. 2003 Chancelor,  University of Massachusetts at Lowell 
Lowell, Massachusetts 

   

Andrew C. Meyer, Jr. Esq. 
 

2001 Attorney-At-Law, Lubin & Meyer, PC 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Ralph Mitchell 
Alumni Trustee (SBS) 

2003 Carthage Financial Group     
Braintree, Massachusetts 

   

James T. Morris, Esq. 2006 Attorney At Law, Quinn & Morris 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

John J. O’Connor 1998 Retired Vice Chairman, Pricewaterhouse Coopers  
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Brian T. O’Neill 
 

1988 Attorney-at-Law, Offices of Brian T. O’Neill 
Boston, Massachusetts 

George A. Ramirez, Esq.  2007 General Counsel, Executive Office of Housing and 

                                                                 
* Nixon Peabody, LLP is serving as Bond Counsel and counsel to the Institution in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.   
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Economic Development 
Worcester, MA 

   

David J. Sargent, Esq. 
Ex-officio 

1989 President, Suffolk University 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Rosalie K. Stahl 
 

2001 Stahl Entities 
New York, New York 

   

Tara Taylor 
Alumni Trustee 

2009 Vice President, State Street Global Advisors 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Francis M. Vazza 
Chairman, Building Committee 

1996 President, Vazza Associates 
Braintree, Massachusetts 

   

Thomas J. Brown 
Trustee Emeritus 

1979 President, Jobs Clearing House, Inc. 
Boston, Massachusetts 

   

Dorothy A. Caprera, Esq. 
Trustee Emeritus 

1974 Formerly was in private Law Practice 
Massachusetts 

   

Vincent A. Fulmer 
Past Chairman of the Board 1976-1981 

Trustee Emeritus 

1972 Past President of Hawthorne College, Antrim, NH and 
Former Clerk of the MIT Corporation 
Cambridge, Massachusetts 

   

John C. Scully, CLU 
Trustee Emeritus 

1986 Former President and Chief Executive Officer, LIMRA 
International, Hartford, Connecticut 
 

 
 

 
Most committees of the Board meet on a regular basis prior to full Board meetings.  Suffolk 

University’s standing committees are:  
 

Alumni Committee Investment Committee 
Alumni - Trustee Committee Law School Committee 
Audit Committee Nominating Committee 
Building Committee Provost Committee 
By-laws Committee Presidential Compensation Committee 
College Committee Salary Committee 
Committee to Review the By-Laws   Sawyer Business School Committee 
Development Committee Student Affairs Committee 
Finance Committee 
Honorary Degree Committee 

Student Financial Aid and Enrollment 
Management Committee 

 
 The Board generally meets five times a year.  Between meetings of the Board, the Finance 
Committee has the power to transact all of the University’s financial and executive business; provided, 
however, that it may not encumber the University’s property without the authority of two-thirds of the 
Board.  The Finance Committee generally meets four times per year. 
 
 The Board has a conflict of interest policy which governs each member of the Board and all 
officers of the administration.  It covers such areas as fiduciary responsibility, disclosure of conflicts, and 
restraints on participation. 
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ADMINISTRATION 

 
 The President of Suffolk University is charged with its administration.  Assisting the President in 
this task are the Provost, Vice President/Treasurer, Vice President for Student Affairs, Vice President for 
Advancement, Vice President for Enrollment and International Programs, Vice President for External 
Affairs, Vice President for Academic Affairs, and  respective deans for the Law School and Colleges.  
David J. Sargent became the eighth President of Suffolk University in September 1989, his predecessor 
having served as President for a period of nine years.  
 
Selected administrative officers of the University are as follows: 
 
David J. Sargent was appointed President in September 1989.  Prior to his appointment, he served as 
Dean of the Law School from 1973 to August 1989.  He did his undergraduate work at the University of 
New Hampshire, Durham, New Hampshire, and received his Juris Doctor degree in 1954 from Suffolk 
University Law School.  In addition to ranking first in his class, he was the class president.  He has been a 
consultant to numerous law firms, primarily in the litigation field with particular emphasis on product 
liability.  He served for three terms as Chairman of the Committee on Trial Practice of the Massachusetts 
Bar Association.  He was appointed by the former Governor of Massachusetts to serve as a member of the 
Massachusetts Judicial Selection Committee. 
 
Barry Brown was appointed Provost in August 2008.   Prior to his appointment, he served the University 
as Professor of Law and Director of the Concentration in Health and Biomedical Law and founder of the 
Journal of Health and Biomedical Law.   He attended Harvard College, Cambridge, Massachusetts, from 
which he received his A.B., cum laude in 1968.  Mr. Brown received his Ed.M., from Harvard Graduate 
School of Education in 1969 and his J.D. from Harvard Law School in 1972.  In 1984 he was chosen as a 
visiting scholar at Harvard Law School.  He served as First Assistant Bar Counsel to the Supreme Judicial 
Court of Massachusetts from 1974 -1976.  As Senior Counsel to national law firms, he has managed 
complex commercial real estate transactions and finance for projects in major metropolitan areas 
throughout the United States.  Mr. Brown is the co-author of a multi-volume text on condominium law 
and numerous law review articles on property law, professional responsibility, and biomedical law. 
 
Francis X. Flannery has served as Vice President/Treasurer and Trustee of Suffolk University since 
1970.  Prior to coming to the University, he was associated with a major accounting firm.  He is a 
graduate of Boston College (B.S. degree), and received an M.B.A. degree from Suffolk University in 
1964.  He received an honorary Ph.D. degree in Commercial Science from Suffolk University in 1991.  
He is a member of the American Institute of CPAs and National Association of College and University 
Business Officers.  
 
Marguerite J. Dennis assumed the position of Vice President of Enrollment and International Programs 
in 2001.  She  coordinates the University’s enrollment and international programs and is responsible for 
the overall strategic planning for the enrollment and retention management program for the Colleges and 
for the development and implementation of international recruiting activities and international alumni 
programs. From 1989 to 1995 she was Dean of Enrollment and Retention Management.  From 1996-2001 
she served as Vice President for Development and Enrollment.  She has written four books on funding a 
college education and has recently completed, “A Practical Guide to Enrollment and Retention 
Management” and “Ten Trends in Higher Education” published in March 2005.  Her higher education 
administration experience spans three decades and includes employment at Georgetown University in 
Washington, D.C. and St. John’s University in New York.  She received both a B.A. degree and an M.A. 
degree from St. John's University, New York. 
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Kenneth S. Greenberg was appointed Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences in March 2004.  He 
received his first appointment as Assistant Professor of History at Suffolk University in 1978 and later 
became Department Chair of the History and Philosophy Departments, Associate Dean of the College, 
and Distinguished Professor of History.  He earned a B.A. degree from Cornell University, an M.A. in 
History from Columbia University, and the PhD in American History from the University of Wisconsin. 
He is a nationally acclaimed author of books published by Princeton, Oxford, Johns Hopkins and St. 
Martins; a filmmaker with national screening on PBS; and a winner of grants and fellowships from the 
National Endowment for the Humanities, Harvard Law School, the Charles Warren Center at Harvard, the 
W.E.B. DuBois Center at Harvard, the Southern Humanities Media Fund, the Robert Wood Johnson 
Foundation, and numerous other funding organizations. 
 
Janice C. Griffith was appointed Vice President for Academic Affairs of the University and a Professor 
of Law in November 2008.  Prior to this role, she served as Dean of the Georgia State University College 
of Law for eight years.  Previously she taught at the Quinnipiac University School of Law. Nationally 
recognized as a scholar in State and Local Government Law, she has published articles on federalism, 
public finance, land use, home rule, and regional governance.  Before entering academia, she served in 
New York City’s government as a Division Chief in the Office of Corporation Counsel and as General 
Counsel and Assistant Administrator of the Housing and Development Administration.  She was an 
associate with the Wall Street law firm of Hawkins, Delafield and Wood before holding these 
governmental posts.  Ms. Griffith received a J.D. from the University of Chicago Law School and an A.B. 
degree from Colby College.  
 
Bernard V. Keenan was appointed Interim Dean of Suffolk University Law School in July 2009. Mr. 
Keenan is a longtime member of the Suffolk Law faculty and his teaching focuses on various real 
property issues, including governmental regulation of private land use. For the past nine years, he has 
served as an Academic Associate Dean at Suffolk Law. He is the author of law review articles 
considering governmental and real estate issues, and he is the co-author of  a volume on Massachusetts 
Condominium Law.  Mr. Keenan has been an active member of and held leadership positions in the 
American and Massachusetts Bar Associations. He received his B.A. from the College of the Holy Cross 
and his J.D. from Georgetown University Law Center. Mr. Keenan was the recipient of the initial Real 
Property Fellowship awarded by Columbia University School of Law where he received a Master of 
Laws degree.   
 
Christopher S. Mosher was appointed Vice President for Advancement on June 1, 2009.  In this 
capacity, he serves as the chief development officer for the University.  He is responsible for all alumni 
outreach and fundraising initiatives including The Campaign for Suffolk University - The Power to 
Change.  Prior to joining the senior administration at Suffolk University, Mr. Mosher served as vice 
president for development at Mount Ida College.  In addition he has held senior leadership development 
positions at Northeastern University, Embry-Riddle University, Brigham and Women’s Hospital, and 
Quincy Medical Center.  He is a member of the Association of Fundraising Professionals, Planned Giving 
Group of New England, and the Council for the Advancement and Support of Education.  Mr. Mosher 
earned a B.A. degree from Northeastern University and a J.D. degree from Suffolk Law School. 
 
John Nucci was appointed Vice President for External Affairs in 2007, expanding his duties beyond 
governmental and community matters to include overall oversight of external matters affecting the 
University.  Mr. Nucci is responsible for the University’s Office of Public Affairs as well as the Office of 
Facilities and Management.  He is a former clerk of the Suffolk Country Criminal Superior Court and is 
currently responsible for working with government officials and community members to assist the 
University in expanding its campus in a manner that reduces the traditional town-gown concerns.  He also 
was an adjunct faculty member in the Sawyer Business School for approximately 10 years prior to 
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assuming this position.  Mr. Nucci earned a B.A.S. degree from Boston College and a M.P.A. degree 
from Suffolk University.   
 
William J. O’Neill, Jr. was appointed Dean of the Sawyer Business School in August 2001.  Prior to this 
appointment, he spent 30 years with the Polaroid Corporation, where he was an Executive Vice President 
of the Corporation and President of Corporate Business Development.  He earned his J.D. from Suffolk 
University Law School, his M.B.A. in finance from Wayne State University, Detroit and his B.A. in 
mathematics from Boston College.  Mr. O’Neill is a member of the Board of Directors for Concord 
Camera Corporation, Cardio Tech, and the Greater Boston Chamber of Commerce.  He is a Life Trustee 
for the New England Aquarium and Lesley College. 
 
Nancy C. Stoll was named Vice President for Student Affairs in April 2008.  Prior to this role, she served 
as Dean of Students beginning in September 1987.  Prior to coming to the University, she served for over 
ten years in student services positions at College of Wooster, Simmons College, and Brandeis University.  
Supervising residence hall systems was a major part of her work at each of those institutions.  Prior to 
joining Suffolk University she also served as Assistant Director of the New England Association of 
Schools and Colleges (NEASC).  She received her undergraduate degree from Hanover College, Hanover, 
Indiana, her M.A. from Ball State University, Muncie, Indiana, and an Ed.D. degree in Administration, 
Planning and Social Policy from Harvard University, Cambridge.  She has served on numerous boards of 
student affairs professional organizations and regularly serves on NEASC accreditation teams. 
 

FACULTY AND STAFF 

 
 The University's faculty currently includes 417 permanent full-time and 509 part-time faculty.  
Approximately 87% of the full-time faculty hold terminal degrees.  The number of full-time, part-time, 
and full-time tenured faculty for the past five academic years is shown in the following table: 
 

Faculty 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Full-Time Faculty 349 377 402 422 417 
Part-Time Faculty 468 532 576 519 509 

Total Faculty 817 909 978 941 926 
Tenured Faculty 185 190 199 201 217 
% of Full-Time Faculty with Tenure 53% 50% 50% 48% 52% 

 

The approximate student/faculty ratios for academic year 2009-10 are: Law School, 15.8:1; CAS, 
18:1; and SBS, 17:1. 
 
 The University currently employs 313 support staff, 439 administrators, and 95 service staff.  
Two unions represent a total of 95 University employees.  The Suffolk University Police Association 
consists of 67 full-time officers and has a contract which expires on June 30, 2010.  The Service 
Employees' International Union Local 254, consisting of 28 physical plant employees, has a two-year 
contract with the University which expires on June 30, 2010.  The University has never experienced a 
strike or labor stoppage.  The University believes its relationship with its employees is good. 
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STUDENT ENROLLMENT 

 
 The following table shows full-time and part-time fall semester enrollments for the academic 
years 2005-06 through 2009-10.   
 

Enrollment 
             
  

Law School 
College of  

Arts and Sciences 
Sawyer  

Business School 
 

Total 
             Academic 
Year 

Full 
Time 

Part 
Time 

 
FTEs 

Full 
Time 

Part 
Time 

 
FTEs 

Full 
Time 

Part 
Time 

 
FTEs 

Full 
Time 

Part 
Time 

 
FTEs 

2005-06 1,058 613 1,463 2,911 922 3,348 1,735 1,351 2,353 5,705 2,885 7,164 
2006-07 1,032 609 1,433 3,209 918 3,646 1,863 1,347 2,479 6,104 2,874 7,558 
2007-08 1,021 604 1,423 3,406 887 3,836 2,000 1,313 2,618 6,427 2,804 7,877 
2008-09 1,054 636 1,474 3,585 796 3,962 2,309 1,221 2,881 6,948 2,653 8,317 
2009-10 1,108 618 1,516 3,640 764 4,002 2,370 1,106 2,888 7,118 2,488 8,406 

 
The following chart indicates the enrollment of international students at the Colleges for the 

academic years 2005-06 through 2009-10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

STUDENT APPLICATIONS, ACCEPTANCES, AND MATRICULATIONS 

   

Undergraduate Schools 

 

During academic years 2005-06 through 2009-10, the acceptance rate for new undergraduate 
applicants at the Colleges remained relatively stable at 80% to 85% between 2005-06 and 2009-10.  At 
the same time the number of applications to the Colleges for new undergraduate applicants increased 44 
percent.  The following table highlights the University’s undergraduate application, acceptance, and 
enrollment statistics. 
 

Undergraduate Applications, Acceptances, and Enrollments - Boston Campus 
 

 Academic Year 

Freshman Data 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Applications 6,229 7,101 8,045 9,171 9,036 

Acceptances 5,132 5,875 6,404 7,513 7,661 

Acceptances as  % of Applications 82% 83% 80% 82% 85% 

Enrollment 1,136 1,307 1,328 1,572 1,254 

Enrollment as % of Acceptances 22% 22% 21% 21% 16% 

      

Transfers      

Applications 1,019 1,104 1,217 1,271 1,317 

Acceptances 757 778 776 875 924 

Acceptances as  % of Applications 74% 70% 64% 69% 70% 

Enrolled 337 367 350 348 395 

Enrollment as % of Acceptances 45% 47% 45% 40% 43% 

International Students 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Boston Campus 621 648 694 825 799 
Other U.S. locations 16 11 4 1 1 
Madrid 20 12 14 13 14 
Senegal 293 357 177 138 304 
Total 950 1,028 889 977 1,118 
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Freshman enrollment as a percentage of acceptances is 16% for the current year, a decrease from 

prior year levels of 21% to 22% over the past four years. Transfer enrollment as a percentage of 
acceptance is 43% for the current year, an increase over last year and consistent with levels of 40% to 
47% over the past four years.  Due to a historically large graduating high school class many universities 
nationally, including the University, experienced higher than normal fall 2008 freshman enrollment.  In 
2008, the University made a commitment to limit its Boston campus FTE, degree seeking, undergraduate 
student population to 5,000 for a period of 10 years. 

  

 
Mean SAT Scores 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
Verbal SAT Score 521 509 513 508 506 
Math SAT Score 
Writing SAT Score  

510 
      * 

504 
504 

510 
511 

510 
510 

506 
506 

Combined SAT Score 1,031 1,517 1,534       1,528 1,518 

*  Writing SAT was not administered for students entering in academic year 2005-06. 

Graduate Schools - Boston Campus 

 
The following table highlights the Colleges’ graduate school applications, acceptance, and 

enrollment statistics. 
 

Applications, Acceptances, and Enrollments - Boston Campus 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Applications 1,440 1,716 1,744 2,098 2,221 
Acceptances 954 1,127 1,078 1,269 1,344 
Acceptances as % of Applications 66% 66% 62% 60% 61% 
Enrollments 499 531 498 593 544 
Enrollments as % of Acceptances 52% 47% 46% 47% 40% 

 
During academic years 2005-06 through 2009-10, the acceptance rate for new graduate school 

applicants at the Colleges decreased from 67% to 61% as a result of the CAS & MSA graduate programs 
being more selective and the fact that there is a cap on the number of accepted students in the Ph.D. 
Psychology program.  At the same time the Colleges’ graduate school matriculation rate ranged from 52% 
in 2005-06 to 40% in 2009-10.  The Administration believes that fewer students chose to enroll in the 
graduate programs in 2009-10 due to the withdrawal of tuition reimbursement by many employers.  The 
Administration also believes that enrollment may have been negatively affected by the Colleges’ 
increased admissions requirements for certain international students for the 2009-10 school year.   
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Law School 

 
The following table highlights the Law School applications, acceptance, and enrollment statistics. 

 
Applications, Acceptances, and Enrollments 

 Academic Year 

 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Applications 3,201 3,040 3,056 3,309 3,261 
Acceptances 1,373 1,469 1,531 1,616 1,696 
Acceptances as % of Applications 43% 48% 50% 49% 52% 
Enrollments 557 530 535 545             531 
Enrollments as % of Acceptances 41% 36% 35% 34% 31% 

 

 

 

Geographic Distribution 

 
The Colleges draw their student body primarily from Massachusetts as shown by the following 

table of the geographic distribution of matriculating students for the past five academic years.  The 
percentage of students from outside of Massachusetts has been gradually increasing over time. 
 

Geographic Distribution of the Colleges 
(undergraduate and graduate) 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
Greater Boston 42% 40% 39% 38% 36% 
Other Massachusetts 30% 31% 31% 28% 29% 
Outside Massachusetts* 28% 28% 30% 34% 35% 
*including International Students 
 

     

 
 

The Law School draws its student body from a broader geographic area as shown by the 
following table of the geographic distribution of students for the past five academic years, broken down 
by Day and Evening Divisions.  
 

Geographical Distribution of the Law School - Day Division 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
Massachusetts 59% 59% 55% 57% 56% 
New England 12% 12% 12% 12% 13% 
Other 29% 29% 33% 31% 31% 

 
Geographical Distribution of the Law School - Evening Division 

 Academic Year 
 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 
Massachusetts 81% 81% 77% 77% 78% 
New England 8% 7% 6% 8% 6% 
Other 11% 12% 17% 15% 16% 

Mean LSAT  Scores 

 Academic Year 
Median LSAT 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 

Day 157  157 157 157 157 
Evening    155    155 156 153 153 
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TUITION 

 
The following table shows tuition rates, mandatory fees and undergraduate room and board rates 

for the academic years 2005-06 through 2009-10.   
 

Tuition Rates, Mandatory Fees and Room & Board 

 Academic Year 

Undergraduate  2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10  

  Tuition  Rate  $21,140 $22,610 $24,170 $25,850 $27,100 

  Mandatory Fees 80           80          100         104           108  

  Room & Board  (Double)      12,154     12,756     13,360     13,970      14,544  
      
Graduate MED - CAS       

  Tuition  Rate  $16,520 $17,346 $18,212 $19,480 $20,400 

  Mandatory Fees          20           20           20           20            20  
      
Graduate MBA  - SBS       

  Tuition  Rate  $25,800 $27,560 $29,490 $31,550 $33,000 

  Mandatory Fees          20           20           20           20            20  
      
Law School   -- Day       

  Tuition  Rate  $31,694 $33,754 $35,948 $38,070 $39,550 

  Mandatory Fees         120          120          120         120           120  

 
In light of the additional year it takes to complete the evening program, the evening division 

academic year tuition is approximately 75% of the academic year tuition for the day division, making the 
full program tuition rates approximately equivalent for each division.   
 

FACILITIES 

 
The Suffolk University campus is located on Beacon Hill in Boston, adjacent to the 

Massachusetts State House and near the Government Center and Downtown Crossing neighborhoods.  
The University's owned buildings total approximately 1,150,000 square feet, which are used for 
academic, student housing and administrative purposes.  The majority of the buildings on the campus 
were purchased, constructed, or renovated between 1966 and 2008.  The Administration believes that all 
of the University’s buildings have been maintained in good condition with updated classrooms and the 
addition of sprinklers and fire alarms where necessary.  Provisions for annual maintenance and repair 
have been, and continue to be, a major component of the capital and operating budgets of the University. 
 
 The following table identifies the buildings owned by the University, the addresses of the 
buildings, the approximate net square footage of each, the date of purchase, construction or major 
renovations, and the principal use of each building. 
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Building Name 

 
 
Address 

Approximate 
Square 
Footage 

Date of Purchase, 
Construction or 

(Major Renovation) 

 
 
Principal use 

 
Miller Hall 

 
10 Somerset Street 

 
131,000 

 
2003 

 
Residence Hall, cafeteria   

     
David J. Sargent Hall 120 Tremont Street 288,000 1999 

 
Law School, including 
classroom, law library, 
bookstore, offices, moot 
courts, cafeteria, function 
room and parking garage.  

     Residence Hall 150 Tremont Street 149,000 1995 
(2008) 

Residence Hall, cafeteria  

     
Gleason & Hiram Archer/  
C. Walsh Theater 

20 Derne Street and  
55 Temple Street 

85,000 1921 
(1986) 
(1988) 
(1995) 
(2001) 
(2006) 

Classrooms, laboratories, 
theatre and faculty 
offices. 

     
Frank J. Donahue Bldg. 41 Temple Street 91,000 1966 

(1975) 
(1995) 
(1999) 
(2001) 

Classrooms, faculty 
offices, administrative 
offices, student services, 
and cafeteria. 

     
John E. Fenton Building 
(including annex) 
 
 

28 and 32 Derne Street 
 

49,000 
 

1972 
(1974) 
(1988) 
(2000) 
(2003) 

Classrooms and faculty 
offices. 

     
Frank Sawyer Building 8 Ashburton Place 150,000 1978 

(1981) 
(1989) 
(1995) 
(2000) 
(2006) 

Classrooms, computer 
laboratories, student 
lounge and faculty 
offices. 

     
Ridgeway Building 148 Cambridge Street 47,000 1990 

(2001) 
 

Athletic facilities, 
classrooms, bookstore. 

     
Residence Hall  10 West Street 99,000 (2008) Residence Hall and retail 

space   
 

Modern Theatre 
(Under Construction) 
 

523-525 Washington Street 
 

61,000 Opens 2010  Residence Hall, black-box 
theater 

20 Somerset Street 20 Somerset Street 68,000 2009 Building at site adjacent 
to Frank Sawyer Building 
acquired for future 
development 
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The University also owns and operates the R.S. Friedman Field Station, which is located on 52 
acres of land on Cobscook Bay in Edmunds, Maine.  The R.S. Friedman Field Station is a marine biology 
field station consisting of a main building, office building, workshop, classrooms, ten student cabins, and 
four staff cabins.  Cobscook Bay has extreme tidal fluctuations, which makes it ideal for marine 
biological research.  Several other New England colleges use the R.S. Friedman Field Station for their 
own students, including the University of Maine, University of New England and Colby College. 

 
 The University has entered into a number of leases for administrative, faculty office and 
classroom space.  The University leases approximately 6,934 gross square feet at One Beacon Street, 
Boston, an office tower adjacent to 73 Tremont Street to house four classrooms and a conference room.  
The term of this lease runs through June 2012.  The University leases approximately 9,952 square feet at 
20 Ashburton Place for administrative and faculty offices.  The term of this lease runs through June 2012.  
The University leases 45,283 square feet at 75 Arlington Street for the New England School of Art and 
Design.  The term of this lease runs through December 31, 2013.  In 2007, the University entered into a 
lease for commercial office space for faculty offices at 40 Court Street which contains 12,629 square feet. 
 

In July 2004, a Trustee of the University purchased an office building located at 73 Tremont 
Street through a single-purpose limited liability company (the “LLC”) of which the Trustee or her trust is 
the sole shareholder.  The LLC entered into a master lease with the University as a condition of buying 
the property.  The master lease obligates the University to pay the LLC an annual rent of approximately 
$6 million for the next 20 years and give the University the option of two five-year extensions.  The 
Trustee who purchased the building has entered into an agreement whereby, upon the death of the 
Trustee, either the building subject to the existing mortgage or cash in the amount of $17 million will be 
donated to the University.  

 
 73 Tremont Street, considered Class A office space, is currently used as the University’s primary 

administrative quarters.  Currently about 4.5% of the building is subject to existing leases.  The 
University believes that this new space has significant strategic importance.  Since properties of this size 
and quality are not commonly available in the Beacon Hill area, this property represented an opportunity 
for the University to acquire additional space.  Additionally, the University believes that the decade long 
enrollment growth experienced by its Colleges could not be continued without additional classroom 
space. Approximately 25 to 30% of all the CAS and SBS faculty are expected to move to 73 Tremont 
Street over the next several years.  In addition, floors two through four at 73 Tremont Street were 
renovated to house the Colleges’ new library.  The vacated library space in the Frank Sawyer Building 
was renovated into new classrooms, student lounges, and administrative offices.    
 

In 2000, the University built a new high-speed network by installing fiber optic cable connecting 
all of the campus buildings.  The total cost was $2.0 million, of which $1.2 million was recovered from 
telecommunication companies sharing in the construction project.  This new network increased the 
connection speed by 666 times, to two billion bits per second.  This fiber optic network has significantly 
increased student, administration, and faculty access to the Internet.  There are currently over 6,000 nodes 
around the campus for users to access the network.   

 
A map of the Suffolk University main campus in Boston, Massachusetts is on the following page.   
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FINANCIAL MATTERS  

 
 The following summaries and discussions of financial matters should be read in conjunction with 
the financial statements of the University, related notes, and the independent auditors’ report included as 
Appendix B to the Official Statement.  The financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, 
Independent Auditors.  The University operates on a fiscal year ending June 30.   

Statement of Activities  

 
The following table summarizes the Statement of Activities for the years ended June 30, 2005, 

2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. 
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Statements of Activities 
 

 2005  2006 2007 2008 2009 
Operating:      

Revenues:      
Tuition and fees $157,162,280 $175,652,468 $197,243,111 $216,763,416 $241,693,965 
Residence halls and dining 10,560,526 12,215,832 12,811,152 14,971,263 21,262,975 
Less: Scholarship aid (19,361,578) (25,523,486) (30,432,638) (37,123,435) (43,280,357) 

Net tuition and fees 148,361,228 162,344,814 179,621,625 194,611,244 219,676,583 
      

Contributions 1,307,815 1,371,223 1,513,257 1,694,974 1,270,318 
Investment activity  4,064,167 7,059,194 8,088,077 4,645,453 3,053,441 
Other sources 1,004,592 1,163,991 1,109,945 1,106,820 1,274,226 
Grant revenues – federal, state and other 3,571,092 2,971,427 3,214,876 3,639,705 4,677,468 

Total revenues 158,308,894 174,910,649 193,547,780 205,698,196 229,952,036 
      

Net assets released from restrictions 381,998 472,789 659,503 1,363,373 404,874 
      

Total revenues and net assets released from restrictions 158,690,892 175,383,438 194,207,283 207,061,569 230,356,910 
      
Expenses:      

Instruction 56,181,289 60,597,461 63,556,766 71,172,299 75,754,944 
Public service 3,227,039 2,919,722 3,471,410 3,869,758 4,413,823 
Academic support 27,714,222 30,444,962 34,091,408 34,344,828 36,281,340 
Student services 19,509,575 20,766,218 22,914,967 24,146,615 25,919,737 
Institutional support 37,325,603 42,338,056 50,011,880 51,809,273 53,604,793 
Auxiliary enterprises       9,390,456 9,608,991 9,547,732 10,582,260 15,976,878 

Total expenses 153,348,184 166,675,410 183,594,163 195,925,033 211,951,515 
      

Net increase in net assets from operating activities 5,342,708 8,708,028 10,613,120 11,136,536 18,405,395 
      

Non-operating:      
Investment activity 4,962,419 5,355,101 13,685,551 (9,135,674) (29,431,935) 
Contributions and grants 65,696 360,512 683,842 (717) 703,068 
Early extinguishment of debt (6,983,825) - - (4,268,682)  
Other sources 
Gain on sale of property 

2,842,565 
531,311 

(1,232,299) 
- 

2,533,348 
- 

875,849         
- 

(10,317) 

Net (loss) gain on interest rate swap agreement (6,459,301) 10,769,826 (366,774) (10,241,462) (10,413,142) 
      

Increase (decrease) in net assets from non-operating 
activities 

(5,041,135) 15,253,140 16,535,967 (22,770,686) (39,152,326) 

      
Net increase (decrease) in unrestricted net assets 301,573 23,961,168 27,149,087 (11,634,150) (20,746,931) 

      
Changes in temporarily restricted net assets:      

Investment activity 351,400 810,805 659,764 (2,069,516) - 
Contributions 2,258,459 433,772 574,592 34,200 47,032 
Reclassification of donor intent - (2,015,000) - - - 
Grant revenues – federal, state and other - - 357,505 - - 
Net Assets released from restrictions (381,998) (472,789) (659,503) (1,363,373) (404,874) 

      
Increase (decrease) in temporarily restricted net assets 2,227,861 (1,243,212) 932,358 (3,398,689) (357,842) 
      

Changes in permanently restricted net assets:      
Contributions 936,657 1,291,234 7,390,833 2,216,276 330,074 
Reclassification of donor intent                   - 2,015,000                 -                    -                     - 

      
Increase in permanently restricted net assets 936,657 3,306,234 7,390,833 2,216,276 330,074 
      
Increase (decrease) in net assets 3,466,091 26,024,190 35,472,278 (12,816,563) (20,774,699) 
      

Net assets beginning of year 139,582,470 143,048,561 169,072,751 204,545,029 191,728,466 
      

Net assets end of year $143,048,561 $169,072,751 $204,545,029 $191,728,466 $170,953,767 
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Budget 

 
 The University's annual budget is based on revenue estimates of student tuition and fees, gifts, 
grants, auxiliary enterprise revenues, and other miscellaneous revenues, and on expenditure estimates 
submitted by the academic and administrative centers of the University.  The initial revenue and 
expenditure estimates are prepared by the Director of Budget & Risk Management and reviewed by 
University officers.  Final findings and recommendations are submitted to the Finance Committee of the 
Board and, upon their acceptance, are presented to the Board at its April meeting for consideration and 
approval. 
 
 Budgetary control is the responsibility of the Director of Budget & Risk Management and the 
Vice President/Treasurer.  Actual performance to budget is monitored on a monthly basis through the use 
of a fund accounting system designed exclusively for colleges and universities.  The University has either 
achieved a surplus or had a balanced budget for each of the past 43 years. 
 

The University has initiated expense reduction efforts in light of the current economic 
environment.  It has achieved savings by restructuring several non-academic departments, not 
automatically filling open positions, and limiting discretionary spending.  To date, the University is on 
budget for the current fiscal year.   

University's Advancement Program 

 

 The University’s Advancement Office is responsible for campaigns, the annual fund, major gifts, 
donor research, donor relations, corporate/foundations relations, and alumni affairs. 
 

The University’s total philanthropic support from outright cash, stock and gifts-in-kind for the 
period 2005 to 2009 was $21.9 million.  The following table indicates this support for the five fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2009.  This summary information reflects actual cash and pledge payments, and does not 
reflect new pledges. 
 

Philanthropic Support 
  2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Total $2,705,356 $3,155,304 $5,753,355 $5,452,838 $4,785,926 
 

As of September 2009, the University had approximately 64,600 living alumni, including 
approximately 21,700 Law School alumni and 42,900 alumni with degrees from the Colleges.   

Student Financial Aid 

 
Approximately 63% of the students enrolled at Suffolk University receive some form of student 

financial assistance.  During academic year 2008-09, University students received approximately $170 
million through financial aid programs, including University funded loans.  Full-time and part-time 
students enrolled in the College of Arts and Sciences, the Sawyer Business School, and the Law School 
are eligible to apply for aid consideration.  Although most aid is awarded on the basis of need, the 
University also operates several merit-based programs.  Since its founding, Suffolk University has been 
committed to providing a quality education at a reasonable price for all students and numerous financial 
aid programs are available to assist applicants who do not possess sufficient financial resources to cover 
educational expenses. 
 



APPENDIX A 

 
 

A-20 

 The following table includes information on the principal sources of financial assistance provided 
to Suffolk University students for academic years 2004-05 through 2008-09. 
 

Financial Aid Assistance  
      
 Academic Year 
 2004-05  2005-2006 2006-2007 2007-2008 2008-2009 
      
University Scholarships $16,607,400 $22,221,247 $26,898,780 $31,249,937 $38,811,914 
Federal Programs     7,809,845 14,178,539 12,385,754 10,066,610 20,622,763 
State Programs                              1,134,200 1,265,181 1,444,054 1,676,404 1,712,331 
Student Loans           67,211,777 80,240,016 84,807,659 92,308,177 108,864,072 
      Total                                     $92,763,222 $117,904,983 $125,536,247 $135,301,128 $170,011,080 

 
 

Statement of Financial Position and Investments 

 
The University’s assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 were as 

follows: 
 

Statement of Financial Position 
      Assets 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Cash and cash equivalents $597,742 $892,632 $1,223,111 $1,485,826 $1,615,307 

Student, notes, and pledges receivable, net  14,935,120 14,514,231 21,528,396 20,354,204 18,432,322 

Deposits with bond trustees 30,083,059 19,391,359 10,407,429 8,256,347 37,544,321 

Deferred charges and other assets  5,388,179 5,238,619 5,142,714 4,765,539 5,204,894 

Investments  113,513,990 128,408,385 153,832,479 159,409,879 149,130,051 

Property held for sale 0 0 0 0 1,309,943 

Interest rate swaps 0 3,172,130 2,898,521 0 0 

Property, buildings, and equipment, net 189,950,673 207,569,491 244,329,850 263,796,003 284,725,314 

 Total assets 354,468,763 379,186,847 439,362,500 458,067,798 497,962,152 

Liabilities and Net Assets      

Liabilities:      

 Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses  

22,184,314 29,630,093 27,734,096 30,752,577 28,971,039 

 Line of credit 0 0 30,775,517 0 0 

 Deferred revenue and student 
deposits  

5,882,475 6,657,045 6,164,904 7,166,055 6,433,375 

 Interest rate swaps 8,083,633 485,937 579,102 7,922,043 18,335,185 

 Bonds and capital lease payable  170,389,218 168,420,400 164,578,569 215,462,017 268,167,002 

 Refundable U.S. government grants 4,880,562 4,920,621 4,985,283 5,036,640 5,101,784 

 Total liabilities 211,420,202 210,114,096 234,817,471 266,339,332 327,008,385 

Net assets:      

 Unrestricted  124,326,464 148,287,632 175,436,719 163,802,569 143,055,638 

 Temporarily restricted  4,671,442 3,428,230 4,360,588 961,899 604,057 

 Permanently restricted  14,050,655 17,356,889 24,747,722 26,963,998 27,294,072 

 Total net assets 143,048,561 169,072,751 204,545,029 191,728,466 170,953,767 

 Total liabilities and net assets $354,468,763 $379,186,847 $439,362,500 $458,067,798 $497,962,152 

Investments 

 
As of September 30, 2009, the University’s total investments were $197,302,461, with 

$92,761,886 in long-term investments and $104,540,575 in short-term investments.  
  
The University’s total investments declined from $159,409,879 as of June 30, 2008 to 

$149,130,051 as of June 30, 2009.  The total investments consisted of $80,898,964 long-term and 
$68,231,087 short-term.  The long-term investment losses were 25.61% for the one year period.    
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Of the total investments, 88.5% are liquid and the remaining 11.5% have restrictions on 

redemption.  Included within the 11.5% restricted portion is $9,586,092 of investments in the 
Commonfund for Short Term Investments.  Since June 30, 2009, the University has received $2,799,110 
in distributions from that fund.  
 

The University's investment assets consist principally of cash and long-term investments.  During 
the five fiscal years ending June 30, 2009, the University’s total long-term investments increased from 
$74.9 million to $80.9 million, approximately 8%. 

 
Long-term investments valued as of June 30, 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008, and 2009 were comprised 

of the following:  
 

Long-Term Investments  

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 
Fixed Income  $17,238,985 $20,018,675 $14,969,751 15,303,417 $14,834,307 
Equity  46,596,393 54,766,810 83,444,405 84,909,164 58,442,168 
Other 11,052,744 12,784,595 5,948,627 8,086,288 7,622,489 
      
Total $74,888,122 $87,570,080 $104,362,783 108,298,869 $80,898,964 

      
   

Investment Management 

 
 The primary purpose of the long-term investments is to ensure the long-term contribution of 
Suffolk University's mission as an educational institution.  Management of long-term investments is 
designed with the goal of ensuring a total return (income plus capital gains) necessary to preserve and 
enhance (in real dollars) the long-term investments’ principal and, at the same time, provide a dependable 
and consistent source of income to support the University’s current operations and programs to the extent 
needed.  Investment policy is directed by the University’s Investment Committee of the Board of Trustees 
which meets quarterly. 
 
 In October 2006, the Investment Committee changed its active management philosophy to a more 
passive approach utilizing Exchange Traded Funds (“ETFs”).  ETFs are designed to match the 
performance of various market benchmarks, as well as significantly reduce investment management fees.  
This new strategy replaced the University’s former active management strategy.  The allocation between 
equities and fixed investments has not materially changed, except that the use of hedge funds for 
alternative investments has been discontinued and re-allocated primarily to the equity market.  The 
following table shows the asset allocation as of June 30, 2009. 
 

Long-Term Investments  
Asset Allocation 

  Asset Allocation 
Equity 72.3% 
Fixed Income 18.3% 
Alternative Investments 9.4% 
Total 100.0% 

 
Investment manager performance is evaluated on the basis of an annualized total rate of return, 

defined as dividend or interest income plus realized and unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation at 
fair market value, over a three to five year period.  Short-term results are monitored regularly.   
  



APPENDIX A 

 
 

A-22 

  
Under the present Board policy, an annual spending target of 5.0% of a three-year trailing 

average market value of the long-term investment portfolio can be distributed for operating purposes.  
Over the past several years, the University has made no or very small distributions given the positive 
operations.   

Property, Buildings and Equipment 

 
 As of June 30, 2009, the net book value of the capital assets of the University in its property, 
buildings and equipment totaled $284.7 million.  
 

Total Property, Buildings and Equipment Balances 
      

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 
Land $18,584,194 $18,584,194 $25,409,084 $25,409,084 $36,416,685 

Buildings 159,586,362 158,437,557 172,030,730 202,565,789 204,345,346 
Library books and periodicals * 1,610,689 1,610,689 1,610,689 1,610,689 1,610,689 
Furniture and equipment 6,392,955 7,938,539 8,755,936 10,145,325 10,929,669 
Leasehold 2,348,500 13,642,412 6,324,638 16,017,952 15,346,228 
Construction in progress      1,427,973       7,356,100    30,198,773 8,047,164 16,076,697 
      
Total $189,950,673 $207,569,490 $244,329,850 $263,796,003 $284,725,314 
      

     * Library books and periodicals are stated at the 1974 book value.  Subsequent acquisition costs of library books and periodicals are expensed 
in the year acquired.   

  

Outstanding Indebtedness 

 

The University has three outstanding issues of bonds that bear interest at a variable rate, all of 
which are expected to be refunded with the proceeds of the Bonds.  The vast majority of this variable rate 
debt is hedged with 11 various long-dated interest rate swaps, all of which are expected to be terminated 
in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  The University entered into a capital lease for computer 
equipment with Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority on April 28, 2006.  As of June 
30, 2009, the sum of total payments outstanding on the lease was $615,076.  The University also has 
outstanding a note with the Boston Redevelopment Authority that matures in 2013 totaling $1,000,000 as 
of June 30, 2009. 

Retirement Plan 

 
The University has a 403(b) tax-deferred retirement plan.  The University contributes 9% of gross 

compensation to the Plan for each eligible employee provided that the eligible employee contributes 5% 
of gross compensation.  

INSURANCE 

 
 The University carries standard industry insurance policies, including real and personal property, 
general comprehensive liability, educator’s legal liability, workers’ compensation and employer’s 
liability, as well as international workers’ compensation and employer’s liability, automobile liability, 
umbrella liability, limited professional liability, law enforcement insurance and athletic insurance. 
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LITIGATION 

 
 The University is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened wherein an unfavorable 
decision would adversely affect its ability to enter into the Loan and Trust Agreement pursuant to which 
the Bonds are being issued and carry out its obligations hereunder or would have a material adverse 
impact on the financial condition of the University. 
 

* * * 
 
 This letter and the information contained herein are submitted to the Authority for inclusion in its 
Official Statement relating to the Bonds.  The use of this letter by the Authority in connection with the 
initial sale of the Bonds and the execution and delivery thereof by its President and Vice 
President/Treasurer have been authorized by the Board of Trustees of Suffolk University. 
 
 
 
SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY 
 
 
 
By:                                       

David J. Sargent 
President 

 
 
By:  

Francis X. Flannery 
Vice President/Treasurer 
 

 
 
46541439.6 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

The Board of Trustees 
Suffolk University: 

We have audited the accompanying statement of financial position of Suffolk University (the University) 
as of June 30, 2009, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the year then ended. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the University’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. The prior year summarized comparative 
information has been derived from the University’s 2008 financial statements and, in our report dated 
October 16, 2008, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of 
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the University as of June 30, 2009, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows 
for the year then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

September 28, 2009 

 KPMG LLP Telephone 617 988 1000 
 99 High Street Fax  617 988 0800 
 Boston, MA 02110-2371 Internet www.us.kpmg.com 
 

KPMG LLP, a U.S. limited liability partnership, is the U.S. 
member firm of KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.



SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY

Statements of Financial Position

June 30, 2009 and 2008

Assets 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,615,307   1,485,826   
Student, notes, and pledges receivable, net 18,432,322   20,354,204   
Deferred charges and other assets 5,204,894   4,765,539   
Investments 149,130,051   159,409,879   
Property held for sale 1,309,943   —    
Deposits with bond trustees 37,544,321   8,256,347   
Property, buildings, and equipment, net 284,725,314   263,796,003   

Total assets $ 497,962,152   458,067,798   

Liabilities and Net Assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 28,971,039   30,752,577   
Deferred revenue and student deposits 6,433,375   7,166,055   
Interest rate swaps 18,335,185   7,922,043   
Bonds and capital lease payable 268,167,002   215,462,017   
Refundable U.S. government grants 5,101,784   5,036,640   

Total liabilities 327,008,385   266,339,332   

Net assets:
Unrestricted 143,055,638   163,802,569   
Temporarily restricted 604,057   961,899   
Permanently restricted 27,294,072   26,963,998   

Total net assets 170,953,767   191,728,466   
Total liabilities and net assets $ 497,962,152   458,067,798   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY

Statement of Activities

Year ended June 30, 2009
(with summarized comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2008)

Temporarily Permanently 2009 2008
Unrestricted restricted restricted Total Total

Operating:
Revenues:

Tuition and fees $ 241,693,965   —    —    241,693,965   216,763,416   
Residence halls and dining 21,262,975   —    —    21,262,975   14,971,263   
Less scholarship aid (43,280,357)  —    —    (43,280,357)  (37,123,435)  

Net tuition and fees 219,676,583   —    —    219,676,583   194,611,244   

Contributions 1,270,318   —    —    1,270,318   1,694,974   
Investment activity 3,053,441   —    —    3,053,441   4,645,453   
Other sources 1,274,226   —    —    1,274,226   1,106,820   
Federal, state, and other grants

and contracts 4,677,468   —    —    4,677,468   3,639,705   
Net assets released from restrictions 404,874   (404,874)  —    —    —    

Total operating revenues 230,356,910   (404,874)  —    229,952,036   205,698,196   

Expenses:
Instruction 75,754,944   —    —    75,754,944   71,172,299   
Public service 4,413,823   —    —    4,413,823   3,869,758   
Academic support 36,281,340   —    —    36,281,340   34,344,828   
Student services 25,919,737   —    —    25,919,737   24,146,615   
Institutional support 53,604,793   —    —    53,604,793   51,809,273   
Residence halls and dining 15,976,878   —    —    15,976,878   10,582,260   

Total expenses 211,951,515   —    —    211,951,515   195,925,033   

Increase (decrease) in net assets
from operating activities 18,405,395   (404,874)  —    18,000,521   9,773,163   

Nonoperating:
Investment activity (29,431,935)  —    —    (29,431,935)  (11,205,190)  
Contributions 703,068   47,032   330,074   1,080,174   2,249,759   
Building rental income 4,285,886   —    —    4,285,886   5,855,935   
Building rental and other expenses (3,801,000)  —    —    (3,801,000)  (5,251,000)  
Postretirement benefit obligation changes

other than net periodic costs (495,203)  —    —    (495,203)  270,914   
Loss on early extinguishment of debt —    —    —    —    (4,268,682)  
Net loss on interest rate swap agreements (10,413,142)  —    —    (10,413,142)  (10,241,462)  

Increase (decrease) in net assets
from nonoperating activities (39,152,326)  47,032   330,074   (38,775,220)  (22,589,726)  

Change in net assets (20,746,931)  (357,842)  330,074   (20,774,699)  (12,816,563)  

Net assets at beginning of year 163,802,569   961,899   26,963,998   191,728,466   204,545,029   
Net assets at end of year $ 143,055,638   604,057   27,294,072   170,953,767   191,728,466   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities:
Decrease in net assets $ (20,774,699)  (12,816,563)  
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 11,770,603   10,403,150   
Postretirement benefit obligation changes other than

net periodic costs 495,203   (270,914)  
Change in value of interest rate swap agreements 10,413,142   10,241,462   
Loss on early extinguishment of debt —    4,268,682   
Net realized and unrealized losses on investments 29,901,196   12,118,741   
Contributions for long-term purposes (2,775,566)  (3,888,271)  
Change in accounts, notes, and pledges receivable 1,921,882   1,174,192   
Change in deferred charges and other assets 49,361   (391,517)  
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,717,348)  3,000,011   
Change in deferred revenue and student deposits (732,680)  1,001,151   

Net cash provided by operating activities 26,551,094   24,840,124   

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, buildings and equipment (32,335,247)  (29,414,039)  
Change in deposits with bond trustees (29,287,974)  2,151,082   
Purchase of investments (90,160,822)  (64,936,347)  
Proceeds from sales of investments 70,539,454   47,240,206   

Net cash used in investing activities (81,244,589)  (44,959,098)  

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings 57,000,000   116,275,000   
Payments on borrowings (4,295,015)  (96,658,534)  
Payment of bond issuance costs (722,719)  (1,015,405)  
Payment on termination of swap agreement —    (2,159,000)  
Contributions designated for long-term purposes 2,775,566   3,888,271   
Increase in refundable U.S. government grants 65,144   51,357   

Net cash provided by financing activities 54,822,976   20,381,689   

Change in cash and cash equivalents 129,481   262,715   

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,485,826   1,223,111   
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1,615,307   1,485,826   

Supplemental:
Interest paid $ 8,976,006   8,494,779   

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY 

Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2009 

 5 (Continued) 

(1) Description of the University 

Suffolk University is a private, comprehensive, urban university located on historic Beacon Hill in Boston, 
with three other Massachusetts locations and international campuses in Madrid, Spain, and Dakar, Senegal. 

Suffolk University’s mission is to provide quality education at a reasonable cost for students of all ages and 
backgrounds with strong emphasis on diversity. 

The University is committed to educating students to become lifelong learners, as well as professionals 
who lead and serve the communities in which they live and work. 

The University seeks to prepare students to live in a diverse, global society, appreciating the richness of 
various cultures. 

The University accomplishes its mission by providing educational opportunities through undergraduate 
study, graduate study, and professional training. 

Suffolk University is a teaching University, where research and scholarship are interrelated with the unique 
character of each academic discipline. It does so by means of courses that provide theoretical, experiential, 
and practical dimensions. 

The University supports and encourages diversity in a challenging, supportive environment for motivated 
and capable students from various backgrounds and cultures. 

The University consists of a Law School, a College of Arts and Sciences, and the Sawyer Business School, 
which offer law, undergraduate, and graduate degrees. The University is accredited by the following 
organizations: 

New England Association of Schools and Colleges
Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business
American Bar Association
American Chemical Society
American Psychological Association
American Association of Law Schools
National Association of Schools of Public Affairs and Administration
International Association of Counseling Centers
National Association of Schools of Art and Design
Foundation for Interior Design Education and Research
Engineering Accreditation Commission of ABET

 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting and include 
the accounts of the related corporation, Suffolk University Madrid Campus S.L. 
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 6 (Continued) 

(b) Net Assets 

The accompanying financial statements present information regarding the University’s financial 
position and activities according to three classes of net assets: unrestricted, temporarily restricted, 
and permanently restricted. 

Permanently restricted net assets – Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations that they 
be maintained in perpetuity by the University. Generally, the donors of these assets permit the 
University to use all or part of the income earned and capital gains, if any, on related 
investments for general or specific purposes. 

Temporarily restricted net assets – Net assets whose use is limited by law or donor-imposed 
stipulations that will either expire with the passage of time or be fulfilled or removed by 
actions of the University. Net appreciation (depreciation) of permanently restricted long-term 
investments is recognized within the temporarily restricted net asset category until such 
monies are available for expenditure under the University’s spending policy and a qualifying 
expenditure is incurred. 

Unrestricted net assets – Net assets not subject to donor-imposed stipulations. Unrestricted net 
assets may be designated for specific purposes by action of the Board of Trustees. 

The statement of activities includes certain prior year summarized comparative information in total 
but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a 
presentation in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such 
information should be read in conjunction with the University’s financial statements for the year 
ended June 30, 2008, from which the summarized information was derived. 

Revenues are reported as increases in unrestricted net assets unless use of the related assets is limited 
by donor-imposed restrictions. Expenses are reported as decreases in unrestricted net assets. Net 
unrealized and realized gains or losses on investments and other assets or liabilities are reported as 
increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted by explicit donor 
stipulations or law. Upon the expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets, that is, the 
donor-imposed stipulated purpose has been accomplished and/or the stipulated time period has 
elapsed, such assets are released from restrictions and reclassified to unrestricted. 

(c) Contributions 

Contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are recognized as revenues in the period 
received. Contributions and earnings subject to donor-imposed stipulations that are met in the same 
reporting period are reported as unrestricted revenue. Unconditional promises to give with due dates 
scheduled after the statement of financial position date are shown as increases in temporarily 
restricted net assets and are reclassified to unrestricted net assets when the related purpose or time 
restrictions are met. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until they become 
unconditional, that is, when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Contributions 
of assets other than cash are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of gift. Contributions 
scheduled to be received after one year are discounted at rates commensurate with the risks involved. 
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The University reports contributions of land, buildings, or equipment as unrestricted nonoperating 
support unless the donor places restrictions on their use. Contributions of cash or other assets that 
must be used to acquire long-lived assets are reported as unrestricted nonoperating support, provided 
the long-lived assets are placed in service in the same reporting period; otherwise, the contributions 
are reported as temporarily restricted support until the assets are acquired and placed in service. 

The University is the beneficiary of gift annuities and charitable remainder trusts. These funds are 
held in trust for one or more beneficiaries, and generally pay lifetime income to those beneficiaries, 
after which the principal is made available to the University in accordance with donor intentions. 
The assets are recorded at fair market value and liabilities are recorded to recognize the present value 
of estimated future payments due to beneficiaries. The difference between the assets transferred from 
the donor and the related annuity liability is recognized as a contribution. The liabilities of $61,013 
in 2009 and $68,905 in 2008 are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the 
statements of financial position. 

Dividends, interest, and net gains (losses) on investments are reported as follows: 

• As increases in permanently restricted net assets, if the terms of the gift require that they be 
added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund; 

• As increases (decreases) in temporarily restricted net assets, if the terms of the gift or the 
University’s interpretation of relevant state law impose restrictions on the current use of the 
income or net gains; and 

• As increases (decreases) in unrestricted net assets in all other cases. 

(d) Operations 

The statement of activities includes changes in unrestricted net assets from operating and 
nonoperating activities. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the University’s 
undergraduate and graduate programs or research conducted by the academic departments. 
Nonoperating activity includes the appreciation (depreciation) on long-term investments, in excess of 
the amount appropriated under the University approved spending formula. In addition, nonoperating 
activities include, contributions from unrestricted bequests or for the acquisition of capital assets, 
changes in valuation of interest rate swaps, and net changes in postretirement benefit obligation 
changes other than net periodic costs; all other unrestricted contributions are reported as operating 
revenue. Earned income on investments restricted for plant purposes are reported as nonoperating 
revenue, as well as other sources of income designated for net investment in plant. The University 
considers deposits with trustees as nonoperating and designates the income on these investments as 
nonoperating revenue. 

Expenses associated with the operation and maintenance of University plant assets, including interest 
and depreciation, are allocated on the basis of square footage utilized by the functional categories. 

Expenses associated with fundraising activities of the University amounted to $2,436,263 and 
$2,768,674 in 2009 and 2008, respectively, and are included in institutional support in the statements 
of unrestricted revenues and expenses. 
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(e) Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. The current economic environment increases the inherent 
uncertainty in those estimates. 

(f) Foreign Currency Translations 

The accounts of foreign operations are translated in accordance with SFAS No. 52, Foreign 
Currency Translation. Foreign operations are remeasured as if the functional currency were the 
U.S. dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at year-end rates of exchange. Revenues 
and expenses are translated at the average rate for the period. Remeasurement gains and losses are 
reflected currently in operations and are not material. 

(g) Investments 

Investments are reported at fair value. If an investment is held directly by the University and an 
active market with quoted prices exists, the University reports the fair value as the market price of an 
identical security. Shares in mutual funds are based on share values reported by the funds as of the 
last business day of the fiscal year. The University also holds shares or units in traditional 
institutional funds, as well as in alternative investment funds involving private equity, venture 
capital, and real asset strategies. Such alternative investment funds may hold securities or other 
financial instruments for which a ready market exists and are priced accordingly. In addition, such 
funds may hold assets which require the estimation of fair values in the absence of readily 
determinable market values. Such valuations are determined by fund managers and generally 
consider variables such as operating results, comparable earnings multiples, projected cash flows, 
recent sales prices, and other pertinent information, and may reflect discounts for the illiquid nature 
of certain investments held. 

The University has utilized the net asset value (NAV) reported by each of the underlying funds as a 
practical expedient to estimate the fair value of the investment. These investments are generally 
redeemable or may be liquidated at NAV under the original terms of the subscription agreements and 
operations of the underlying funds. However, it is possible that these redemption rights may be 
restricted or eliminated by the funds in the future in accordance with the underlying fund 
agreements. Due to the nature of the investments held by these funds, changes in market conditions 
and the economic environment may significantly impact the NAV of the funds and, consequently, 
the fair value of the University’s interests in the funds. Furthermore, changes to the liquidity 
provisions of the funds may significantly impact the fair value of the University’s interest in the 
funds. Although certain investments may be sold in secondary market transactions, subject to 
meeting certain requirements of the governing documents of the funds, the secondary market is not 
active and individual transactions are not necessarily observable. It is therefore reasonably possible 
that if the University were to sell its interest in a fund in the secondary market, the sale could occur 
at an amount materially different than the reported value. 
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(h) Property, Buildings, and Equipment 

Property, buildings, and equipment are recorded at cost or, in the case of donated property, at fair 
value at the date of gift. Acquisitions in excess of $10,000 are capitalized. Depreciation is provided 
on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, once the asset is ready for its 
intended use. Library books and periodicals are stated at the 1974 book value. Subsequent 
acquisition costs of library books and periodicals ($2,351,625 and $2,093,986 for the years ended 
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively) are expensed in the year acquired. 

(i) Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations 

The University recognizes the fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset 
retirements in the period in which the obligation is incurred, in accordance with Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations, and 
Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation (FIN) No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset 
Retirement Obligations. When the liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement 
obligation is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the long-lived asset. The liability is 
accreted to its present value each period, and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement 
obligation is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, 
any difference between the cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded is 
recognized as a gain or loss in the statement of activities. At June 30, 2009 and 2008, the University 
had a liability of $1,015,505 and $992,819, respectively, and is recorded as part of accounts payable 
and accrued expenses on the statement of financial position. 

(j) Income Tax Status 

The University is an organization described under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)(3), 
and is generally exempt from income taxes under the provisions of IRC Section 501(a). 

Effective July 1, 2007, the University adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for 
Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (FIN 48). FIN 48 
clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income tax recognized in an entity’s financial statements. 
FIN 48 requires entities to determine whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be 
sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the benefit can 
be recorded in the financial statements. It also provides guidance on the recognition, measurement, 
and classification of income tax uncertainties, along with any related interest or penalties. A tax 
position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent likely of being 
realized upon settlement. The adoption of FIN 48 had no impact on the University’s financial 
statements. 

(k) Recently Issued Accounting Standards 

The University adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (FAS 157), effective July 1, 2008. In 
accordance with FAS 157, fair value is defined as the price that the University would receive upon 
selling an investment in an orderly transaction to an independent buyer in the principal or most 
advantageous market of the investment. FAS 157 established a three-tier hierarchy to maximize the 
use of observable market data and minimize the use of unobservable inputs, and to establish 
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classification of fair value measurements for disclosure purposes. Inputs refer broadly to the 
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including 
assumptions about risk. Inputs may be observable or unobservable. Observable inputs are inputs that 
reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed 
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. Unobservable inputs 
are inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information 
available. The three-tier hierarchy of inputs is summarized in the three broad levels listed below. 

• Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical investments 

• Level 2 – other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, 
interest rates, prepayment speeds, credit risk, etc.) 

• Level 3 – significant unobservable inputs (including the University’s own assumptions in 
determining the fair value of investments) 

Effective June 30, 2009, the University elected to apply the concepts of FASB Staff Position No. 
FAS 157-g, Estimating the Fair Value of Investments in Investment Companies That Have 
Calculated Net Asset Value per Share in Accordance with the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide, 
Investment Companies, to its hedge fund and private equity investments. This guidance amends 
Statement 157 and allows for the estimation of the fair value of investments in investment companies 
for which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value using net asset value per 
share or its equivalent. 

Effective June 30, 2009, the University adopted FASB Statement No. 165, Subsequent Events 
(Statement 165). Statement 165 establishes principles and requirements for subsequent events and 
applies to accounting for and disclosure of subsequent events not addressed in other applicable 
generally accepted accounting principles. The University evaluated events subsequent to June 30, 
2009 and through September 28, 2009, the date on which the financial statements were approved for 
issuance. The adoption of Statement 165 had no impact on the University’s financial statements. 

Effective July 1, 2008, the University adopted FASB Staff Position No. 117-1, Endowments of 
Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the 
Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosure for All 
Endowment Funds (FSP 117-1). FSP 117-1 provides guidance on the net asset classification of 
donor-restricted endowment funds for a not-for-profit organization that is subject to an enacted 
version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA), and 
requires comprehensive disclosures regarding both donor-restricted endowment funds and 
board-designated (quasi) endowment funds. As of June 2009, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 
enacted the provisions of UPMIFA. 

(l) Reclassifications 

Certain 2008 financial statement information has been reclassified to conform to the 2009 financial 
statement presentation. 
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(3) Temporarily Restricted Net Assets 

Temporarily restricted net assets consisted of the following at June 30: 

2009 2008

Purpose restrictions:
Institutional support $ 5,000   5,000   
Public service 77,957   135,979   
Academic support 109,386   144,899   

192,343   285,878   

Time restrictions on outstanding pledges 411,714   676,021   
$ 604,057   961,899   

 

Net assets were released from temporary donor restrictions amounting to $404,874 and $1,363,373 for the 
year ending June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, by incurring expenses satisfying the restricted purposes 
or by occurrence of events specified by the donors. 

(4) Permanently Restricted Net Assets 

Permanently restricted net assets consisted of the following at June 30: 

2009 2008

Purpose restrictions:
Student aid $ 16,971,066   16,285,641   
Institutional support 25,750   23,750   
Public service 3,500,550   2,050,550   
Academic support 3,200,394   2,562,254   
Student service 405,827   405,827   
Time restrictions on outstanding pledges 3,190,485   5,635,976   

$ 27,294,072   26,963,998   
 

(5) Endowment Funds 

Effective July 1, 2008, the University adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position No. 117-1, 
Endowments of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted 
Version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All 
Endowment Funds (FSP 117-1). FSP 117-1 provides guidance on required disclosures about endowment 
funds, both donor-restricted endowment funds and board-designated endowment funds. 

The University’s endowment consists of approximately 225 individual funds established for a variety of 
purposes including both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees 
to function as endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by 
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the Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or 
absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 

Interpretation of Relevant Law 

The University has interpreted the Massachusetts adoption of UPMIFA, Chapter 180A of the general laws 
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as requiring the preservation of the original gift of the donor 
restricted endowment fund absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this 
interpretation, the University classifies as permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts 
donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the permanent 
endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of 
the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. Collectively these 
amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund. 

The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently 
restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for 
expenditure. The University has interpreted relevant state law as generally permitting the spending of gains 
on long-term investment funds over a stipulated period of time. State law allows the Board to appropriate 
all of the income and a specified percentage of the net appreciation as is prudent considering the 
University’s long-and short-term needs, present and anticipated financial requirements, expected total 
return on its investments, price level trends and general economic conditions. 

On July 2, 2009 the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) was adopted by 
the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The new law updates the fundamental investment principles 
contained in UMIFA by providing precise standards to establish investing in a prudent manner by 
establishing a duty to minimize cost, diversify the investments, investigate facts relevant to the investment 
of the fund, to consider tax consequences of investment decisions and that investment decisions be made in 
light of the fund’s entire portfolio as a part of an investment strategy having risk and return objectives 
reasonably suited to the fund and to the University. UPMIFA also permits the University to appropriate for 
expenditure or accumulate so much of an endowment fund as the University determines to be prudent for 
the uses, benefits, purposes and duration for which the endowment fund is established, thereby eliminating 
the restriction that a fund could not be spent below its historical dollar value. Seven criteria are to be used 
to guide the University in its yearly expenditure decisions: 1) duration and preservation of the endowment 
fund; 2) the purposes of the University and the endowment fund; 3) general economic conditions; 4) effect 
of inflation or deflation; 5) the expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments; 
6) other resources of the University; and, 7) the investment policy of the University. The University will be 
reviewing the provisions of the act to determine what changes, if any, may be required to the investing and 
spending policies of the Board. 

The new act is effective for June 30, 2009 and governs decisions made or actions taken on or after the 
effective date of the act. The act has no impact on the classification or presentation of net assets in the 
financial statements as required by FASB Staff Position No. 117-1, Endowments of Not-for-Profit 
Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Fund. 
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Endowment funds consisted of the following at June 30, 2009 and June 30, 2008: 

2009
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor restricted $ (4,665,726)  —    24,103,587   19,437,861   
Quasi endowment 59,421,220   —    —    59,421,220   

Total $ 54,755,494   —    24,103,587   78,859,081   
 

2008
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Donor restricted $ —    —    21,328,022   21,328,022   
Quasi (Board designated) 81,766,055   —    —    81,766,055   

Total $ 81,766,055   —    21,328,022   103,094,077   
 

Changes in endowment funds for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2009 and June 30, 2008 were as follows: 

2009
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment funds June 30, 2008 $ 81,766,055   —    21,328,022   103,094,077   

Interest and dividends 1,840,840   557,067   —    2,397,907   
Unrealized and realized losses (22,795,755)  (6,844,080)  —    (29,639,835)  
Contributions 695,700   —    2,775,565   3,471,265   
Transfers (2,018,043)  1,621,287   —    (396,756)  
Distributions (67,577)  —    —    (67,577)  
Transfers re: funds with

deficiencies (4,665,726)  4,665,726   —    —    
Endowment funds June 30, 2009 $ 54,755,494   —    24,103,587   78,859,081   
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2008
Temporarily Permanently

Unrestricted restricted restricted Total

Endowment funds June 30, 2007 $ 79,408,606   3,140,167   17,439,750   99,988,523   

Interest and dividends 2,110,001   625,042   —    2,735,043   
Unrealized and realized

losses, net (9,062,718)  (2,694,558)  —    (11,757,276)  
Contributions 13,082,183   —    3,888,272   16,970,455   
Transfers (3,452,529)  —    —    (3,452,529)  
Distributions (319,488)  (1,070,651)  —    (1,390,139)  

Endowment funds June 30, 2008 $ 81,766,055   —    21,328,022   103,094,077   
 

Funds with Deficiencies 

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment funds 
may fall below their original contributed value. Deficiencies of this nature are reported in unrestricted net 
assets and were $4,665,726 as of June 30, 2009. These deficiencies resulted from unfavorable market 
fluctuations that occurred after the investment of new permanently restricted contributions. Subsequent 
gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment fund to the required level will be classified 
as an increase in unrestricted net assets. 

Return Objectives and Risk Parameters 

The University has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to provide 
a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to maintain the 
purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted 
funds that the organizations must hold in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period as well as 
board-designated funds. Under this policy, as approved by the Board of Trustees, the endowment assets are 
invested in a manner that is intended to produce capital appreciation while assuring that the risk assumed is 
commensurate with the investment strategy. The University expects its endowment funds, over three to 
five years, to provide an average annual real rate of return of approximately 6% annually. Actual returns in 
any given year may vary from this amount. 

Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives 

To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the University relies on a total return strategy in which 
investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized and unrealized) and current 
yield (interest and dividends). The University targets a diversified asset allocation that places emphasis on 
investments in equities, bonds, and absolute return strategies in a 80-15-5% ratio to achieve its long-term 
return objectives within prudent risk constraints. 
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Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy 

The University has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 5% of its endowment funds’ 
average fair value over the prior 3 years through June 30th preceding the fiscal year in which the 
distribution is planned. In establishing these policies, the University considered the expected return on its 
endowment. Accordingly, the University expects the current spending policy to allow its endowment to 
maintain its purchasing power by growing at a rate equal to planned payouts. Additional real growth will 
be provided through new gifts and any excess investment return. 

(6) Student, Notes, and Pledges Receivable 

Student notes, and pledges receivable consisted of the following at June 30: 

2009 2008

Student accounts receivable $ 1,953,893   1,552,227   
Student loans – Perkins loan program 7,325,133   6,811,296   
Other receivables 1,527,729   2,063,974   
Other notes receivable 6,624,340   5,983,266   

17,431,095   16,410,763   

Less:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,600,971)  (2,368,556)  

Net accounts and notes receivable 14,830,124   14,042,207   

Gross pledges receivable:
Due within one year 1,943,945   4,353,823   
Due within one to five years 3,001,345   3,160,053   
Due five years and thereafter 29,250   20,000   

4,974,540   7,533,876   

Less:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,213,804)  (956,985)  
Discount to present value (158,538)  (264,894)  

Net pledges receivable 3,602,198   6,311,997   
Total student, notes, and pledges receivable $ 18,432,322   20,354,204   

 

Pledges receivable are discounted at rates ranging between 2.27% and 6.3%. 

At June 30, 2009, the University had conditional promises to give for scholarships and other purposes in 
the amount of $22,694,575 that are not recognized as revenues in the statements of activities. 
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(7) Investments 

Investments at June 30 consisted of the following: 

2009 2008
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total

Assets:
Investments:

U.S. equity $ 58,442,168  —  —  58,442,168  84,452,294  
Fixed income 14,834,307  —  —  14,834,307  15,104,260  
Private equity —  —  7,085,236  7,085,236  8,086,288  
Funds held or administered

by others —  —  537,253  537,253  656,027  

Total long-term
investments 73,276,475  —  7,622,489  80,898,964  108,298,869  

Short-term investments 58,644,995  —  9,586,092  68,231,087  51,111,010  

Total investments 131,921,470  —  17,208,581  149,130,051  159,409,879  

Other assets:
Funds held by bond trustee 37,544,321  —  —  37,544,321  8,256,347  

Total assets $ 169,465,791  —  17,208,581  186,674,372  167,666,226  

 

The fair value of investments above is reported within the three investment valuation measurement 
categories identified above in note 2(k). As described in note 2(g), the University utilizes the net asset 
value reported by each investment manager as a practical expedient for measuring and reporting their fair 
values in the accompanying financial statements. 

The following table presents the College’s activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009 for investments 
measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as defined in 
FAS 157: 

Private Funds held Short-term
equity by others investments Total

Fair value at June 30, 2008 $ 8,086,288   656,027   15,159,249   23,901,564   
Transfers (132,580)  (32,593)  (5,592,254)  (5,757,427)  
Acquisitions 770,700   —    —    770,700   
Investment return (190,930)  (44,946)  130,743   (105,133)  
Unrealized losses on

investments (1,448,242)  (41,235)  (111,646)  (1,601,123)  
Fair value at June 30, 2009 $ 7,085,236   537,253   9,586,092   17,208,581   
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Investment income, realized and unrealized gains (losses) on the University’s investments are summarized 
in the table below: 

2009
Temporarily

Unrestricted restricted Total

Interest and dividends $ 2,965,635   557,067   3,522,702   
Realized losses (67,224)  (18,026)  (85,250)  
Unrealized losses (22,989,892)  (6,826,054)  (29,815,946)  

Total return on investments $ (20,091,481)  (6,287,013)  (26,378,494)  
 

2008
Temporarily

Unrestricted restricted Total

Interest and dividends $ 4,933,962   625,042   5,559,004   
Realized losses 194,243   48,107   242,350   
Unrealized losses (9,618,426)  (2,742,665)  (12,361,091)  

Total return on investments $ (4,490,221)  (2,069,516)  (6,559,737)  
 

Investment returns are included in the statements of activities as follows for the years ended June 30: 

2009 2008

Investment return:
Operating:

Investment earnings utilized in operations $ 3,053,441   4,645,453   
Nonoperating activities:

Investment return, net of amounts used in operations (29,431,935)  (9,135,674)  
Changes in temporarily restricted net assets:

Investment (losses) activity —    (2,069,516)  
Investment return $ (26,378,494)  (6,559,737)  

 

Netted in investment income are investment fees of $190,319 and $234,845 in fiscal years 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 
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The University has committed to invest in numerous investment partnerships that diversify in the types of 
alternative investments referenced in the above table over a period of years pursuant to provisions of the 
individual partnership agreements. As of June 30, 2009, the University’s best estimates of the maturities of 
these investments and the related unfunded commitments were as follows: 

Unfunded
Fair value commitments

Investments maturing in:
1-5 years $ 2,543,961   460,259   
5-10 years 3,323,875   1,850,388   
No set termination date 1,217,400   —    

Total $ 7,085,236   2,310,647   
 

Alternative investments are redeemable with the fund at net asset value under the original terms of the 
partnership agreement and/or subscription agreements and operations of the underlying funds. All 
alternative investment fund redemptions require written notice prior to the redemption period. 

The investments’ fair values as of June 30, 2009 are broken out below by redemption period: 

Investment
fair values

Investments redemption or sale period:
Daily $ 131,921,470   
Lock up until liquidated 17,208,581   

Total as of June 30, 2009 $ 149,130,051   

 

The University has certain investments which contain restrictions on redemption. These restrictions consist 
primarily of such limitations as annual redemptions with a prescribed notice period, typically written notice 
in the month of September. The University has $16,671,328 of investments with redemption restrictions 
imposed as of the balance sheet date. Of that amount $9,586,092 is short term and $7,085,236 is long term. 
The long-term portion represents approximately 8.8% of the University’s long-term investments and 4.8% 
of total investments. 

On September 29, 2008, the University was notified that Wachovia Bank, N.A., as trustee of the 
Commonfund for Short Term Investments (the Fund), was resigning as trustee, has initiated the process of 
terminating the Fund, and has established procedures for an orderly liquidation and distribution of the 
assets of the Fund over a period of time. In December 2008 Law Debenture Trust Company of New York 
became the successor trustee. As of June 30, 2009, the University had $9,586,092 invested in the Fund, 
which is classified as a short-term investment. The University’s investment in the Fund will not affect its 
financial obligations for it believes it has sufficient alternative resources to meet all near- and long-term 
obligations. Since June 30, 2009 through the date of the issuance of these financial statements, another 
$2,799,110 has been distributed back to the University. 
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(8) Property, Buildings, and Equipment 

The following is a summary of the University’s property, buildings, and equipment as of June 30: 

Estimated
lives 2009 2008

Land —    $ 36,416,685   25,409,084   
Buildings 50 years 253,977,857   247,163,501   
Library books and periodicals —    1,610,689   1,610,689   
Furniture and equipment 5 – 10 years 46,515,224   43,500,782   
Leasehold improvements life of lease 21,806,191   21,168,796   
Construction in progress —    16,076,697   8,047,164   

376,403,343   346,900,016   

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization 91,678,029   83,104,013   

Net property, buildings, and
equipment $ 284,725,314   263,796,003   

 

Capitalized interest amounted to $193,568 and $1,060,170 for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

Depreciation expense was $11,536,600 and $10,237,270 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

(9) Deferred Revenue and Student Deposits 

Deferred revenue and student deposits consisted of the following at June 30: 

2009 2008

Tuition and fee deposits $ 5,898,914   6,537,502   
Deferred revenues 534,461   628,553   

$ 6,433,375   7,166,055   
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(10) Bonds, Mortgage, and Capital Lease Payable 

Bonds, mortgage, and capital lease payable consisted of the following at June 30: 

2009 2008

Massachusetts Development Finance Agency (MDFA)
Revenue Bonds:

Variable rate, Series 2005, maturing serially through 2035 $ 97,365,000   99,545,000   

Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority
(MHEFA) :

Variable rate, Series 2007, maturing serially through 2042 113,210,000   115,020,000   
Variable rate, Series 2008, maturing serially through 2043 56,000,000   —    
Capital lease dated April 28, 2006, interest rate 4.02%,

maturing in April 2011 592,002   897,017   

Boston Redevelopment Authority:
Zero interest, maturing serially through 2013 1,000,000   —    

Bonds, mortgage, and capital lease payable $ 268,167,002   215,462,017   
 

(a) Bonds Payable 

On November 5, 2008, the University issued MHEFA Series 2008 Revenue Bonds in the amount of 
$56,000,000. The proceeds were used to purchase and remodel a new residence hall, as well as to 
make other renovations. The University incurred $722,719 in costs associated with this issue, which 
have been capitalized and will be amortized over the life of the bond. 

The University has granted MDFA and MHEFA liens on the University’s tuition receivables and 
tuition receipts to the extent necessary to cure any deficiency. 

Unamortized bond and capital lease issuance costs amounted to $4,589,761 and $4,097,457 at 
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively, and are included in other assets. 

The University is required to maintain escrow accounts sufficient to pay one year’s principal and 
interest on the bonds. This amounted to $6,503,605 and $6,783,941 at June 30, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively, and is included in deposits with bond trustees. 

Maturities of principal for the bonds are as follows: 

2010 $ 4,140,000   
2011 4,300,000   
2012 5,330,000   
2013 5,505,000   
2014 6,380,000   
Thereafter 240,920,000   

$ 266,575,000   
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(b) Capital Lease 

Effective April 28, 2006, the University entered into a capital lease for computer equipment with 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority. The lease term is for a period of 5 years, 
at which time the University shall be entitled to full title and all ownership interests in the 
equipment. 

At June 30, 2009, minimum lease payments are as follows: 

Total payment Interest Principal

Fiscal year:
2010 $ 335,496   17,991   317,505   
2011 279,580   5,083   274,497   

$ 615,076   23,074   592,002   
 

(c) Mortgage Payable 

On November 7, 2008, the University executed a promissory note with the Boston Redevelopment 
Authority, secured by a mortgage on land purchased to build a new residence hall. The term of the 
note is 5 years. No interest is due on the outstanding note as long as the University is not in default. 

Principal payments for the note are due as follows: 

2010 $ 200,000   
2011 200,000   
2012 200,000   
2013 200,000   
2014 200,000   

$ 1,000,000   
 

(d) Line of Credit 

The University had a revolving line of credit with Citizen’s Bank, not to exceed $15,000,000 that 
expired October 31, 2008. 

(11) Interest Rate Swaps 

In conjunction with the University’s 2002 issuance of variable rate debt, the University entered into two 
interest rate swap agreements with a financial institution counterparty. Upon the retirement of the 2002 
issuance in fiscal year 2008, the two swaps were transferred to the Series 2007B Bonds. In conjunction 
with the University’s 2005 issuance of variable rate debt, the University entered into five interest rate swap 
agreements with a financial institution counterparty. In July 2007, in anticipation of the 2007 issuance, the 
University entered into an interest rate swap which was terminated upon issuance of the actual 2007 bonds 
with a payment of $2.1 million and has been reflected as an early extinguishment charge in the statement 
of activities. Additionally, in conjunction with the University’s 2007 issuance of variable rate debt, the 
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University entered into two interest rate swap agreements with financial institution counterparties. With the 
University’s 2008 issuance of variable rate debt, the University entered into two interest rate swap 
agreements with a financial institution counterparty. 

The purpose of these agreements is to swap the variable rate on underlying debt for fixed rates. The 
University entered into the agreements to manage the risk associated with the cash flows attributable to 
interest payments on the debt and does not use such instruments for speculative purposes. Under SFAS 
No. 133, Accounting for Derivatives and Hedging Activities, the instruments’ fair values and changes 
therein must be measured in the University’s net assets. 

The values of the swap instruments represent the estimated benefit or cost to the University to cancel the 
agreements at the reporting date, are based on option pricing models that consider risks and market factors. 

Notional Fair value at June 30,
Trade date amount Maturity Series Rate 2009 2008

April 29, 2002 16,750,000  July 1, 2022 2002 4.050% $ (1,742,904) (1,258,341) 
April 29, 2002 16,750,000  July 1, 2012 2002 3.825 (1,028,010) (649,727) 
April 13, 2005 17,040,000  July 1, 2035 2005 3.530 (1,448,266) (672,832) 
April 13, 2005 44,230,000  July 1, 2035 2005 3.550 (3,757,682) (1,813,127) 
April 13, 2005 12,155,000  July 1, 2035 2005 3.630 (1,122,816) (594,199) 
April 13, 2005 10,945,000  July 1, 2035 2005 3.490 (913,725) (393,540) 
August 8, 2005 26,520,000  July 1, 2035 2005 3.402 (1,914,989) (663,318) 
November 13, 2007 29,930,000  July 1, 2042 2007 3.544 (2,557,540) (1,065,333) 
November 13, 2007 27,300,000  July 1, 2042 2007 3.430 (2,218,752) (811,626) 
November 6, 2008 42,650,000  November 1, 2010 2008 1.940 (669,798) —  
November 6, 2008 43,225,000  July 1, 2038 2008 3.095 (960,703) —  

Total value of
agreements $ (18,335,185) (7,922,043) 

 

The University is required to maintain a minimum credit rating based on provisions contained in the 
individual swap agreements. The majority of the swap agreements require the posting of collateral if the 
University’s credit rating falls below Baa3 (as defined by Moody’s) and BBB- (as defined by Standards & 
Poor’s). The University’s credit ratings were above the minimum thresholds contained in the agreements as 
of June 30, 2009 and 2008. 

The swap values above are based predominantly on observable inputs that are corroborated by market data 
and have been categorized as Level 2 for purposes of valuation disclosure under SFAS No. 157. 

The amount (credited) charged to net assets for the years ended June 30, 2009 and 2008 included 
$10,413,142 and $10,241,462, respectively, representing the effect on net assets for changes in the swaps’ 
fair value during each period. 

The financial markets in the United States have experienced significant turmoil. The University has, as part 
of its management of debt, entered into various swap agreements as previously discussed. The continued 
effectiveness of these swaps will be contingent upon the ability of the counterparty to meet its contractual 
obligations under these agreements. 
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(12) Pension Plan 

Full-time employees of the University with more than one year of service are participants in a defined 
contribution retirement annuity plan. Total pension expense under the plan amounted to $6,377,954 and 
$5,853,761 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Pension expense is funded annually. There are no prior service 
costs under the plan. 

(13) Commitments 

In 2009 and 2008, rent expense was $15,813,217 and $13,297,490, respectively. 

At June 30, 2009, minimum rental and equipment rental commitments under existing operating leases are 
as follows: 

Fiscal year:
2010 $ 9,125,254   
2011 7,178,509   
2012 6,563,314   
2013 6,051,738   
2014 6,070,300   
Thereafter 67,386,169   

 

(14) Leases 

The University has entered into various subleases with respect to the building its leases at 73 Tremont 
Street. In addition, the university has leased space in one of the residence halls for a coffee shop. At 
June 30, 2009, future minimum lease receipts were as follows: 

2010 $ 492,879   
2011 189,850   
2012 98,018   
2013 102,812   
2014 105,896   
Thereafter 558,114   

 

(15) Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions 

Prior to fiscal 1996, the University provided certain health care benefits to retired employees meeting 
certain eligibility requirements. The University paid a substantial portion of the cost of these benefits. 
During fiscal 1996, the University amended the Plan to eliminate health care benefits for new hires and 
capped its future contribution increases for retirees at the Consumer Price Index for Urban Consumers. 
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The following table presents the plan’s funded status reconciled with amounts recognized in the 
University’s statements of financial position at June 30, 2009 and 2008: 

2009 2008

Changes in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 6,083,553   5,997,489   
Service cost 134,366   126,165   
Interest cost 384,847   365,388   
Actuarial gain —    (228,786)  
Benefits paid (217,336)  (176,703)  

Benefit obligation at end of year 6,385,430   6,083,553   

Change in plan assets:
Employer contribution 217,336   176,703   
Benefits paid (217,336)  (176,703)  

Fair value of plan assets at end of year —    —    
Accrued post-retirement benefit obligation $ (6,385,430)  (6,083,553)  

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
Service cost $ 134,366   126,165   
Interest cost 384,847   365,388   
Amortization of prior service cost 172,000   172,000   
Unrecognized net actuarial gain (667,203)  (671,700)  

Net periodic benefit cost $ 24,010   (8,147)  
 

The discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6.5% for 
June 30, 2009 and 2008, respectively. For measurement purposes, both medical and dental costs were 
assumed to increase 3.5% for 2009 and 2008. The health care cost trend rate assumptions have a significant 
effect on the amounts reported. To illustrate, increasing the assumed health care cost trend rates by one 
percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of 
June 30, 2009 and 2008 by approximately 14.35% and 13.76%, respectively, and the aggregate of the 
service and interest cost components of the net periodic benefit cost as of June 30, 2009 and 2008 by 
approximately 15.30% and 14.88%, respectively. The University expects to contribute $426,300 to its 
retiree medical plan in fiscal year 2010. 

Other changes in the postretirement benefit obligation recognized in unrestricted net assets in fiscal 
year 2009 were as follows: 

Amortization of:
Net losses $ 667,203   
Transition obligation (172,000)  

$ 495,203   
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The following benefit payments are expected to be paid: 

2010 $ 426,300   
2011 475,600   
2012 525,600   
2013 578,200   
2014 – 2018 3,665,300   

 

On December 3, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 
became law. It covers employers that sponsor postretirement health care plans that provide prescription 
drug benefits. Measurement of the accumulated post retirement benefit (APBO) or net periodic 
postretirement benefit cost reflects any amount associated with the subsidy in the University’s plan. The 
benefits provided by the plan are actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D under the Act. 

(16) Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

In accordance with the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, Disclosures 
About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments, the University has determined the estimated fair values of 
its financial instruments as of June 30, 2009 and 2008 by using, where practicable, appropriate valuation 
methodologies. The University estimated that the estimated fair value of its total indebtedness was 
substantially equivalent to its carrying value as of June 30, 2009. The University further determined that 
the differences between the carrying values and estimated fair values of its other financial assets and 
liabilities at June 30, 2009 were not material. 

(17) Related Party Transactions 

On July 19, 2004, a trustee of the University purchased an office building through a single purpose entity 
in which the trustee or her trust is the sole shareholder. The LLC entered into a master lease with the 
University as a condition of buying the property. The master lease obligates the University to pay the LLC 
an annual rent ranging from $4,822,000 to $8,618,000 during the next 20 years. The value of the building 
was arrived at through an independent appraisal. Also negotiated at arm’s length was the University’s 
agreement to pay closing and other costs of the LLC. The owner of the building has entered into an 
agreement that, upon the death of the owner, either the building subject to the existing mortgage, or cash of 
$17,000,000 will be donated to the University. 

The University has a mortgage and loan due from various related parties of $478,000 at June 30, 2009 and 
2008, respectively. 

Some University trustees and/or employees own, or have relatives employed by, entities doing business 
with the University. The University believes all transactions are negotiated at arms length. 
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(18) Subsequent Events 

The University is negotiating to extend the leases at 75 Arlington Street and 20 Ashburton Place. In 
addition, the University is negotiating to lease space at the Massachusetts Hospital labs and to sublease 40 
Court Street. 

The property held for sale was sold on September 3, 2009 for an amount that approximates its carrying 
amount. 

On August 6, 2009 Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston provided a Confirming Letter of Credit to support 
the $56,710,000, Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority, Revenue Bonds, Suffolk 
University Issue, Series 2007A. The bonds were remarketed in the monthly mode. 

(19) Commitments and Contingencies 

The University is involved in legal actions arising in the normal course of activities and is subject to 
periodic audits and inquiries by regulatory agencies. Although the ultimate outcome of such matters is not 
determinable at this time, management, after taking into consideration advice of legal counsel, believes that 
the resolutions of pending matters will not have a materially adverse effect, individually or in the 
aggregate, upon the University’s financial statements. 
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APPENDIX C 

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS  
 

The following are definitions of certain of the terms defined in the Agreement and used in 

this Official Statement. 

(a) “Act” means Chapter 614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968 as amended from 
time to time. 

(b) “Authorized Denominations” means $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

(c) “Authorized Officer” means:  (i) in the case of the Authority, the Chairman, Vice 
Chairman, Executive Director, Director of Financing Programs, Deputy Director of Financing 
Programs, Associate Director of Financing Programs or Director of Finance, and when used with 
reference to an act or document of the Authority also means any other person authorized to 
perform the act or execute the document; and (ii) in the case of the Institution, the chairman or 
other presiding officer of the Board of Trustees, the President, Director or other chief executive 
or administrative officer, any Vice President or Vice Chairman, the Treasurer or other chief 
financial officer or any Assistant Treasurer, and when used with reference to an act or document 
of the Institution, also means any other person authorized to perform the act or execute the 
document. 

(d) “Bond Counsel” means any attorney at law or firm of attorneys of nationally 
recognized standing in matters pertaining to the federal tax exemption of interest on bonds issued 
by states and political subdivisions, and duly admitted to practice law before the highest court of 
any state of the United States. 

(e) “Bond Year” shall have the meaning provided in the Tax Certificate. 

(f) “Bondowners” means the registered owners of the Bonds from time to time as 
shown in the books kept by the Trustee as bond registrar and transfer agent. 

(g) “Bonds” means collectively the Series A Bonds and the Series B Bonds. 

(h) “Business Day” means a day on which banks in the city in which the principal 
office of the Trustee is located is not required or authorized to remain closed and on which the 
New York Stock Exchange is not closed. 

(i) “Continuing Disclosure Agreement” means the Continuing Disclosure Agreement 
dated as of the date of issuance of the Bonds between the Institution and the Trustee, as 
originally executed and as it may be amended from time to time in accordance with its terms. 

(j) “Core Campus Property” means the buildings and the real property on which they 
are located, owned by the Institution and set forth below, as amended from time to time:  
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Building Name Address 

Residence Hall 10 West Street (excluding the area on the first 
floor used for auxiliary food services)* 

Gleason & Hiram Archer Building/C. Walsh 
Theater 

20 Derne Street and 55 Temple Street 

Frank J. Donahue Building 41 Temple Street (excluding the area in the 
basement used for a cafeteria)* 

John E. Fenton Building (including annex) 28 and 32 Derne Street 

Frank Sawyer Building 8 Ashburton Place (excluding the area on the 
second floor used as a café)* 

Ridgeway Building 148 Cambridge Street (excluding such portion 
of property on the first floor used for book 
store)* 

Residence Hall 150 Tremont Street (excluding the area on the 
first floor used for a cafeteria and auxiliary 
food services)* 

Miller Hall 10 Somerset Street (excluding the area on the 
second floor used for a cafeteria)* 

David J. Sargent Hall 110-120 Tremont Street (excluding such 
portion of property used on the first floor for a 
book store and on the fourth floor for a 
cafeteria)* 

Modern Theatre Residence Hall 523-525 Washington Street 

_____________________________ 
* The excluded portions comprise approximately 20,000 square feet of space (of approximately 1,150,000 square 
feet for the entire Core Campus Property) and such space from time to time may be subject to independent 
management contracts (the “Excluded Portions”).  The University may, from time to time, amend the definition of 
Core Campus Property to substitute or exchange one or more of the Excluded Portions if the location of the 
excluded use changes, provided that the aggregate square feet of space comprising the Excluded Portions shall not 
exceed 20,000 square feet. 
 

(k) “Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement” means, with respect to the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, an amount equal to the least of (1) Maximum Annual Debt Service on the 
Bonds; (2) one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the average annual debt service on the 
Bonds; or (3) ten percent (10%) of the initial principal amount of the Bonds. 
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(l) “Government or Equivalent Obligations” means (i) obligations issued or 
guaranteed by the United States; (ii) certificates evidencing ownership of the right to the 
payment of the principal of and interest on obligations described in clause (i), provided that such 
obligations are held in the custody of a bank or trust company satisfactory to the Trustee or the 
Authority, as the case may be, in a special account separate from the general assets of such 
custodian; and (iii) shares of any open-end or closed-end management type investment company 
or trust registered under 15 U.S.C. §80(a)-1 et seq., provided that the portfolio of such 
investment company or trust is limited to obligations described in clause (i) and repurchase 
agreements fully collateralized by such obligations, and provided further that such investment 
company or trust shall take custody of such collateral either directly or through a custodian 
satisfactory to the Trustee or the Authority. 

(m) “IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended and 
applied to the Bonds from time to time. 

(n) “Maximum Annual Debt Service” means the maximum amount necessary to pay 
all principal and interest on the Bonds in any fiscal year. 

(o) “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor rating 
agency. 

(p) “Opinion of Bond Counsel” means an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that 
the matter or action in question will not have an adverse impact on the exclusion from gross 
income of the interest on the Series A Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

(q) “Outstanding,” when used to modify Bonds, refers to Bonds issued under the 
Agreement, excluding:  (i) Bonds which have been exchanged or replaced, or delivered to the 
Trustee for credit against a principal payment or a sinking fund installment; (ii) Bonds which 
have been paid; (iii) Bonds which have become due and for the payment of which moneys have 
been duly provided; and (iv) Bonds for which there have been irrevocably set aside sufficient 
funds, or Government or Equivalent Obligations described in clause (i) or (ii) of the definition 
thereof bearing interest at such rates, and with such maturities as will provide sufficient funds, to 
pay or redeem them, provided, however, that if any such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to 
maturity, the Authority shall have taken all action necessary to redeem such Bonds and notice of 
such redemption shall have been duly mailed in accordance with the Agreement or irrevocable 
instructions so to mail shall have been given to the Trustee. 

(r) “Prior Bonds” means, collectively, the Series 2005 Bonds, the Series 2007 Bonds 
and the Series 2008 Bonds. 

(s) “Project” means: 

(i) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Series 2008 Bonds, the proceeds of which were used to 
finance: 

(a) the acquisition or lease of a parcel of land and the improvements 
thereon located at 525 Washington Street (the “Washington Street Property”) in 
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Boston, Massachusetts (the “Municipality”) and the rehabilitation, construction 
and equipping of the Washington Street Property into an approximately 180-200 
bed student residence containing approximately 61,000 square feet, which 
includes: (1) an approximately 800 square foot art gallery/pre-function space; (2) 
an approximately 2,400 square foot black-box theater dedicated to cultural uses; 
and (3) supporting student residential uses, including, without limitation, lounges 
and laundry facilities; 

(b) the acquisition of 20 Somerset Street in the Municipality and the 
improvements thereon for use as an academic and administrative facility and 
other related uses containing approximately 112,000 square feet; 

(c) such other capital projects in furtherance of the Institution’s 
charitable and educational purposes, including, but not limited to, the 
rehabilitation of, and the acquisition and installation of energy conservation 
equipment at, one or more of the Institution’s facilities located in the 
Municipality at: the Frank Sawyer Building at 8 Ashburton Place (the “Sawyer 
Building”); the Ridgeway Building at 148 Cambridge Street (the “Ridgeway 
Building”); the Gleason & Hiram Archer Building at 20 Derne Street (the 
“Gleason & Hiram Archer Building”); the John E. Fenton Annex at 28 Derne 
Street (the “Fenton Annex”); the John E. Fenton Building at 32 Derne Street (the 
“Fenton Building”); 10 Somerset Street; the Frank J. Donahue Building at 41 
Temple Street (the “Donahue Building”); 73 Tremont Street; 110-120 Tremont 
Street (the “David J. Sargent Hall”); 150 Tremont Street; 511, 515-521 
Washington Street; and 2-12 West Street; 

(d) capitalized interest incurred in connection with the projects 
described in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above; and 

(e) the costs incurred in connection with the issuance of the Series 
2008 Bonds; 

(ii) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Series 2007 Bonds, the proceeds of which were used to 
finance: 

(a) the acquisition of a parcel of land and the improvements thereon 
(the “10 West Street Building”) located at 511, 515-21 Washington Street and 2-
12 West Street in the Municipality and the renovation and equipping of the 10 
West Street Building into an approximately 280 bed apartment style residence 
hall containing approximately 90,000 square feet, with approximately 6,420 
square feet of retail/commercial space on the first floor; 

(b) the rehabilitation of and/or capital improvements (including the 
acquisition of equipment and furnishings) to the following facilities owned or 
leased by the Institution in the municipality, including: (1) renovations at the 
Walsh Theatre and classroom improvements at the Gleason & Hiram Archer 
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Building;  (2) classroom improvements at the Donahue Building; (3) classroom 
improvements at the Sawyer Building; and (4) installing and equipping a 
television studio and classroom improvements at 73 Tremont Street; 

(c) upgrading the Institution’s computer technology in the buildings 
listed at paragraph (b)(1) through (4) above; 

(d) capitalized interest during the renovation of the 10 West Street 
Building; and 

(e) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency 
Variable Rate Revenue Bonds Suffolk University Issue, Series 2002, the 
proceeds of which were used to: 

(1) finance the construction of a new dormitory building 
located at 10 Somerset Street in the Municipality, consisting of 
approximately 350 student beds, office space, lounges, an 
atrium/courtyard, exercise area, laundry facilities, dining/food 
services area and a security office and containing approximately 
127,000 square feet; 

(2) finance the acquisition of furniture, fixtures and equipment 
used in such dormitory; 

(3) refund the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk 
University Issue, Series B (1992) (the “1992 Series B Bonds”), the 
proceeds of which were used to: 

(A) finance the acquisition and/or renovation (and 
purchase of equipment for use) of David J. Sargent Hall, 
consisting of 291,000 square feet; 

(B) refund the then outstanding principal amount of the 
Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, 
Series A (1990), the proceeds of which were used to 
finance: (i) the construction of: (a) a gymnasium, athletic 
facilities, Ballotti Learning Center, classrooms and 
bookstore located in the 26,340 square foot Ridgeway 
Building; and (b) faculty offices in the 5,400 square foot 
Fenton Annex; (ii) renovations to: (a) classrooms, 
laboratories, auditorium and faculty offices located at the 
Gleason & Hiram Archer Building; (b) classrooms, faculty 
offices, student organization offices, Ballotti Learning 
Center, administrative offices, and cafeteria located at the 
Donahue Building; and (iii) the installation of sprinklers at 
the Gleason & Hiram Archer Building, the Donahue 
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Building and the Fenton Annex, all of which are located in 
the Municipality; and (iv) the repayment of a loan to the 
Institution from a portion of the proceeds of the Authority’s 
Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Capital Asset 
Program Issue, Series B (1987), for the purpose of 
financing computers for the Sawyer Building; and 

(C) pay certain required fees incurred in connection 
with the refunding of the 1992 Series B Bonds; and 

(f) related architectural, engineering, legal, administrative, issuance 
and other expenses and costs of financing associated with the issuance of the 
Series 2007 Bonds (including, but not limited to, the payment of fees, if any, 
associated with the termination of an anticipatory interest rate swap agreement 
with respect to the Series 2007A Bonds); 

(iii) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of  Series 2005 Bonds, the proceeds of which were used to finance: 

(a) the costs associated with the renovation and equipping of 
approximately 114,990 square feet on floors 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 12 and 13 of the 
building located at 73 Tremont Street in the Municipality and used as a library, 
and for administrative and faculty office space, and for other facilities in 
furtherance of the Institution’s educational purposes; 

(b) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, 
Series C, dated March 1, 1996 (the “Series 1996C Bonds”), the proceeds of 
which were loaned to the Institution and used in connection with: (1) the 
acquisition, renovation and purchase of equipment for 150 Tremont Street in the 
Municipality, currently used as a 434-bed dormitory to house students containing 
approximately 144,993 square feet; and (2) the construction, renovation, 
rehabilitation, acquisition of equipment and other related expenses with respect to 
the following buildings owned by the Institution in the Municipality: the Gleason 
& Hiram Archer Building, currently used as classrooms, laboratories, auditorium 
and faculty offices; the Donahue Building, currently used as classrooms, faculty 
offices, student organization offices, Ballotti Learning Center, administrative 
offices, and cafeteria space; the Fenton Building, currently used as classrooms, 
health services, and faculty offices; the Sawyer Building, currently used as 
classrooms, computer laboratories, administration offices, library and faculty 
offices; the Fenton Annex, currently used as faculty offices; the Ridgeway 
Building, currently used as a gymnasium, athletic facilities, Ballotti Learning 
Center, classrooms and bookstore; and the real property at 110-120 Tremont 
Street, currently used as David J. Sargent Hall; 

(c) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Massachusetts Industrial Finance Agency Revenue 
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Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 1997 (the “Series 1997 Bonds”), the 
proceeds of which were loaned to the Institution and used in connection with: (1) 
the acquisition of the land and the building, located thereon at 20 Beacon Street 
in the Municipality (the “Claflin Building”), and the renovation of the Claflin 
Building, which before being sold by the Institution was used as administrative 
office space (with the proceeds of said sale being used to furnish and equip a 
dormitory building located at 10 Somerset Street in the Municipality); (2) the 
construction of David J. Sargent Hall; and (3) certain capital renovation projects 
at facilities owned by the Institution in the Municipality, which facilities are as 
follows: (A) 150 Tremont Street, currently used as a residence hall;  (B) the 
Gleason & Hiram Archer Building; (C) the Donahue Building; (D) the Goldberg 
Building located at 56 Temple Street; (E) the Fenton Building; (F) the Sawyer 
Building; (G) the Fenton Annex; and (H) the Ridgeway Building; and (4) the 
refunding of a portion of the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University 
Issue, Series B, the proceeds of which portion were used to acquire and improve 
David J. Sargent Hall; 

(d) the refunding of the outstanding principal amount (including any 
prepayment penalty) of the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency 
Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 1999 (the “Series 1999 
Bonds”), the proceeds of which were loaned to the Institution and used in 
connection with: (1) the rehabilitation of and/or capital improvements (including 
the acquisition of equipment and furnishings) to the following facilities owned by 
the Institution in the Municipality: (A) the Gleason & Hiram Archer Building; 
(B) the Donahue Building; (C) the Sawyer Building; (D) the Fenton Building; (E) 
the Ridgeway Building; (F) the Claflin Building, which before being sold by the 
Institution was used as administrative office space (with the proceeds of said sale 
being used to furnish and equip a dormitory building located at 10 Somerset 
Street in the Municipality); and (G) David J. Sargent Hall; (2) upgrading the 
Institution’s computer technology in the buildings listed as (A) through (G) 
above; and  (3) the refinancing of the Institution’s indebtedness related to the 
Authority’s Master Lease of November 1994 (equipment lease), the proceeds of 
which were loaned to the Institution and used to acquire certain computer and 
related equipment for use in one or more of the buildings listed as (A) through 
(G) above; 

(e) the payment of certain required fees incurred in connection with 
the refunding of the Series 1996C Bonds, Series 1997 Bonds and Series 1999 
Bonds; 

(f) the renovation of, rehabilitation of and/or capital improvements 
(including landscaping and the acquisition of equipment and furnishings) to the 
following buildings owned by Institution: (1) David J. Sargent Hall; (2) the 
residence hall located at 150 Tremont Street; (3) the Gleason & Hiram Archer 
Building; (4) the Donahue Building;  (5) the Fenton Building; (6) the Fenton 
Annex; (7) the Sawyer Building (renovation and equipping of existing library 
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into classrooms and administrative and faculty office space); and (8) the 
Ridgeway Building; and 

(g) capitalized interest during the renovation of 73 Tremont Street in 
the Municipality; and 

(h) related legal, administrative, issuance and other expenses and costs 
of financing associated with the issuance of the Series 2005 Bonds; and 

(iv) the financing of related legal, administrative, issuance and other fees and 
expenses and costs of financing associated with the foregoing (including, but not limited 
to, the funding of a Debt Service Reserve Fund and the payment of fees, if any, 
associated with the termination of the Institution’s interest rate swap agreements with 
respect to the Series 2008 Bonds, the Series 2007 Bonds and the Series 2005 Bonds). 

The word “Project” also refers to the facilities which result or have resulted from 
the foregoing activities. 

(t) “Rebate Provision” shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. 

(u) “Refunding Trust Agreement” means the Refunding Trust Agreement 
dated as of November 1, 2009, by and among the Issuer, the Institution, the Trustee, the 
Series 2005 Trustee, the Series 2007 Trustee and the Series 2008 Trustee. 

(v) “Revenues” means all rates, payments, fees, charges, and other income 
and receipts, including proceeds of insurance, eminent domain and sale, and including 
proceeds derived from any security provided under the Agreement, payable to the 
Authority or the Trustee under the Agreement, excluding administrative fees of the 
Authority, fees of the Trustee, reimbursements to the Authority or the Trustee for 
expenses incurred by the Authority or the Trustee, and indemnification of the Authority 
and the Trustee. 

(w) “S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, Inc., or any successor 
rating agency. 

(x) “Series A Bonds” means the $287,830,000* Massachusetts Health and 
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, 
Series A (2009), dated the date of original delivery thereof and any Series A Bond or 
Series A Bonds duly issued in exchange or replacement therefor.  

(y) “Series B Bonds” means the $21,625,000* Massachusetts Health and 
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, 
Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable), dated the date of original delivery thereof and any 
Series B Bond or Series B Bonds duly issued in exchange or replacement therefor. 

(z) “Series 2005 Agreement” means the Loan and Trust Agreement among 
the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency, the Institution and the Series 2005 
Trustee, dated as of June 1, 2005. 
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(aa) “Series 2005 Bonds” means the $105,460,000 principal amount of the 
Massachusetts Development Finance Agency, Suffolk University Issue, consisting of the 
$95,200,000 Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Series 2005A and the $10,260,000 
Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Series 2005B (Federally Taxable), and any bond 
or bonds duly issued in exchange or replacement therefor. 

(bb) “Series 2005 Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association. 

____________________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
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(cc) “Series 2007 Agreement” means, collectively, the Loan and Trust 
Agreement among the Authority, the Institution, and the Series 2007 Trustee, dated as of 
September 13, 2007, as amended and supplemented by a First Amendment thereto dated 
as of August 1, 2009, pursuant to which the Series 2007A Bonds were issued, and the 
Loan and Trust Agreement among the Authority, the Institution, and the Series 2007 
Trustee, dated as of October 11, 2007 pursuant to which the Series 2007B Bonds were 
issued. 

(dd) “Series 2007 Bonds” means the $116,275,000 principal amount of the 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority, Suffolk University Issue, 
consisting of the $57,230,000 Revenue Bonds, Series A (2007) (the “Series 2007A 
Bonds”) and the $59,045,000 Revenue Bonds, Series B (2007) (the “Series 2007B 
Bonds”), and any bond or bonds duly issued in exchange or replacement therefor. 

(ee) “Series 2007 Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee 
for the respective series of Series 2007 Bonds. 

(ff) “Series 2008 Agreement” means the Loan and Trust Agreement among 
the Authority, the Institution, and the Series 2008 Trustee, dated as of October 16, 2008. 

(gg) “Series 2008 Bonds” means the $56,000,000 principal amount of the 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Suffolk 
University Issue, Series A (2008), and any bond or bonds duly issued in exchange or 
replacement therefor. 

(hh) “Series 2008 Trustee” means People’s United Bank, as successor by 
merger to Chittenden Trust Company. 

(ii) “Tax Certificate” means the Tax Certificate as to Arbitrage and the 
Provisions of Sections 103 and 141-150 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 between 
the Authority and the Institution dated the date of original issuance of the Series A 
Bonds. 

(jj) “UCC” means the Massachusetts Uniform Commercial Code. 
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APPENDIX D 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE 
LOAN AND TRUST AGREEMENT 

The following is a brief summary, prepared by Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel, of certain provisions of 

the Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of November 1, 2009 (the “Agreement”) by and among the Massachusetts 

Health and Educational Facilities Authority ( the “Authority”), Suffolk University (the “Institution”) and People’s 

United Bank, as Trustee  (the “Trustee”).  This summary does not purport to be complete, and reference is made to 

the Agreement for full and complete statements of such and all provisions.  All terms not defined herein have the 

meanings as set forth in Appendix C. 

The Authority’s Assignment and Pledge of Receipts and Funds 

The Authority assigns and pledges to the Trustee in trust upon the terms of the Agreement (a) all Revenues 
to be received from the Institution or derived from any security provided thereunder and (b) all rights to receive such 
Revenues and the proceeds of such rights.  This assignment and pledge does not include:  (i) the rights of the 
Authority pursuant to provisions for consent, concurrence, approval or other action by the Authority, notice to the 
Authority or the filing of reports, certificates or other documents with the Authority or (ii) the powers of the 
Authority as stated herein to enforce the provisions thereof.  As additional security for its obligations to make 
payments to the Debt Service Fund, the Debt Service Reserve Fund, and the Redemption Fund, and for its other 
payment obligations under the Agreement, the Institution grants to the Trustee a security interest in its interest in the 
moneys and other investments and any proceeds thereof held from time to time in such Funds and the Expense Fund 
established under the Agreement. (Section 201) 

Defeasance 
 
When there are in the Debt Service Fund, Debt Service Reserve Fund and Redemption Fund sufficient funds, or 
Government or Equivalent Obligations described in clause (i) or (ii) of the definition thereof in such principal 
amounts, bearing interest at such rates and with such maturities as will provide sufficient funds to pay or redeem the 
Bonds in full, and when all the rights under the Agreement of the Authority and the Trustee have been provided for, 
upon written notice from the Institution to the Authority and the Trustee, the Bondowners shall cease to be entitled 
to any benefit or security under the Agreement except the right to receive payment of the funds deposited and held 
for payment and other rights which by their nature cannot be satisfied prior to or simultaneously with termination of 
the lien thereof (including obligations of the Institution with respect to rebate and tax matters under the Agreement), 
the security interests created by the Agreement (except in such funds and investments) shall terminate, and the 
Authority and the Trustee shall execute and deliver such instruments as may be necessary to discharge the lien and 
security interests created thereunder; provided, however, that if any such Bonds are to be redeemed prior to the 
maturity thereof, the Authority shall have taken all action necessary to redeem such Bonds and notice of such 
redemption shall have been duly mailed in accordance with the Agreement or irrevocable instructions so to mail 
shall have been given to the Trustee.  Upon such defeasance, the funds and investments required to pay or redeem 
the Bonds in full shall be irrevocably set aside for that purpose, subject, however, to the provisions of the Agreement 
regarding unclaimed moneys, and moneys held for defeasance shall be invested only as provided above in this 
section.  Any funds or property held by the Trustee and not required for payment or redemption of the Bonds in full 
shall, after satisfaction of all the rights of the Authority and the Trustee and after allowance for payment of any 
rebate pursuant to the Rebate Provision, be distributed to the Institution upon such indemnification, if any, as the 
Authority or the Trustee may reasonably require. (Section 202) 
 
Application of Bond Proceeds 

Upon the receipt of the proceeds of the Bonds, the Authority shall make payments from such proceeds as 
follows:  (a) the amounts required, together with other available funds, to be applied to the current refunding of the 
Refunded Bonds shall be deposited in the Series 2005 Escrow Account, in the Series 2007 Escrow Account and in 
the Series 2008 Escrow Account of the Refunding Trust Fund established under the Refunding Trust Agreement; (b) 
the amount, together with funds provided by the Institution, estimated to be needed to pay the costs of issuing the 
Bonds shall be deposited in the Expense Fund; (c) the amount necessary to pay the termination fees for any interest 
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rate swap agreement related to the Prior Bonds shall be used to pay such termination fees; and (d) an amount equal 
to the Debt Service Reserve Requirement shall be deposited into the Debt Service Reserve Fund. (Section 302) 

 
Debt Service Fund 

A Debt Service Fund is established with the Trustee.  Moneys shall be deposited in the Debt Service Fund 
as provided in the Agreement.  The moneys in the Debt Service Fund and any investments held as part of such Fund 
shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided, shall be applied solely to the payment of the principal 
(including sinking fund installments), redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds.  Promptly after July 1 
of each Bond Year, if the amount deposited by the Institution in the Debt Service Fund during the preceding Bond 
Year pursuant to the Agreement was in excess of the amount required to be so deposited, the Trustee shall transfer 
such excess to the Institution unless there is then an Event of Default known to the Trustee with respect to payments 
to the Debt Service Fund or to the Trustee or the Authority, in which case the excess shall be applied to such 
payments.  (Section 303) 

Debt Service Reserve Fund 
 

(a) A Debt Service Reserve Fund is with the Trustee and moneys shall be deposited therein as 
provided in the Agreement.  The moneys in the Debt Service Reserve Fund and any investments held as a part of 
such Fund shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided, shall be applied by the Trustee on behalf of the 
Authority solely to the payment of the principal (including sinking fund installments) of and interest on the Bonds. 

(b) If on any date the amount in the Debt Service Fund is less than the amount then required to pay 
the principal (including sinking fund installments) and interest then due on the Bonds, the Trustee shall apply the 
amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the extent necessary to meet the deficiency.  The Institution shall 
remain liable for any required sums which it has not paid to the Debt Service Fund and any subsequent payment 
thereof shall be used to restore the funds so applied. 

(c) If the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund on January 1 or July 1 of any year (less any 
payment made therefrom on that day pursuant to the Agreement) exceeds the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
Requirement, the Trustee shall transfer the excess to the Debt Service Fund to be credited against payments 
otherwise required to be made thereto. 

(d) If and to the extent that the amount in the Debt Service Reserve Fund on January 1 or July 1 of 
any year is less than the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (a) due to a withdrawal of moneys from the Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, the Institution shall, within ninety (90) days of such January 1 or July 1, pay to the Trustee 
for deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount of the deficiency except to the extent that the deficiency is 
otherwise overcome (except by transfer from the Redemption Fund); and (b) due to a fluctuation in the market value 
of investments held in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Institution shall, within ninety (90) days of such January 
1 or July 1, pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount of such deficiency except to 
the extent that the deficiency is otherwise overcome (except by transfer from the Redemption Fund). 

(e) Investments in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be valued by the Trustee each January 1 and 
July 1 at market, plus accrued interest where applicable.  (Section 304). 

Redemption Fund 
 

(a) A Redemption Fund is established with the Trustee and moneys shall be deposited therein as 
provided in the Agreement.  The moneys in the Redemption Fund and any investments held as a part of such Fund 
shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided, shall be applied by the Trustee on behalf of the Authority 
solely to the redemption of Bonds.  The Trustee may, and upon written direction of the Institution for specific 
purchases shall, apply moneys in the Redemption Fund to the purchase of Bonds for cancellation at prices not 
exceeding the price at which they are then redeemable (or next redeemable if they are not then redeemable), but not 
within the forty-five (45) days preceding a redemption date.  Accrued interest, if any, on the purchase of Bonds shall 
be paid from the Debt Service Fund. 
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(b) If on any date the amount in the Debt Service Fund is less than the amount then required to be 
applied by the Trustee to pay the principal (including sinking fund installments) and interest then due on the Bonds 
(after any required transfer from the Debt Service Reserve Fund), or if on any date an amount is then required to be 
paid to the United States as provided in the Agreement, the Trustee shall apply the amount in the Redemption Fund 
(other than any sum irrevocably set aside for the redemption of particular Bonds or required to purchase Bonds 
under outstanding purchase contracts) first to the satisfaction of such rebate payment, and second to the Debt 
Service Fund to the extent necessary to meet the deficiency.  The Institution shall remain liable for any sums which 
it has not paid into the Debt Service Fund or pursuant to the Rebate Provision and any subsequent payment thereof 
shall be used to restore the funds so applied. 

(c) If any moneys in the Redemption Fund are invested in accordance with the Agreement and a 
loss results therefrom so that there are insufficient funds to pay the redemption price of Bonds called for redemption 
in accordance with the Agreement, then the Institution shall immediately supply the deficiency. 

Rebate 

(a) Payment of Rebate to the United States.  (i)  No later than sixty (60) days after the close of the 
fifth (5th) Bond Year following the date of issue of the Series A Bonds (or any earlier date that may be required) and 
the close of each fifth (5th) Bond Year thereafter, the Institution shall pay to the United States on behalf of the 
Authority the full amount then required to be paid under IRC §148(f) and the regulations thereunder (the “Rebate 
Provision”).  Within sixty (60) days after the Series A Bonds have been paid in full, the Institution shall pay to the 
United States on behalf of the Authority the full amount then required to be paid under the Rebate Provision.  Each 
such payment shall be made to the Internal Revenue Service Center, Ogden, Utah 84201 or any successor location 
specified by the Internal Revenue Service, accompanied by a Form 8038-T (or other similar information reporting 
form) prepared by the Institution. 

(ii) No later than fifteen (15) days prior to each date on which a payment could become due under 
Paragraph (a)(i) (a “Rebate Payment Date”), the Institution shall deliver to the Authority and the Trustee a certificate 
either summarizing the determination that no amount is required to be paid or specifying the amount then required to 
be paid pursuant to Paragraph (a)(i).  If the certificate specifies an amount to be paid, (A) such certificate shall be 
accompanied by a completed Form 8038-T, which is to be signed by an officer of the Authority, and shall include a 
certification stating that the Form 8038-T is accurate and complete, and (B) no later than ten (10) days after the 
Rebate Payment Date the Institution shall furnish to the Authority and the Trustee a certificate stating that such 
amount has been timely paid. 

(b) Records.  The Institution, the Trustee and the Authority shall keep such records as will enable 
them to fulfill their responsibilities under this section and the Rebate Provision until the date six (6) years after the 
last of the Series A Bonds will be retired, and if any of the Series A Bonds are refunded with the proceeds of tax-
exempt obligations other than the Series A Bonds (“Refunding Obligations”), the date six (6) years after the last of 
the Refunding Obligations will be retired. 

(c) Interpretation of this Section.  The purpose of this section of the Agreement is to satisfy the 
requirements of the Rebate Provision.  Accordingly, this section shall be construed so as to meet such requirements.  
The Institution covenants that all action taken under this section shall be taken in a manner that complies with the 
Rebate Provision and that it shall neither take any action nor omit to take any action that would cause the Series A 
Bonds to be arbitrage bonds by reason of the failure to comply with the Rebate Provision.  To the extent any 
payment of rebatable arbitrage or penalty in lieu of rebate is not timely made to the United States, the Institution 
shall pay to the United States on behalf of the Authority any interest, penalty, or other amount necessary to prevent 
the Series A Bonds from becoming arbitrage bonds within the meaning of IRC Section 148.  The Institution 
covenants that to the extent necessary it shall obtain the advice and assistance of experts to aid it in complying with 
the Rebate Provision. (Section 307) 

Expense Fund 

An Expense Fund is established to be held by the Authority and proceeds of the Bonds shall be deposited in 
the Expense Fund as provided by the Agreement.  The moneys in the Expense Fund and any investments held as 
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part of such Fund shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided in the Agreement, shall be applied by the 
Authority at the written direction of the Institution solely to the payment or reimbursement of the costs of issuing the 
Bonds.  The Authority shall pay from the Expense Fund the costs of issuing the Bonds, including the reasonable fees 
and expenses of financial consultants and bond counsel, the reasonable fees and expenses of the Trustee incurred 
prior to the completion of the Project in accordance with the Agreement, any recording or similar fees and any 
expenses of the Institution in connection with the issuance of the Bonds which are approved by the Authority.  
Earnings on the Expense Fund shall not be applied to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds, but shall be transferred to 
the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the extent necessary to satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and 
otherwise to the Debt Service Fund as provided in the Agreement.  After all costs of issuing the Bonds have been 
paid any amounts remaining in the Expense Fund shall be transferred to the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the extent 
necessary to satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and otherwise to the Debt Service Fund.  To the 
extent the Expense Fund is insufficient to pay any of the above costs, the Institution shall be liable for the deficiency 
and shall pay such deficiency as directed by the Authority. (Section 308) 

Application of Moneys 

If available moneys in the Debt Service Fund after any required transfers from the Debt Service Reserve 
Fund and Redemption Fund are not sufficient on any day to pay all principal (including sinking fund installments), 
redemption price and interest on the Outstanding Bonds then due or overdue, such moneys (other than any sum in 
the Redemption Fund irrevocably set aside for the redemption of particular Bonds or required to purchase Bonds 
under outstanding purchase contracts) shall, after payment of all charges and disbursements of the Trustee in 
accordance with the Agreement, be applied (in the order such Funds are named in this section) first to the payment 
of interest, including interest on overdue principal, in the order in which the same became due (pro rata with respect 
to interest which became due at the same time) and second to the payment of principal (including sinking fund 
installments) and redemption premiums, if any, without regard to the order in which the same became due (in 
proportion to the amounts due).  For this purpose interest on overdue principal shall be treated as coming due on the 
first day of each month.  Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to this section, such moneys shall be applied 
at such times, and from time to time, as the Trustee in its discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount 
of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such 
application in the future.  Whenever the Trustee shall exercise such discretion it shall fix the date (which shall be the 
first of a month unless the Trustee shall deem another date more suitable) upon which such application is to be 
made, and upon such date interest on the amounts of principal paid on such date shall cease to accrue.  The Trustee 
shall give such notice as it may deem appropriate of the fixing of any such date.  When interest or a portion of the 
principal is to be paid on an overdue Bond, the Trustee may require presentation of the Bond for endorsement of the 
payment. (Section 309). 

Payments by the Institution 

(a) The Institution shall pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Fund at least three (3) 
Business Days prior to the date on which any payment of principal (including any sinking fund installment) or 
interest on the Bonds is due, an amount equal to such payment less the amount, if any, in the Debt Service Fund and 
available to pay the same. 

(b) The payments to be made under the foregoing subsection shall be appropriately adjusted to 
reflect the date of issue of Bonds, any earnings on amounts in the Debt Service Fund and any purchase or 
redemption of Bonds, so that there will be available on each payment date in the Debt Service Fund the amount 
necessary to pay the interest and principal or sinking fund installment due or coming due on the Bonds. 

(c) At any time when any principal (including sinking fund installments) of the Bonds is overdue, 
the Institution shall also have a continuing obligation to pay to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Fund an 
amount equal to interest on the overdue principal but the installment payments required under this section shall not 
otherwise bear interest.  Redemption premiums shall not bear interest. 

(d) Payments by the Institution to the Trustee for deposit in the Debt Service Fund under the 
Agreement shall discharge the obligation of the Institution to the extent of such payments; provided, that if any 
moneys are invested in accordance with the Agreement and a loss results therefrom so that there are insufficient 
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funds to pay principal (including sinking fund installments) and interest on the Bonds when due, the Institution shall 
supply the deficiency. 

(e) Within thirty (30) days after notice from the Authority, the Institution shall pay to the Authority 
all expenditures (except general administrative expenses or overhead) reasonably incurred by the Authority by 
reason of the Agreement. 

Within thirty (30) days after notice from the Trustee, the Institution shall pay to the Trustee the reasonable fees and 
expenses of the Trustee as set forth in of the Agreement. (Section 310) 

Unconditional Obligation 

To the extent permitted by law, the obligation of the Institution to make payments to the Authority and the 
Trustee under the Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional, shall be binding and enforceable in all 
circumstances whatsoever, shall not be subject to setoff, recoupment or counterclaim and shall be a general 
obligation of the Institution to which the full faith and credit of the Institution are pledged. (Section 311).   
 
Investments 

(a) Pending their use under the Agreement, moneys in the Funds and Accounts established pursuant 
to the Agreement may be invested by the Trustee or the Authority, as the case may be, in Permitted Investments (as 
defined below) maturing or redeemable at the option of the holder at or before the time when such moneys are 
expected to be needed and shall be so invested pursuant to written direction of the Institution if there is not then an 
Event of Default known to the Trustee or the Authority, as appropriate, provided that the Institution shall not 
request, authorize or permit any investment which would cause any Series A Bonds to be classified as “arbitrage 
bonds” as defined in IRC §148.  The Trustee shall have no responsibility or liability for any depreciation in the value 
of any investment or for any loss, direct or indirect, resulting from any investment made in accordance with the 
written instructions of the Institution.  The Trustee shall be without liability to the Institution or any other person in 
the event that any investment made in accordance with the written instructions of the Institution or in any Permitted 
Investment shall cause any or all of the Series A Bonds to be or become arbitrage bonds within the meaning of IRC 
Section 148 or shall cause any person to incur any liability or rebates or other monies payable pursuant to the IRC.  
Any investments pursuant to this subsection shall be held by the Trustee or the Authority, as applicable, as a part of 
the applicable Fund and shall be sold or redeemed to the extent necessary to make payments or transfers or 
anticipated payments or transfers from such Fund, subject to the notice provisions of Section 9-611 of the UCC to 
the extent applicable. 

(b) Except as set forth below, any interest realized on investments in any Fund and any profit 
realized upon the sale or other disposition thereof shall be credited to the Fund with respect to which they were 
earned and any loss shall be charged thereto.  Earnings (which for this purpose include net profit and are after 
deduction of net loss) on accrued interest deposited in the Debt Service Fund and on the Expense Fund shall be 
transferred to the Debt Service Reserve Fund to the extent necessary to satisfy the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
Requirement and otherwise to the Debt Service Fund.  Earnings on the Redemption Fund shall be transferred to the 
Debt Service Fund and credited against payments otherwise required to be made thereto not less often than 
quarterly. 

(c) (i)  The term “Permitted Investments” means (A) Government or Equivalent Obligations, (B) 
direct and general obligations of any state of the United States of America or the District of Columbia or any 
subdivision or agency thereof (for purposes of this subsection (B), a “State”), to the payment of which the full faith 
and credit of such State is pledged and that at the time of purchase are rated “Aa3” or “AA-” or higher by Moody’s 
or S&P, (C) negotiable certificates of deposit or other evidences of deposit issued by a nationally or state-chartered 
bank or a state or federal savings and loan association or by a state-licensed branch of a foreign bank, which have 
assets of not less than $1,000,000,000, provided that the senior debt obligations of the issuing institution are rated 
“Aa3” or “AA-” or higher by Moody’s or S&P and mature not more than two years after the date of purchase, (D) 
bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by a commercial bank (otherwise known as bankers 
acceptances), provided that such bankers acceptances may not exceed 180 days maturity, and provided further that 
the accepting bank has the highest short-term letter and numerical rating as provided by Moody’s or S&P, (E) 
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Repurchase Agreements, (F) money market funds rated at least “Aam” or “AAm-G” by S&P, (G) investment 
agreements with providers (or, if applicable, guarantors) rated at least “AA-” and “Aa3” by S&P and Moody’s, 
respectively, (H) collateralized investment agreements with providers (or, if applicable, guarantors) rated at least 
“A-” and “A3” by S&P and Moody’s, respectively, (I) Federal Agency Securities and participation certificates 
issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage 
Corporation, Federal Farm Credit Bank System, Student Loan Marketing Association, World Bank or Federal 
Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, and (J) commercial paper which is rated at the time of purchase at least “A-1+” 
by S&P or “P-1” by Moody’s and which matures not more than 270 days after the date of purchase.  The term 
“Repurchase Agreement” shall mean a written agreement under which a bank or trust company which has a capital 
and surplus of not less than $50,000,000 or a government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a 
primary dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York sells to, and agrees to repurchase from the Authority or 
the Trustee obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States; provided that the market value of such obligations 
is at the time of entering into the agreement at least one hundred and three percent (103%) of the repurchase price 
specified in the agreement and that such obligations are segregated from the unencumbered assets of such bank or 
trust company or government bond dealer; and provided further that unless the agreement is with a bank or trust 
company, such agreement shall require the repurchase to occur on demand or on a date certain which is not later 
than one (1) year after such agreement is entered into and shall expressly authorize the Trustee or the Authority, as 
the case may be, to liquidate the purchased obligations in the event of the insolvency of the party required to 
repurchase such obligations or the commencement against such party of a case under the federal Bankruptcy Code 
or the appointment of or taking possession by a trustee or custodian in a case against such party under the 
Bankruptcy Code.  Any such investments may be purchased from or through the Trustee. 

(ii) Notwithstanding the immediately preceding paragraph (i), a Permitted Investment shall 
not be purchased for more than its fair market value or sold for less than its fair market value, as described in the 
Tax Certificate.  Permitted Investments shall not include any investment that would cause any of the Series A Bonds 
to be federally guaranteed within the meaning of IRC §149(b). 

(d) A security interest with respect to Permitted Investments shall be perfected in such manner as 
may be provided by law.  In the case of a Repurchase Agreement, if under applicable law, including the federal 
Bankruptcy Code, the agreement is recognized as transferring ownership in the underlying securities to the investing 
party with a right to liquidate the securities and apply the proceeds against the repurchase obligation, all free and 
clear of the claims of creditors and transferees of the other party, the interest of the investing party shall be regarded 
as the equivalent of a perfected security interest for the purposes of this subsection.  In any case, however, if the 
underlying securities or the securities subject to the security interest are certificated securities (as opposed to 
uncertificated or book-entry securities), they shall be delivered to the Authority in the case of a Fund in the custody 
of the Authority, or to the Trustee in the case of a Fund in the custody of the Trustee, or to a depository satisfactory 
to the Authority or the Trustee, as the case may be, either as agent for the Authority or the Trustee or as bailee with 
appropriate instructions and acknowledgement, at the time of or prior to the investment, or, if the security interest is 
perfected without delivery, delivery shall be made within three (3) Business Days.  Possession by the Trustee of the 
security for an obligation of the Trustee shall not be deemed to satisfy the requirements of this subsection unless 
there is an opinion of counsel satisfactory to the Authority to the effect that such possession satisfies the 
requirements of the Agreement. 

(e) The Trustee may hold undivided interests in Permitted Investments for more than one Fund (for 
which they are eligible) and may make interfund transfers in kind.  (Section 313) 
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Unclaimed Moneys 

Except as may otherwise be required by applicable law, in case any moneys deposited with the Trustee for 
the payment of principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on any Bond remain unclaimed for three (3) years after 
such principal, interest or premium has become due and payable, the Trustee may and upon receipt of a written 
request of the Institution shall pay over to the Institution the amount so deposited in immediately available funds, 
without additional interest, and thereupon the Trustee and the Authority shall be released from any further liability 
with respect to the payment of such principal, interest or premium and the owner of such Bond shall be entitled 
(subject to any applicable statute of limitations) to look only to the Institution as an unsecured creditor for the 
payment thereof.  (Section 314) 
 
Insurance 

The Institution shall maintain insurance with insurance companies authorized to transact business in The 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or otherwise satisfactory to the Authority on such of its properties, in such 
amounts and against such risks as is customarily maintained by similar institutions of higher education operating in 
the area and promptly file with the Authority upon request, from time to time, certificates of all such insurance.  
(Section 404) 

Indemnification as to the Project 

The Institution shall indemnify the Authority and the Trustee against (a) the claims of any person arising 
out of any condition of the Project, the construction, use, occupancy or management thereof, or any accident, injury 
or damage to any person occurring in or about the Project; and (b) any and all costs, counsel fees, expenses or 
liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with any such claim or any action or proceeding brought thereon.  In 
case any action or proceeding is brought against the Authority or the Trustee by reason of any such claim, the 
Institution upon notice from the affected party shall defend the same and the Authority and the Trustee shall 
cooperate with the  Institution at the expense of the Institution in connection therewith.  The obligations of the 
Institution under the Agreement shall survive the termination of the Agreement or the resignation or removal of the 
Trustee.  (Section 405) 

Default by the Institution 
 

Events of Default; Default. “Event of Default” in the Agreement means any one of the events set forth 
below and “default” means any Event of Default without regard to any lapse of time or notice. 

(i) Debt Service.  Any principal or interest or redemption premium on the Bonds shall not be paid 
when due, whether at maturity, by acceleration, upon redemption or otherwise or the Institution shall fail to make 
any payment required of it under the Agreement when the same becomes due and payable. 

(ii) Other Obligations.  The Institution shall fail to make any other required payment to the Trustee, 
and such failure is not remedied within seven (7) days after written notice thereof is given by the Trustee to the 
Institution, or the Institution shall fail to observe or perform any of its other agreements, covenants or obligations 
under the Agreement and such failure is not remedied within sixty (60) days after written notice thereof is given by 
the Trustee to the Institution. 

(iii) Warranties.  There shall be a material breach of warranty made herein by the Institution as of the 
date it was intended to be effective and the breach is not cured within sixty (60) days after written notice thereof is 
given by the Trustee to the Institution. 

(iv) Voluntary Bankruptcy.  The Institution shall commence a voluntary case under the federal 
bankruptcy laws, or shall become insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they become due, or shall make an 
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall apply for, consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of, or taking 
possession by, a trustee, receiver, custodian or similar official or agent for itself or any substantial part of its 
property. 



 

D-8 

(v) Appointment of Receiver.  A trustee, receiver, custodian or similar official or agent shall be 
appointed for the Institution or for any substantial part of its property and such trustee or receiver shall not be 
discharged within sixty (60) days. 

(vi) Involuntary Bankruptcy.  The Institution shall have an order or decree for relief in an involuntary 
case under the federal bankruptcy laws entered against it, or a petition seeking reorganization, readjustment, 
arrangement, composition, or other similar relief as to it under the federal bankruptcy laws or any similar law for the 
relief of debtors shall be brought against it and shall be consented to by it or shall remain undismissed for sixty (60) 
days. 

(vii) Breach of Other Agreements.  A breach shall occur (and continue beyond any applicable grace 
period) with respect to the payment of other indebtedness of the Institution for borrowed money with respect to 
loans exceeding $5,000,000, or with respect to the performance of any agreement securing such other indebtedness 
or pursuant to which the same was issued or incurred, or an event shall occur with respect to provisions of any such 
agreement relating to matters of the character referred to in this section, so that a holder or holders of such 
indebtedness or a trustee or trustees under any such agreement accelerates any such indebtedness; but an Event of 
Default shall not be deemed to be in existence or to be continuing under this clause (vii) if (A) the Institution is in 
good faith contesting the existence of such breach or event and if such acceleration is being stayed by judicial 
proceedings or (B) such breach or event is remedied and the acceleration is wholly annulled.  The Institution shall 
notify the Authority and the Trustee of any such breach or event immediately upon the Institution’s becoming aware 
of its occurrence and shall from time to time furnish such information as the Authority or the Trustee may 
reasonably request for the purpose of determining whether a breach or event described in this clause (vii) has 
occurred. 

(viii) Waiver.  If the Trustee determines that a default has been cured before the entry of any final 
judgment or decree with respect to it, the Trustee may waive the default and its consequences, including any 
acceleration, by written notice to the Institution and shall do so, with the written consent of the Authority, upon 
written instruction of the owners of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding 
Bonds. 

Remedies for Events of Default 

If an Event of Default occurs and is continuing: 

(a) The Trustee may by written notice to the Institution and the Authority declare immediately due 
and payable the principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds and the payments to be made by the Institution therefor, 
and accrued interest on the foregoing, whereupon the same shall become immediately due and payable without any 
further action or notice. 

(b) The Trustee and the Authority, as appropriate, may exercise all of the rights and remedies of a 
secured party under the UCC with respect to securities in the Debt Service Fund, Debt Service Reserve Fund, 
Redemption Fund and Expense Fund, including the right to sell or redeem such securities and the right to retain the 
securities in satisfaction of the obligations of the Institution thereunder.  Notice sent by registered or certified mail, 
postage prepaid, or delivered during business hours, to the Institution at least seven (7) days before an event under 
UCC Sections 9-610 and 6-111, or any successor provision of law shall constitute reasonable notification of such 
event. (Section 602) 

(c) Subject to the Agreement, the Trustee may enforce the obligations under the Agreement by legal 
proceedings for the specific performance of any covenant, obligation or agreement contained herein, whether or not 
an Event of Default exists, or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, and may 
recover damages caused by any breach of the provisions of the Agreement, including (to the extent the Agreement 
may lawfully provide) court costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses incurred in enforcing the 
obligations under the Agreement. (Section 603). 
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Revenues after Default 

The proceeds from the exercise of the rights and remedies under the Agreement shall be remitted to the 
Trustee upon receipt and in the form received.  After payment or reimbursement of the reasonable expenses of the 
Trustee and the Authority in connection therewith, the same shall be applied, first to the remaining obligations of the 
Institution under the Agreement (other than obligations to make payments to the Authority for its own use) in such 
order as may be determined by the Trustee, and second, to any unpaid sums due the Authority for its own use.  Any 
surplus thereof shall be paid to the Institution. (Section 604) 

Remedies Cumulative 
 

The rights and remedies under the Agreement shall be cumulative and shall not exclude any other rights and 
remedies allowed by law, provided there is no duplication of recovery.  The failure to insist upon a strict 
performance of any of the obligations of the Institution or to exercise any remedy for any violation thereof shall not 
be taken as a waiver for the future of the right to insist upon strict performance by the Institution or of the right to 
exercise any remedy for the violation.  (Section 605) 
 
Actions for Protection of Bondowners 

The Authority shall not be required to monitor the financial condition of the Institution or the physical 
condition of the Project and, unless otherwise expressly provided, shall not have any responsibility with respect to 
reports, notices, certificates or other documents filed with it under the Agreement.  The Authority shall not be 
required to take notice of any breach or default by the Institution except when given written notice thereof by the 
registered owners of at least ten percent (10%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds or by the Trustee.  The 
Authority shall give default notice under the Agreement when instructed to do so by the written direction of the 
registered owners of at least twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds.  The 
Authority shall not be required, however, to take any remedial action, other than the giving of notice, unless 
reasonable indemnity is furnished for any expense or liability to be incurred therein.  Upon receipt of written notice, 
direction or instruction and indemnity, as provided above, and after making such investigation, if any, as it deems 
appropriate to verify the occurrence of any event of which it is notified as aforesaid, the Authority shall promptly 
pursue the remedies provided by the Agreement or any of such remedies (not contrary to any such direction) as it 
deems appropriate for the protection of the Bondowners, and in its actions under this sentence, the Authority shall 
act for the protection of the Bondowners with the same promptness and prudence as would be expected of a prudent 
person in the conduct of such person’s own affairs. (Section 802) 

Resignation or Removal of the Trustee; Successor Trustee 

The Trustee may resign on not less than thirty (30) days’ notice given in writing to the Authority, the 
Bondowners and the Institution, but such resignation shall not take effect until a successor has been appointed and 
has accepted such appointment.  The Trustee will promptly certify to the Authority that it has mailed such notice to 
all Bondowners and such certificate will be conclusive evidence that such notice was given in the manner required 
by the Agreement.  The Trustee may be removed by written notice from (i) the owners of a majority in principal 
amount of the Outstanding Bonds to the Trustee, the Authority and the Institution; or (ii) so long as no default or 
Event of Default exists under the Agreement, from the Institution to the Trustee and the Authority, with the consent 
of the Authority in its sole discretion, but such removal shall not take effect until a successor has been appointed and 
has accepted such appointment. 

Any corporation or association which succeeds to the corporate trust business of the Trustee as a whole or 
substantially as a whole, whether by sale, merger, consolidation or otherwise, shall thereby become vested with all 
the property, rights and powers of the Trustee under the Agreement, without any further act or conveyance. 

In case the Trustee resigns or is removed or becomes incapable of acting, or becomes bankrupt or insolvent, 
or if a receiver, liquidator or conservator of the Trustee or of its property is appointed, or if a public officer takes 
charge or control of the Trustee, or of its property or affairs, a successor shall be appointed by written notice from 
the Institution to the Authority.  The Institution shall notify the Bondowners of the appointment in writing within 
twenty (20) days from the appointment.  The Institution will promptly certify to the successor Trustee that it has 
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mailed such notice to all Bondowners and such certificate will be conclusive evidence that such notice was given in 
the manner required by the Agreement.  If no appointment of a successor is made within forty-five (45) days after 
the giving of written notice in accordance with the Agreement or after the occurrence of any other event requiring or 
authorizing such appointment, the outgoing Trustee or any Bondowner may apply to any court of competent 
jurisdiction for the appointment of such a successor, and such court may thereupon, after such notice, if any, as such 
court may deem proper, appoint such successor.  Any successor Trustee appointed under this section shall be a trust 
company or a bank having the powers of a trust company, authorized to serve as Trustee under the Act, having a 
capital and surplus of not less than $75,000,000.  Any such successor Trustee shall notify the Authority and the 
Institution of its acceptance of the appointment and, upon giving such notice, shall become Trustee, vested with all 
the property, rights and powers of the Trustee under the Agreement, without any further act or conveyance.  Such 
successor Trustee shall execute, deliver, record and file such instruments as are required to confirm or perfect its 
succession under the Agreement and any predecessor Trustee shall from time to time execute, deliver, record and 
file such instruments as the incumbent Trustee may reasonably require to confirm or perfect any succession under 
the Agreement. (Section 704, 705) 

Responsibility 
 

The Authority shall be entitled to the advice of counsel (who may be counsel for any party) and shall not be 
liable for any action taken in good faith in reliance on such advice.  The Authority may rely conclusively on any 
notice, certificate or other document furnished to it under the Agreement and reasonably believed by it to be 
genuine.  The Authority shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in good faith and 
reasonably believed by it to be within the discretion or power conferred upon it, or taken by it pursuant to any 
direction or instruction by which it is governed under the Agreement or omitted to be taken by it by reason of the 
lack of direction or instruction required for such action, or be responsible for the consequences of any error of 
judgment reasonably made by it.  When any payment or consent or other action by the Authority is called for by the 
Agreement, the Authority may defer such action pending receipt of such evidence, if any, as it may reasonably 
require in support thereof.  A permissive right or power to act shall not be construed as a requirement to act.  The 
Authority shall in no event be liable for the application or misapplication of funds, or for other acts or defaults by 
any person, firm or corporation except by its own members, officers, agents and employees.  No recourse shall be 
had by the Institution, the Trustee or any Bondowner for any claim based on the Agreement, the Bonds or any 
agreement securing the same against any member, officer, agent or employee of the Authority unless such claim is 
based upon the bad faith, fraud or deceit of such person. (Section 802) 

Financial Obligations 
 

Nothing contained in the Agreement shall in any way obligate the Authority to pay any debt or meet any 
financial obligations to any person at any time in relation to the Project except from moneys received under the 
provisions of the Agreement or from the exercise of the Authority’s rights thereunder other than moneys received 
for its own purposes. (Section 802) 

Action by Bondowners 

Any request, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other action provided by the Agreement to 
be given or taken by Bondowners may be contained in and evidenced by one or more writings of substantially the 
same tenor signed by the requisite number of Bondowners or their attorneys duly appointed in writing.  Proof of the 
execution of any such instrument, or of an instrument appointing any such attorney, shall be sufficient for any 
purpose of the Agreement (except as otherwise therein expressly provided) if made in the following manner, but the 
Authority or the Trustee may nevertheless in its discretion require further or other proof in cases where it deems the 
same desirable. 

The fact and date of the execution by any Bondowner or its attorney of such instrument may be proved by 
the certificate, which need not be acknowledged or verified, of an officer of a bank or trust company satisfactory to 
the Authority or to the Trustee or of any notary public or other officer authorized to take acknowledgements of 
deeds to be recorded in the state in which he or she purports to act, that the person signing such request or other 
instrument acknowledged to him or her the execution thereof, or by an affidavit of a witness of such execution, duly 
sworn to before such notary public or other officer.  The authority of the person or persons executing any such 
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instrument on behalf of a corporate Bondowner may be established without further proof if such instrument is signed 
by a person purporting to be the president or a vice president of such corporation with a corporate seal affixed and 
attested by a person purporting to be its clerk or secretary or an assistant clerk or secretary. 

The ownership of Bonds and the amount, numbers and other identification, and date of holding the same 
shall be proved by the registry books. 

Any request, consent or vote of the owner of any Bond shall bind all future owners of such Bond.  Bonds 
owned or held by or for the account of the Authority or the Institution shall not be deemed Outstanding Bonds for 
the purpose of any consent or other action by Bondowners. (Section 901) 

Proceedings by Bondowners 

No Bondowner shall have any right to institute any legal proceedings for the enforcement of the Agreement 
or any applicable remedy thereunder, unless the Bondowners have directed the Authority to act and furnished the 
Authority indemnity as provided in the Agreement and have afforded the Authority reasonable opportunity to 
proceed, and the Authority shall thereafter fail or refuse to take such action. 

No Bondowner shall have any right to institute any legal proceedings for the enforcement of the obligations 
of the Authority under the Agreement or any applicable remedy thereunder, unless the Bondowners have directed 
the Trustee to act and furnished the Trustee indemnity as provided in the Agreement and have afforded the Trustee 
reasonable opportunity to proceed, and the Trustee shall thereafter fail or refuse to take such action. 

Subject to the foregoing, any Bondowner may by any available legal proceedings enforce and protect its 
rights under the Agreement and under the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts. (Section 902) 

Corporate Organization, Authorization and Powers 
 

The Institution represents and warrants that it is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good 
standing under the laws of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts, with the power to enter into and perform the 
Agreement, that it is a nonprofit educational within the Commonwealth authorized by law to provide a program of 
education beyond the high school level and that by proper corporate action it has duly authorized the execution and 
delivery of the Agreement.  The Institution further represents and warrants that the execution and delivery of the 
Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein will not conflict with or constitute a 
breach of or default under any bond, agreement, note or other evidence of indebtedness of the Institution, the charter 
or by-laws of the Institution, any gifts, bequests or devises pledged to or received by the Institution, or any contract, 
lease or other instrument to which the Institution is a party or by which it is bound or cause the Institution to be in 
violation of any applicable statute or rule or regulation of any governmental authority. (Section 1001) 

Tax Matters 

(a) The Institution represents and warrants that (i) it is an organization described in Section 
501(c)(3) of the IRC and it is not a “private foundation” as defined in Section 509 of the IRC; (ii) it has received 
letters from the Internal Revenue Service to that effect; (iii) such letters have not been modified, limited or revoked; 
(iv) it is in compliance with all terms, conditions and limitations, if any, contained in such letters; (v) the facts and 
circumstances which form the basis of such letters continue substantially to exist as represented to the Internal 
Revenue Service; (vi) it is not aware of any action, pending or threatened, that calls its status as represented in 
clause (i) into question; and (vii) it is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(a) of the IRC.  The 
Institution agrees that it will not take any action or omit to take any action if such action or omission would cause 
any revocation or adverse modification of such federal income tax status of the Institution. 

(b) The Institution shall not take or omit to take any action if such action or omission would cause the 
interest in the Series A Bonds to be includable in gross income under Section 103 of the IRC.  In particular, the 
Institution shall not take or omit to take any action if such action or omission (x) would cause the Series A Bonds to 
be “arbitrage bonds” under Section 148 of the IRC,  (y) would cause the Series A Bonds to not meet any of the 
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requirements of Section 149 of the IRC, or  (z) cause the Series A Bonds to cease to be “qualified 501(c)(3) bonds” 
under Section 145 of the IRC. 

(c) Partly in furtherance of the foregoing, the Authority and the Institution are entering into the Tax 
Certificate with respect to matters of federal tax law pertaining to the Series A Bonds.  Such Tax Certificate, 
including the amendment provisions thereof, will be treated as incorporated by reference herein and the Institution 
shall comply with the covenants therein. The Institution represents, warrants and covenants that it will comply with 
the requirements contained in the Tax Certificate. 

(d) Neither the Institution nor any “related party” (as defined in Treas. Reg. §1.150-1(b)) will 
purchase Series A Bonds in an amount related to the amount loaned by the Authority to the Institution under the 
Agreement unless the Authority and the Institution receive a favorable Opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to 
such purchase. 

(e) The provisions of this section shall survive the termination or defeasance of the Agreement. 
(Section 1002) 

Securities Law Status 

The Institution represents and warrants that it is an organization organized and operated exclusively for 
charitable purposes and not for pecuniary profit; and that no part of its net earnings inures to the benefit of any 
person, private stockholder or individual, all within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  The 
Institution shall not take any action or omit to take any action if such action or omission would change its status as 
set forth in this section. (Section 1003). 

Rates and Charges 

The Institution agrees, subject to any governmental restrictions, its fiduciary obligations and limitations 
imposed by law, to charge and collect rates and charges which, together with any other moneys legally available to 
it, shall provide moneys sufficient at all times: (a) to make the payments required by the Agreement and comply 
with the Agreement in all other respects, and (b) to satisfy all other obligations of the Institution in a timely fashion 
(Section 1004) 

Annual Reports and Other Information 
 

The Institution shall from time to time render such other reports concerning the condition of the Project or 
compliance with the Agreement as the Authority or the Trustee may reasonably request.  Within one hundred and 
fifty (150) days after the close of each fiscal year, the Institution shall furnish to the Trustee and the Authority, and 
to Bondowners requesting the same, copies of its audited financial statements.  Copies of the reports and statements 
required to be filed with the Trustee pursuant to this section shall be filed with the Trustee in sufficient quantity to 
permit the Trustee to retain at least one copy for inspection by Bondowners and to permit the Trustee to mail a copy 
to each Bondowner who requests it.  The Trustee shall maintain a list of Bondowners who have made such a request.  
The Institution shall furnish to the agencies rating the Bonds such information as they may reasonably require for 
current reports to their subscribers.  The Institution shall furnish to the Authority and to the Trustee, within ninety 
(90) days after the close of each fiscal year, a certificate signed by its Treasurer or any other Authorized Officer 
stating that the Institution has caused its operations for the year to be reviewed and that in the course of that review, 
no default under the Agreement has come to its attention or, if such a default has appeared, a description of the 
default.  (Section 1005) 
 
Maintenance of Corporate Existence 

The Institution shall maintain its existence as a nonprofit corporation qualified to do business in 
Massachusetts and shall not dissolve, dispose of or spin off all or substantially all of its assets, or consolidate with or 
merge into another entity or entities, or permit one or more other entities to consolidate with or merge into it, except 
that it may consolidate with or merge into one or more other entities or permit one or more other entities to 
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consolidate with or merge into it, or transfer all or substantially all of its assets to one or more other entities (and 
thereafter dissolve or not dissolve as it may elect), if (a) the surviving, resulting or transferee entity or entities each 
is a corporation having the status and powers set forth in the Agreement, (b) the transaction does not result in a 
conflict, breach or default referred to in “Corporate Organization, Authorization and Powers” above and (c) the 
surviving, resulting or transferee entity or entities, if not the Institution, each (i) assumes by written agreement with 
the Authority and the Trustee all the obligations of the Institution under the Agreement, (ii) notifies the Authority 
and the Trustee of any change in the name of the Institution, and (iii) executes, delivers, registers, records and files 
such other instruments as the Authority or the Trustee may reasonably require to confirm, perfect or maintain the 
security granted under the Agreement.  The Institution may establish separate divisions and may cause such 
divisions to be separately incorporated or otherwise organized or reorganized, but all such divisions, whether 
separately incorporated or not, shall remain bound by the Agreement and shall be jointly and severally liable with 
respect hereto; provided, however, that prior to effecting any such reorganization, the Institution shall deliver to the 
Authority and the Trustee, an opinion of counsel, selected by the Institution and approved by the Authority, to the 
effect that after such reorganization all separately incorporated divisions will be jointly and severally liable under 
the Agreement.  (Section 1006) 

Continuing Disclosure 

The Institution and the Trustee covenant and agree that each will comply with and carry out all of the 
provisions of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement applicable to it.  The Authority shall have no liability to the 
owners of the Bonds or any other person with respect to such disclosure matters.  Notwithstanding any other 
provision of the Agreement, failure of the Institution or the Trustee to comply with the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement shall not be considered an Event of Default; however, the Trustee may (and, at the request of the owners 
of at least 25% aggregate principal amount of Outstanding Bonds, shall) or any owner (including a beneficial owner) 
of  Bonds may seek specific performance of the Institution’s or the Trustee’s obligations to comply with its 
obligations under the Continuing Disclosure Agreement or the Agreement and not for money damages in any 
amount.  (Section 1008) 

Negative Pledge 

During the term of the Agreement, the Institution shall not encumber all or any portion of the Core Campus 
Property to secure indebtedness of the Institution.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Institution may encumber all 
or any portion of the Core Campus Property to secure indebtedness of the Institution if the Institution grants a parity 
mortgage on such Core Campus Property to the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondowners.  Nothing herein shall 
prevent the Institution from selling all or any portion of the Core Campus Property. 

Amendments and Waivers 

The Agreement may be amended by the parties without Bondowner consent for any of the following 
purposes:  (a) to subject any property to the lien of the Agreement, (b) to provide for the establishment or 
amendment of a book entry system of registration for any series of Bonds through a securities depository (which 
may or may not be DTC), (c) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Institution or to surrender or limit any 
right or power of the Institution, or (d) to cure any ambiguity or defect, or to add provisions which are not 
inconsistent with the Agreement and which do not impair the security for the Bonds. 

Except as provided in the foregoing paragraph, the Agreement may be amended only with the written 
consent of the owners of at least a majority in principal amount of the Outstanding Bonds; provided, however, that 
no amendment of the Agreement may be made without the unanimous written consent of the affected Bondowners 
for any of the following purposes:  (i) to extend the maturity of any Bond, (ii) to reduce the principal amount or 
interest rate of any Bond, (iii) to make any Bond redeemable other than in accordance with its terms, (iv) to create a 
preference or priority of any Bond or Bonds over any other Bond or Bonds, or (v) to reduce the percentage of the 
Bonds required to be represented by the Bondowners giving their consent to any amendment. 

Any amendment of the Agreement shall be accompanied by an opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that 
the amendment (i) is permitted by the Agreement and (ii) will not adversely affect the exclusion of interest on the 
Series A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes. 
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When the Trustee determines that the requisite number of consents have been obtained for an amendment 
which requires Bondowner consents, it shall, within ninety (90) days, file a certificate to that effect in its records and 
mail notice to the Bondowners.  No action or proceeding to invalidate the amendment shall be instituted or 
maintained unless it is commenced within sixty (60) days after such mailing.  The Trustee will promptly certify to 
the Authority that it has mailed such notice to all Bondowners and such certificate will be conclusive evidence that 
such notice was given in the manner required by the Agreement.  A consent to an amendment may be revoked by a 
notice given by the Bondowner and received by the Trustee prior to the Trustee’s certification that the requisite 
consents have been obtained. (Section 1101). 
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FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION  

 

Date of Delivery 

Massachusetts Health and Educational 
 Facilities Authority 
99 Summer Street, Suite 1000 
Boston Massachusetts 02110 

$287,830,000* Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance by the Massachusetts 
Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”), a body politic and corporate and a 
public instrumentality of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”) of its 
$287,830,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2009) (the 
“Bonds”).  The Bonds are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 614 of the 
Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time (the “Act”) and the Loan and Trust 
Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2009 (the “Agreement”), among the Authority, Suffolk 
University (the “Institution”), and People’s United Bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”).  Unless 
otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein have the respective meanings given to 
them in the Agreement.   

The proceeds of the Bonds, together with the proceeds of the $21,625,000* 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series B 
(2009) (Federally Taxable), will be loaned to the Institution to: (a) refund on a current basis the 
outstanding principal amount of: (i) the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency’s Variable 
Rate Demand Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 2005A and Series 2005B, (ii) the 
Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2007) and Series B (2007), and 
(iii) the Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2008) (collectively, the 
“Prior  

_____________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
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Bonds”); (b) finance related legal, administrative, issuance and other fees and expenses and costs 
of financing associated with the foregoing (including, but not limited to, capitalized interest 
incurred in connection with the projects financed by the Prior Bonds; (c) fund the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and (d) pay 
fees, if any, associated with the termination of the Institution’s interest rate swap agreements 
with respect to the Prior Bonds. 

As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon representations and 
covenants of the Authority and the Institution contained in the Agreement and in the certified 
proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us, and certifications of 
officials of the Institution and others, without undertaking to verify the same by independent 
investigation. 

The Bonds are dated, mature, are payable, bear interest and are subject to redemption and 
tender all as provided in the Agreement. 

The Bonds are not general obligations of the Authority, or a pledge of its faith and credit, 
or general obligations of the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof, but are payable 
solely as provided in the Agreement. 

We have examined originals (or copies certified or otherwise identified to our 
satisfaction) of such other instruments, certificates and documents as we have determined 
necessary or appropriate for the purpose of the opinion rendered below. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority is a validly existing body politic and corporate and a public 
instrumentality of the Commonwealth and has the right, power and authority to enter into and 
perform its obligations under the Agreement. 

2. The Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 
Authority and is a valid and binding obligation of the Authority enforceable against the 
Authority.  As provided in Section 13 of the Act, the Agreement creates a valid lien on the 
Revenues and on the rights of the Authority or the Trustee on behalf of the Authority to receive 
Revenues under the Agreement (except certain rights to indemnification, reimbursements and 
fees). 

3. The Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued by the Authority and 
are valid and binding special obligations of the Authority, payable solely from the sources 
provided therefor in the Agreement. 

4. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), sets forth certain 
requirements which must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Bonds for 
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interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes.  
Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Bonds to be included in 
gross income for Federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue of the Bonds.  
Pursuant to the Agreement and the Tax Certificate, the Authority and the Institution have 
covenanted to maintain the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the Bonds pursuant to 
Section 103 of the Code.  In addition, the Authority and the Institution have made certain 
representations and certifications in the Agreement and the Tax Certificate.  We have not 
independently verified the accuracy of those certifications and representations. 

Under existing law, assuming compliance with the tax covenants described herein and the 
accuracy of the aforementioned representations and certifications, interest on the Bonds is 
excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code.  
We are also of the opinion that such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the 
alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code with respect to individuals and corporations.  
No opinion is expressed as to whether interest on any portion of the Bonds is excluded from the 
adjusted current earnings of corporations for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax 
imposed on corporations.   

5. Under existing law, interest on the Bonds and any profit on the sale thereof are 
exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and Massachusetts personal property taxes. 
We express no opinion as to other Massachusetts or local tax consequences arising with respect 
to the Bonds nor as to the taxability of the Bonds or the income therefrom under the laws of any 
state other than Massachusetts. 

Except as stated in the preceding three paragraphs, we express no opinion as to any other 
Federal, state or local tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  
Furthermore, we express no opinion as to any Federal, state or local tax law consequences of the 
ownership or disposition of the Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect 
to the Bonds or the proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel. 

In rendering this opinion, we are advising you that the enforceability of rights and 
remedies with respect to the Bonds and the Agreement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency 
and other laws affecting creditors' rights or remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted, and is 
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
a proceeding in equity or at law). 

We are rendering this opinion under existing laws as of the date hereof, and we assume 
no obligation to update this opinion after the date hereof to reflect any future action, fact or 
circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise. 

Very truly yours, 
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APPENDIX E-2 
 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION  

 

Date of Delivery 

Massachusetts Health and Educational 
 Facilities Authority 
99 Summer Street, Suite 1000 
Boston Massachusetts 02110 

$21,625,000* Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable) 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance by the Massachusetts 
Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the “Authority”), a body politic and corporate and a 
public instrumentality of The Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Commonwealth”) of its 
$21,625,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally 
Taxable) (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are to be issued in accordance with the provisions of 
Chapter 614 of the Massachusetts Acts of 1968, as amended from time to time (the “Act”) and 
the Loan and Trust Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2009 (the “Agreement”), among the 
Authority, Suffolk University (the “Institution”), and People’s United Bank, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”).  Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein have the respective 
meanings given to them in the Agreement.   

The proceeds of the Bonds, together with the proceeds of the $287,830,000* 
Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A 
(2009), will be loaned to the Institution to: (a) refund on a current basis the outstanding principal 
amount of: (i) the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency’s Variable Rate Demand 
Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series 2005A and Series 2005B, (ii) the Authority’s 
Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2007) and Series B (2007), and (iii) the 
Authority’s Revenue Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A (2008) (collectively, the “Prior  

_____________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
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Bonds”); (b) finance related legal, administrative, issuance and other fees and expenses and costs 
of financing associated with the foregoing (including, but not limited to, capitalized interest 
incurred in connection with the projects financed by the Prior Bonds; (c) fund the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement and (d) pay 
fees, if any, associated with the termination of the Institution’s interest rate swap agreements 
with respect to the Prior Bonds. 
 

As to questions of fact material to our opinion we have relied upon representations and 
covenants of the Authority and the Institution contained in the Agreement and in the certified 
proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us, and certifications of 
officials of the Institution and others, without undertaking to verify the same by independent 
investigation. 

The Bonds are dated, mature, are payable, bear interest and are subject to redemption and 
tender all as provided in the Agreement. 

The Bonds are not general obligations of the Authority, or a pledge of its faith and credit, 
or general obligations of the Commonwealth or any political subdivision thereof, but are payable 
solely as provided in the Agreement. 

We have examined originals (or copies certified or otherwise identified to our 
satisfaction) of such other instruments, certificates and documents as we have determined 
necessary or appropriate for the purpose of the opinion rendered below. 

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that: 

1. The Authority is a validly existing body politic and corporate and a public 
instrumentality of the Commonwealth and has the right, power and authority to enter into and 
perform its obligations under the Agreement. 

2. The Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the 
Authority and is a valid and binding obligation of the Authority enforceable against the 
Authority.  As provided in Section 13 of the Act, the Agreement creates a valid lien on the 
Revenues and on the rights of the Authority or the Trustee on behalf of the Authority to receive 
Revenues under the Agreement (except certain rights to indemnification, reimbursements and 
fees). 

3. The Bonds have been duly and validly authorized and issued by the Authority and 
are valid and binding special obligations of the Authority, payable solely from the sources 
provided therefor in the Agreement. 

4. Interest on the Bonds is not excluded from gross income for Federal income tax 
purposes and will be fully subject to Federal income taxation; this opinion is not intended or 
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provided by Bond Counsel to be used and cannot be used by an owner of the Bonds for the 
purpose of avoiding penalties that may be imposed on the owner of such Bonds.  The opinion set 
forth in this paragraph is provided to support the promotion or marketing of the Bonds.  Each 
owner of the Bonds should seek advice based on its particular circumstances from an 
independent tax advisor. 

5. Under existing law, interest on the Bonds and any profit on the sale thereof are 
exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes and Massachusetts personal property taxes. 
We express no opinion as to other Massachusetts or local tax consequences arising with respect 
to the Bonds nor as to the taxability of the Bonds or the income therefrom under the laws of any 
state other than Massachusetts. 

Except as stated in paragraphs 4 and 5, we express no opinion as to any other Federal, 
state or local tax consequences of the ownership or disposition of the Bonds.  Furthermore, we 
express no opinion as to any state or local tax law consequences of the ownership or disposition 
of the Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Bonds or the 
proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel. 

In rendering this opinion, we are advising you that the enforceability of rights and 
remedies with respect to the Bonds and the Agreement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency 
and other laws affecting creditors' rights or remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted, and is 
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
a proceeding in equity or at law). 

We are rendering this opinion under existing laws as of the date hereof, and we assume 
no obligation to update this opinion after the date hereof to reflect any future action, fact or 
circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise. 

Very truly yours, 
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APPENDIX F 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT 

This Continuing Disclosure Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”) is executed and 
delivered by Suffolk University (the “Institution”) and People’s United Bank, as trustee (the 
“Trustee”), in connection with the issuance of the $287,830,000* Massachusetts Health and 
Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series A 
(2009) (the “Series 2009A Bonds”) and $21,625,000* Massachusetts Health and Educational 
Facilities Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk University Issue, Series B (2009) 
(Federally Taxable) (the “Series 2009B Bonds” and collectively with the Series 2009A Bonds, 
the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Loan and Trust Agreement dated as of 
November 1, 2009 among the Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority (the 
“Authority”), the Trustee and the Institution (the “Agreement”) and the proceeds of the Bonds 
are being loaned by the Authority to the Institution pursuant to the Agreement.  The Institution 
and the Trustee covenant and agree as follows: 

SECTION 1.  Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.  This Disclosure Agreement is 
being executed and delivered by the Institution and the Trustee for the benefit of the Bondowners 
(as defined in the Agreement) and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters (defined 
below) in complying with the Rule (defined below).  The Institution and the Trustee 
acknowledge that the Authority has undertaken no responsibility with respect to any reports, 
notices or disclosures provided or required under this Disclosure Agreement, and has no liability 
to any person, including any owner of the Bonds, with respect to any such reports, notices or 
disclosures.  The Trustee, except as provided in Section 3(c) hereof, has undertaken no 
responsibility with respect to any reports, notices or disclosures provided or required under this 
Disclosure Agreement, and has no liability to any person, including any Bondowner, with respect 
to any such reports, notices or disclosures except for its negligent failure to comply with its 
obligations under Section 3(c) hereof. 

SECTION 2.  Definitions.  In addition to the definitions set forth in the Agreement, 
which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Agreement unless otherwise defined 
in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Annual Report” shall mean any Annual Report provided by the Institution pursuant to, 
and as described in, Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Bondowner” shall mean the registered owner of a Bond and any beneficial owner 
thereof, as established to the reasonable satisfaction of the Trustee or the Institution. 

“Dissemination Agent” shall mean any Dissemination Agent or successor Dissemination 
Agent designated in writing by the Institution and which has filed with the Institution, the 
Trustee and the Authority written acceptance of such designation.  The same entity may  

_____________________________ 
* Preliminary, subject to change. 
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serve as both Trustee and Dissemination Agent.  The initial Dissemination Agent shall be 
the Trustee.  In the absence of a third-party Dissemination Agent, the Institution shall 
serve as Dissemination Agent. 

“EMMA” shall mean the Electronic Municipal Market Access System of the MSRB, or 
such other electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB. 

“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“MSRB” shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to 
Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds 
required to comply with the Rule in connection with the offering of the Bonds. 

“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities Exchange Commission 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to 
time. 

“SID” shall mean any public or private repository or entity designated by the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts as a state repository for the purpose of Rule.  As of the 
date of this Agreement, there is no SID. 

SECTION 3.  Provision of Annual Reports. 

(a) Within the expiration of one hundred and fifty (150) calendar days after the close 
of the most recent fiscal year of the Institution (the “Filing Deadline”) beginning with the fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2010, the Dissemination Agent shall provide to EMMA and the SID an 
Annual Report which is consistent with the requirements of Section 4 of this Disclosure 
Agreement.  Not later than fifteen (15) Business Days prior to each Filing Deadline, the 
Institution (if it is not the Dissemination Agent) shall provide the Annual Report to the 
Dissemination Agent.  The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate 
documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in 
Section 4 of this Disclosure Agreement; provided that such audited financial statements of the 
Institution may be submitted by the Institution separately from and at a later date than, the 
balance of the Annual Report if such audited financial statements are not available as of the date 
set forth above.  If the Dissemination Agent submits the audited financial statements of the 
Institution at a later date, it shall provide unaudited financial statements by the above-specified 
deadline and shall provide such audited financial statements as soon as practicable after the 
audited financial statements become available.  The Institution shall submit the audited financial 
statements to the Dissemination Agent and the Trustee as soon as practicable after they become 
available and the Dissemination Agent shall submit the audited financial statements to EMMA 
and the SID as soon as practicable thereafter.  The Institution shall provide a copy of each 
Annual Report to each of the Authority and the Trustee. 

(b) The Dissemination Agent shall: 
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(i) determine each year within five (5) Business Days of the date for 
providing the Annual Report the name and address of the SID; and 

(ii) file a Report with the Institution, the Authority and the Trustee certifying 
that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement, stating 
the date it was provided (the “Compliance Certificate”); such report shall include a 
certification from the Institution that the Annual Report complies with the requirements 
of this Disclosure Agreement. 

(c) If the Trustee has not received a Compliance Certificate by the Filing Deadline, 
the Trustee shall send, and the Institution hereby authorizes and directs the Trustee to submit on 
its behalf, a notice to EMMA and the SID substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A. 

(d) If the Dissemination Agent has not provided the Annual Report to EMMA and the 
SID by the Filing Deadline, the Institution shall send, or cause the Dissemination Agent to send, 
a notice substantially in the form of Exhibit A irrespective of whether the Trustee submits such 
notice. 

SECTION 4.  Content of Annual Reports.  The Institution’s Annual Report shall contain 
or incorporate by reference the following information relating to the Institution for the prior 
Fiscal Year: 

1) Financial Statements of the Institution; and 
2) information with respect to the Institution of the kind and in substantially the 

same form and scope found in Appendix A to the Official Statement, dated 
October __, 2009 with respect to the Bonds in the tables captioned: 

(i) “Faculty,”  
(ii) “Tuition Rates, Mandatory Fees and Room & Board,” 
(iii) “Philanthropic Support,” 
(iv) “Financial Aid Assistance” and 
(v) each of the tables in the section of Appendix A entitled 
“STUDENT APPLICATIONS, ACCEPTANCES AND 
MATRICULATIONS,” 
 

and in each case to the extent such information is not contained in the audited financial 
statements and related notes. 

The financial statements provided pursuant to Sections 3 and 4 of this Disclosure 
Agreement shall be prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, 
as in effect from time to time.  Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by 
reference from other documents, including official statements of debt issues with respect to 
which the Institution is an “obligated person” (as defined by the Rule), which have been filed 
with EMMA and the SID or the Securities and Exchange Commission.  If the document 
incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from EMMA.  The 
Institution shall clearly identify each such other document so incorporated by reference.  Neither 
the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall have any responsibility concerning the content of 
the Annual Report or whether the Annual Report complies with the Rule. 
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SECTION 5.  Reporting of Significant Event.  This Section 5 shall govern the giving of 
notices of the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

(2) Non-payment related defaults; 

(3) Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

(4) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

(5) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

(6) Adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Bonds; 

(7) Modifications to rights of Bondowners; 

(8) Bond calls; 

(9) Defeasances; 

(10) Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds; and 

(11) Rating changes. 

Whenever the Institution obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, if such 
Listed Event is material, the Institution shall, in a timely manner, direct the Dissemination Agent 
to file a notice of such occurrence with EMMA and the SID.  The Institution shall provide a copy 
of each such notice to the Authority and the Trustee.  The Dissemination Agent, if other than the 
Institution, shall have no duty to file a notice of an event described hereunder unless it is directed 
to do so by the Institution, and shall have no responsibility for verifying any of the information in 
any such notice or determining the materiality of the event described in such notice. 

SECTION 6.  Termination of Reporting Obligation. 

The Institution’s obligations under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the 
legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds or upon delivery to the 
Trustee of an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws selected by the Institution and 
acceptable to the Trustee to the effect that compliance with this Disclosure Agreement no longer 
is required by the Rule.  If the Institution’s obligations under the Agreement are assumed in full 
by some other entity, such person shall be responsible for compliance with this Disclosure 
Agreement in the same manner as if it were the Institution and the original Institution shall have 
no further responsibility hereunder. 

The purpose of the Institution’s undertaking is to conform to the requirements of the Rule 
and not to create new contractual or other rights for the Trustee or for the underwriter of the 
Bonds, any registered owner or beneficial owner of Bonds, any municipal securities broker or 
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dealer, any potential purchaser of Bonds, the Securities and Exchange Commission or any other 
person, other than as specifically provided in this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 7.  Dissemination Agent.  The Institution may, from time to time, with notice 
to the Trustee and the Authority appoint or engage a third-party Dissemination Agent to assist it 
in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement, and may discharge with notice to 
the Trustee and the Authority any such third-party Dissemination Agent, with or without 
appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.  The Dissemination Agent (if other than the 
Institution) may resign upon 30 days’ written notice to the Institution, the Trustee and the 
Authority. 

SECTION 8.  Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
Disclosure Agreement, the Institution and the Trustee may amend this Disclosure Agreement 
(and the Trustee shall agree to any amendment so requested by the Institution provided that the 
Trustee may but shall not be required to agree to any amendment that affects the Trustee’s rights, 
duties or immunities hereunder) and any provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, 
if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities 
laws acceptable to both the Institution and the Trustee to the effect that such amendment or 
waiver would not, in and of itself, violate the Rule.  Without limiting the foregoing, the 
Institution and the Trustee may amend this Disclosure Agreement if (a) such amendment is made 
in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, 
change in law, or change in identity, nature or status of the Institution or of the type of business 
conducted by the Institution; (b) this Disclosure Agreement, as so amended, would have 
complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time the Bonds were issued, taking into 
account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; 
and (c)(i) the Trustee receives an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws and 
acceptable and addressed to the Trustee to the effect that, the amendment does not materially 
impair the interest of the Bondowners, or (ii) the amendment is consented to by the Bondowners 
as though it were an amendment to the Agreement as permitted by Section 1101 of the 
Agreement.  The annual financial information will explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the 
amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information 
being provided.  If an amendment is made to an undertaking specifying the accounting principles 
to be followed in preparing the financial statements, the annual financial information for the year 
in which the change is made should present a comparison between the financial statements or 
information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the 
basis of the former accounting principles.  Neither the Trustee nor the Dissemination Agent shall 
be required to accept or acknowledge any amendment of this Disclosure Agreement if the 
amendment adversely affects its respective rights or immunities or increases its respective duties 
hereunder. 

SECTION 9.  Additional Information.  Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be 
deemed to prevent the Institution from disseminating any other information, using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of communication, or 
including any other information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, 
in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the Institution 
chooses to include any information in any Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed 
Event, in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the 
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Institution shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information 
or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event. 

SECTION 10.  Default.  In the event of a failure of the Institution or the Dissemination 
Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Trustee, at the request of 
any Participating Underwriter or Bondowners representing at least 25% in aggregate principal 
amount of Outstanding Bonds, shall take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, 
including seeking specific performance by court order, to cause the Institution or the 
Dissemination Agent, as the case may be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement.  Without regard to the foregoing, any Bondowner or beneficial owner of the Bonds 
may take such actions as may be necessary and appropriate, including seeking specific 
performance by court order, to cause the Institution or the Dissemination Agent, as the case may 
be, to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Agreement.  A default under this 
Disclosure Agreement shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Agreement, and the 
sole remedy under this Disclosure Agreement in the event of any failure of the Institution or the 
Dissemination Agent to comply with this Disclosure Agreement shall be an action to compel 
performance.  In no event shall the Institution or the Dissemination Agent be liable for monetary 
damages in the event of a default under this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 11.  Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent.  The 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the Institution) shall have only such duties as are specifically 
set forth in this Disclosure Agreement, and the Institution agrees to indemnify and save the 
Dissemination Agent (if other than the Institution), its officers, directors, employees and agents, 
harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or in the 
exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and expenses 
(including attorneys fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding liabilities due 
to the Dissemination Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

The Trustee shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to report any 
information to EMMA, the SID or any Bondowner.  If an officer of the Trustee obtains actual 
knowledge of the occurrence of an event described in Section 5 hereunder, whether or not such 
event is material, the Trustee shall timely notify the Institution of such occurrence; provided, 
however, that any failure by the Trustee to give such notice to the Institution shall not affect the 
Institution’s obligations under this Disclosure Agreement or give rise to any liability by the 
Trustee for such failure. 

SECTION 12.  Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the 
benefit of the Institution, the Trustee, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters, 
and the Bondowners or beneficial owners of the Bonds from time to time, and shall create no 
rights in any other person or entity. 

SECTION 13.  Disclaimer.  No Annual Report or notice of a Listed Event filed by or on 
behalf of the Institution under this Disclosure Agreement shall obligate the Institution to file any 
information regarding matters other than those specifically described in Section 4 and Section 5 
hereof, nor shall any such filing constitute a representation by the Institution or raise any 
inference that no other material events have occurred with respect to the Institution or the Bonds 
or that all material information regarding the Institution or the Bonds has been disclosed.  The 



 

F-7  

Institution shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update information 
provided pursuant to this Disclosure Agreement except as specifically stated herein. 

SECTION 14.  Fees and Expanses of Dissemination Agent.  The Institution agrees (1) to 
pay to the Dissemination Agent from time to time reasonable compensation for services rendered 
hereunder and (2) to reimburse the Dissemination Agent for all reasonable expenses and 
disbursements, including reasonable compensation, expenses and disbursements of its agents and 
counsel. 

SECTION 15.  Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same instrument. 

SECTION 16.  Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the 
internal laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 

 

Date: November __, 2009   SUFFOLK UNIVERSITY 

 

By:  
Authorized Officer 

PEOPLE’S UNITED BANK, as Trustee and 
Dissemination Agent 

 
By:  

Authorized Officer 
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EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Name of Issuer: Massachusetts Health and Educational Facilities Authority 

Name of Bond Issue: $287,830,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk 
University Issue, Series A (2009) and  

 $21,625,000* Revenue Refunding Bonds, Suffolk 
University Issue, Series B (2009) (Federally Taxable) 

Name of Obligated Persons: Suffolk University 

Date of Issuance: November __, 2009 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Suffolk University (the “Institution”) has not provided an 
Annual Report with respect to the above-named bonds as required by the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement dated November __, 2009 between the Institution and People’s United Bank, as 
Trustee. 

Dated:  

PEOPLE’S UNITED BANK, as Trustee 

By:  
Name:  
Title:  

cc: Suffolk University 
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